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ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF COUNTRY 
 

To start the official proceedings I would like to acknowledge that Macedon 
Ranges Shire Council is on Dja Dja Wurrung, Taungurung and Wurundjeri 
Country whose ancestors and their descendants are the traditional owners of 
this Country.  We acknowledge that they have been custodians for many 
centuries and continue to perform age old ceremonies of celebration, initiation 
and renewal.  We acknowledge their living culture and their unique role in the 
life of this region. 
 
 
1. RECORDING AND LIVE STREAMING OF THIS COUNCIL MEETING 
 

Ladies and gentlemen 
 

Please note that this meeting is being recorded and streamed live on the 
internet in accordance with Council's ‘Live Streaming and Publishing 
Recording of Meetings’ Protocol, which can be viewed on Council’s 
website. 
 
The recording will be bookmarked, archived and made available on 
Council's website 48 hours after the meeting. 
 
All care is taken to maintain your privacy; however, as a visitor in the 
public gallery, your presence may be recorded. 
 
By remaining in the public gallery, it is assumed your consent is given if 
your image is inadvertently broadcast. 
 
I also remind all present that Local Government decision making, unlike 
State and Federal Government, does not afford the benefit of 
parliamentary privilege and hence no protection is afforded to 
Councillors, Council officers and the public for comments made during 
meetings which are subsequently challenged in a court of law and 
determined to be slanderous. 
 
Thank you 

 
 
2. PRESENT  
 
 
3.  APOLOGIES 
 
 
4. DECLARATION OF CONFLICT OF INTERESTS 
 
 Councillors’ attention is drawn to Division 1A Sections 76-81 of the Local 

Government Act 1989 regarding interests. The relevant sections are 
reproduced and attached to the back of this Notice Paper. 
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Councillors are reminded that: 
1. Disclosures of Conflicts of Interest must be declared immediately before 

the consideration of the item Section 79 (2) (a) (i); and 
2. They should classify the type of interest that has given rise to the conflict 

of interest, and describe the nature of the interest Section 79 (2) (b) (c). 
 
 
5. MAYOR’S REPORT 

 
This item in each Council Notice Paper offers an opportunity for the Mayor to 
provide a brief report on recent Council activities and initiatives of a shire wide 
nature.  

  
Councillor reports on any meetings they have attended as a Councillor 
delegate are provided at Councillor Briefings or via email communications. 
Any matters requiring Council deliberation/decision are considered by Council 
via a report to a Council Meeting. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
That the Mayor’s report be received. 

 
 
6. PETITIONS 
 

Pursuant to Council's Meeting Procedure Local Law No. 11, a Councillor may 
present a petition or joint letter to the Council. A petition or joint letter tabled at 
a Council Meeting may be dealt with as follows: 
(i) a motion may be proposed to accept the petition or joint letter and that 

it lay on the table until the next Ordinary Council Meeting or a future 
meeting specified by the Council (at which a report on the matter will 
be presented); 

(ii) a motion may be proposed to accept and note the petition or joint letter 
and resolve to deal with it earlier or refer it to another process. 

 
A Councillor presenting a petition or joint letter will be responsible for ensuring 
that they are familiar with the contents and purpose of the petition or joint 
letter and that it is not derogatory or defamatory. 
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7. ADOPTION OF MINUTES 
 

Any Councillor whether in attendance or not at the subject meeting can move 
and second the adoption of the minutes, however accepted practice is that 
Councillors who were in attendance moved and second these motions. 

 
Ordinary Council Meeting: Wednesday 24 July 2019 

 
Recommendation: 

 
That the minutes of the Ordinary Meeting of the Macedon Ranges Shire 
Council held on Wednesday 24 July 2019 as circulated be confirmed. 

 
 
8. RECORD OF ASSEMBLIES OF COUNCILLORS – AUGUST 2019 
 

1. Summary / Purpose 
The purpose of this report is to provide the record of any assembly of 
Councillors, which has been held since the last Council Meeting, so that it can 
be recorded in the minutes of the formal Council Meeting. 
 
2. Policy Context 
An amendment to the Local Government Act 1989, which came into effect on 
24 September 2010 requires the record of any assembly of Councillors to be 
reported to the next practicable Council Meeting and recorded in the minutes 
(Refer Local Government and Planning Legislation Amendment Act 2010 – 
No. 58 of 2010 – Section 17). 
 
3. Background Information 
The Local Government Act provides a definition of an assembly of Councillors 
where conflicts of interest must be disclosed. 
 
A meeting will be an assembly of Councillors if it considers matters that are 
likely to be the subject of a Council decision, or the exercise of a Council 
delegation and the meeting is: 
1. A planned or scheduled meeting that includes at least half the Councillors 

(5) and a member of Council staff; or 
2. Is an Advisory Committee of the Council where one or more Councillors 

are present. 
 
Note:  Advisory Committee means any committee established by the Council, 
other than a special committee, that provides advice to (a) the Council, or (b) 
a special committee, or (c) a member of Council staff who has been delegated 
a power, duty or function of the Council under Section 98.  
 
Note: Only matters that are the subject of discussion and consideration at an 
assembly will be listed. Incidental updates and information on matters will not 
be recorded. 
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This requirement for reporting provides increased transparency and the 
opportunity for Councillors to check the record, particularly the declarations of 
conflict of interest. 
 
4. Report 
Outlined below are the details of assemblies of Councillors held since the last 
meeting.  
 

1. Date / Time Type of Assembly 

24 July 2019 
3.00pm – 5.30pm 

Councillor Briefing 

Venue Gisborne Administration Centre 

Present – Councillors Crs Anderson, Bleeck, Jukes, Pearce, Radnedge, 
Twaits, West 

Present – Officers Margot Stork, John Hausler, Karen Stevens, Angela 
Hughes, Anne-Louise Lindner, Lauren Reader, 
Leanne Manton, Silvana Predebon, Michelle Wyatt, 
Danielle Findlay, Alison Blacket, Gary Randhawa, 
Michael Yee, Istvan Marton, Cam Macfarlane, Allie 
Jalbert, Karen Dunstan, Kerry Wilkinson, Jodie 
Turner 

Presenters Nil 

Items discussed  Renewable Energy Procurement 

 DMT and Tourism Review 

 SKM  
 Mt Macedon Memorial Cross Reserve Master 

Plan 

 Council Agenda Review 
- 121 Aitken Street, Gisborne 
- Consideration of Statement of Planning Policy 

and Implementation of Guidelines 
- Loddon Campaspe Regional Economic Growth 

Strategy 
- Hanging Rock Strategic Advisory Committee 

Review 
- 2019/2020 Community Funding Scheme – 

Recommended Funding Allocations 
- General Purposes and Amenity (Amendment) 

Local Law 2019 
- Roadside and Footpath Trading Policy 
- Draft 2019 Domestic Wastewater Management 

Plan 
- Draft Kyneton Airfield Master Plan 2019 
- Local Government Reform – submission 
 

Conflicts of interest 
declared by Councillors 
and record of them leaving 
the meeting when the 

No 
 
Did they leave the assembly?  N/A 
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matter about which they 
declared the conflict of 
interest was discussed 

Conflicts of interest 
declared by officers  

No 
 
Did they leave the assembly?  N/A 

 
 

2. Date / Time Type of Assembly 

7 August 2019 
10.30am – 7.00pm 

Councillor Briefing 

Venue Gisborne Administration Centre 

Present – Councillors Crs Anderson, Bleeck, Gayfer, Jukes, Mees, Pearce, 
Radnedge, Twaits, West 

Present – Officers Margot Stork, John Hausler, Karen Stevens, Angela 
Hughes, Anne-Louise Lindner, Lauren Reader, 
Stephen Hiley, Sue La Greca, Will Rayner, Rob Ball, 
Leanne Manton, Leanne Khan, Jack Wiltshire, Fiona 
Alexander, Awais Sadiq, Gary Randhawa, Tom 
Bloomfield 

Presenters Rodney Carter, Jim Brooks, and Dominika Balwin, 
Dja Dja Wurrrung Clans Aboriginal Corporation 
(DDWCAC);  
Gary Patterson, Omecca Pty Ltd; and Brett Diston 
and Cameron Barber, Ray White Commercial. 
Paul Ratajczyk and Stacey Bloomfield, Environment 
Protection Authority (EPA) 
Stewart Hung and Nicholas Walsh, Four Seasons 
Waste; and Darren Thorpe, Australian Paper 
Recovery. 

Items discussed  Balaki Wurrekang Treaty 

 Presentation by Omecca Pty Ltd 

 Presentation on Flood Mapping in Kyneton 

 EPA Presentation on Coliban Water Discharges 

 Aged Care Services Reform 

 Creek Naming Assessment (Howey Creek) 

 Planning Matters 
-  Proposed Telecommunications Facility at 

Woodend Railway Station 
-  121 Aitken Street, Gisborne 

 Recycling Briefing  

 Council Land Transfer 

 Kyneton Early Learning Centre 
 

Conflicts of interest 
declared by Councillors 
and record of them leaving 
the meeting when the 
matter about which they 

Nil 
 
Did they leave the assembly?  N/A 
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declared the conflict of 
interest was discussed 

Conflicts of interest 
declared by officers  

Nil 
 
Did they leave the assembly?  N/A 

 
 

3. Date / Time Type of Assembly 

14 August 2019 
2.00pm – 5.30pm 

Councillor Briefing 

Venue Gisborne Administration Centre 

Present – Councillors Crs Anderson, Bleeck, Gayfer, Jukes, Mees, Pearce, 
Radnedge, Twaits, West 

Present – Officers Margot Stork, John Hausler, Karen Stevens, Angela 
Hughes, Anne-Louise Lindner, Lauren Reader, 
Stephen Hiley, Evan Krausgrill, Rob Ball, Tim 
Nightingale, Leanne Khan, Kate Greenwood, Carina 
Doolan, Gary Randhawa, Leon Den Dryver, Kerry 
Wilkinson, Alexia Patterson, Cam McFarlane 

Presenters Darren Lee, Sector Advantage; Sam Bishop, Civic 
Group; and Ben Hawkins, PLC Group. 
Lucas Maddock, Consultant. 

Items discussed  Amess Road, Riddells Creek PSP 

 Gender Equality Workshop Reflection 

 Reconciliation Action Plan Councillor 
Consultation 

 2018-19 End of Year Financial Position and 
Budget Carry Forwards 

 Planning Matters 
- Ellison Street, Woodend 

 Trails Safety Audit 

 Youth Mental Health – national intervention 

Conflicts of interest 
declared by Councillors 
and record of them leaving 
the meeting when the 
matter about which they 
declared the conflict of 
interest was discussed 

No 
 
Did they leave the assembly?  N/A 

Conflicts of interest 
declared by officers  

The Acting Director of Assets and Operations, Anne 
Louise Lindner, declared a conflict of interest due to 
conflicting duty due to her membership of the 
Woodend-Hesket Football Netball Club Committee in 
relation to one matter discussed as part of the 2018-
19 End of Year Financial Position and Budget Carry 
Forwards item. 
 
Did they leave the assembly?  Yes 
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4. Date / Time Type of Assembly 

14 August 2019 
7.00pm 

Health and Wellbeing Advisory Committee 

Venue Gisborne Administration Centre 

Present – Councillors Crs Anderson, Pearce, Radnedge (Chair) 

Present – Officers Margot Stork, Angela Hughes, Sue La Greca, Rob 
Ball 

Presenters Nil 

Items discussed  Reflection and feedback from the last meeting 
(8 May 2019) 

 Planning and Environment Directorate overview 

Conflicts of interest 
declared by Councillors 
and record of them leaving 
the meeting when the 
matter about which they 
declared the conflict of 
interest was discussed 

Nil 
 
Did they leave the assembly?  N/A 

Conflicts of interest 
declared by officers  

Nil 
 
Did they leave the assembly?  N/A 

 
 

5. Date / Time Type of Assembly 

21 August 2019 
1.30pm – 5.00pm 

Councillor Briefing 

Venue Gisborne Administration Centre 

Present – Councillors Crs Anderson, Bleeck, Jukes, Mees, Pearce, 
Radnedge, West 

Present – Officers John Hausler, Karen Stevens, Rob Ball, Anne-Louise 
Lindner, Lauren Reader, Leanne Manton, Isobel 
Maginn, Leanne Khan, Gary Randhawa, Tom 
Bloomfield, Raymond Trevorah, Istvan Marton, Kerry 
Wilkinson, Michelle Wyatt, Silvana Predebon, Awais 
Sadiq, Jack Wiltshire, John Edwards, Fiona 
Alexander, Sue La Greca, Will Rayner, Leon Den 
Dryver, Allie Jalbert, Sian Bloom 

Presenters Trent McCamley and Chrissy McCamley; Nigel 
Sharp, Odonata; and Mike Day, Roberts Day. 
Lydia Wilson, Maribyrnong IWM Forum; James 
Newton and Tessa Laing, DELWP; Jenny Dawson, 
Coliban IWM Forum; Katrina Sharpe and Livia 
Bonazzi, Western Water. 
Samantha Green, City of Darebin. 

Items discussed  Glen Junor Gisborne Futures 

 Recycling Discussions 

 Integrated Water Management (IWM) Plans 
Presentation (DELWP) 
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 Climate Emergency Presentation by Darebin 
City Council 

 Council Meeting Agenda Review 
- Application for Planning Permit PLN 2018/549 – 

121 Aitken Street, Gisborne 
- Application for Planning Permit PLN/2019/13 – 

130 Russells Road, Woodend North 
- Application for Planning Permit PLN/2019/229 – 

Telecommunication facility and vegetation 
removal - Woodend Railway Station 

- Stern Way, New Gisborne 
- Proposed changes to flood mapping in Kyneton 
- Council submission to the Victorian Government 

Regional Tourism Review Discussion Paper 
- Contracts to be Awarded as at 28 August 2019 
- Quarterly Report for period ended 30 June 2019 
- Proposed land swap and boundary realignment 

at Walshes Road, Woodend 
- Aged Care and Disability Reform – impact on 

home care services 
- Roadside and Footpath Trading Policy 

 Planning matters 
- PLN/2019/244 Gisborne Amusement Parlour 
- 39 Willowbank Road 
- Hardwicks 

Conflicts of interest 
declared by Councillors 
and record of them leaving 
the meeting when the 
matter about which they 
declared the conflict of 
interest was discussed 

Cr Radnedge declared a conflict of interest in writing 
to the CEO prior to the meeting regarding the item 
PLN/2019/244 Gisborne Amusement Parlour. 
 
Did they leave the assembly? Yes 

Conflicts of interest 
declared by officers  

Nil 
 
Did they leave the assembly? N/A 

 
  Officer Recommendation: 
 

That Council endorse the record of assemblies of Councillors as 
outlined in this report. 
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9. DEPUTATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS TO COUNCIL 

 

Generally there is no opportunity for members of the public to address an 
Ordinary Council Meeting. In specific circumstances including where a 
planning matter is being considered at an Ordinary Council Meeting for the 
first time or a prior request to the Mayor has been made and approved, a 
member of the public may be provided the opportunity to address the Council. 
In such circumstances the presentation will be limited to three minutes unless 
otherwise approved. 
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10. PE.1  APPLICATION FOR PLANNING PERMIT PLN/2018/549 – 
TWO (2) LOT SUBDIVISION – 121 AITKEN STREET, 
GISBORNE  

 
Officer: Nirveen Kaur, Statutory Planning Officer 
 
File Ref: PLN/2018/549 
 

 Council Plan Relationship: Relates to priority area: 

Improve the built environment 
 

  Attachments:  Site plans and 
Statement of Planning Policy 
table 

 
Applicant: Crossroads Town Planning Pty Ltd 
 
Date of receipt of application: 3 January 2019 
 
Trigger for report to Council: Councillor Call in 
 
 
Synopsis: 
 
The application seeks to subdivide the land into two (2) lots.  
 
The application is exempt from advertising. 
  
Key issues to be considered relate to the compliance with the Development 
Plan, compatibility of the proposal with the neighborhood character of the area 
and the compliance of the proposal in relation the relevant policies of 
Macedon Ranges Planning Scheme.   
 
The application has been assessed against the Macedon Ranges Planning 
Scheme and is considered appropriate. It is recommended that a Planning 
Permit be issued. 

 
 

Officer Recommendation:  
 
That a planning permit is granted for two (2) lot subdivision for the land 
at Lot 1 PS517546W, 121 Aitken Street subject to the conditions below: 

 
1. Before the plan of subdivision is certified under the Subdivision 

Act 1988, amended plans must be submitted to and approved by 
the Responsible Authority. When approved, the plans will be 
endorsed and will then form part of this permit. The plans must be 
generally in accordance with the plans submitted but modified to 
show: 
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10. PE.1   APPLICATION FOR PLANNING PERMIT PLN/2018/549 –  
TWO (2) LOT SUBDIVISION – 121 AITKEN STREET, 
GISBORNE (Continued) 
 

a) Plans in accordance with Condition 13 of this permit; 
b) Relocation/ modification of the building envelope on Lot 2 in 

accordance with Condition 14 of this permit; 
c) Site Environmental Management Plan in accordance with 

Condition 19 of this permit; 
d) Complete extent of the new driveway leading from Fersfield 

Road to the carport on Lot 1; 
e) Dimensions and details of the carport for the existing 

dwelling on Lot 1. 
 

2. The subdivision allowed by this permit and shown on the plans 
endorsed to accompany the permit shall not be amended for any 
reason unless with the prior written consent of the Responsible 
Authority. 
 

3. The owner of the land must enter into an agreement with: 
a) A telecommunications network or service provider for the 

provision of telecommunication services to each lot shown 
on the endorsed plan in accordance with the provider’s 
requirements and relevant legislation at the time; and 

b) A suitably qualified person for the provision of fibre ready 
telecommunication facilities to each lot shown on the 
endorsed plan in accordance with any industry 
specifications or any standards set by the Australian 
Communications and Media Authority, unless the applicant 
can demonstrate that the land is in an area where the 
National Broadband Network will not be provided by optical 
fibre. 

 
4. Before the issue of a Statement of Compliance for the subdivision 

under the Subdivision Act 1988, the owner of the land must 
provide written confirmation from: 
a) A telecommunications network or service provider that all 

lots are connected to or are ready for connection to 
telecommunications services in accordance with the 
provider’s requirements and relevant legislation at the time; 
and 

b) A suitably qualified person that fibre ready 
telecommunication facilities have been provided in 
accordance with any industry specifications or any 
standards set by the Australian Communications and Media 
Authority, unless the applicant can demonstrate that the 
land is in an area where the National Broadband Network 
will not be provided by optical fibre. 
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10. PE.1   APPLICATION FOR PLANNING PERMIT PLN/2018/549 –  
TWO (2) LOT SUBDIVISION – 121 AITKEN STREET, 
GISBORNE (Continued) 

 
5. The owner of the land must enter into agreements with the 

relevant authorities for the provision of water supply, drainage, 
sewerage facilities, electricity and gas services to each lot shown 
on the endorsed plan in accordance with the authority’s 
requirements and relevant legislation at the time. 
 

6. All existing and proposed easements and sites for existing or 
required utility services and roads on the land must be set aside 
in the plan of subdivision submitted for certification in favour of 
the relevant authority for which the easement or site is to be 
created. 

 
7. The plan of subdivision submitted for certification under the 

Subdivision Act 1988 must be referred to the relevant authority in 
accordance with Section 8 of that Act. 

 
8. Before the issue of a Statement of Compliance under the 

Subdivision Act 1988, a development contribution of $5436.55 per 
additional allotment (as at July 2013) must be paid to the 
Responsible Authority in accordance with the Gisborne 
Development Contributions Plan, July 2013. Prior to payment of 
the contribution, the amount payable will be adjusted on 1 July 
each year in accordance with Schedule 2 of Clause 45.06 of the 
Macedon Ranges Planning Scheme.  

 
MRSC Engineering Infrastructure and Projects Unit  
 

9. Prior to the commencement of works, an “Asset Protection 
Permit” must be obtained from Council for any of the following 
circumstances: 
a) Entering a building site by means of a motor vehicle having 

a gross weight exceeding two tonnes; 
b) Occupying a road for works; 
c) Connecting any land to a stormwater drain; 
d) Opening, altering or repairing a road; 
e) Opening, altering or repairing a drain; 
f) Accessing a building site from a point other than a 

crossover; 
g) Construct/repair/widen/remove any crossover. 

 
10. Prior to the issue of a Statement of Compliance, the following 

works must be constructed or carried out to the satisfaction of the 
Responsible Authority: 
a) Demolition of the existing garage and outbuilding located 

within the boundaries of Lot 2; 
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10. PE.1   APPLICATION FOR PLANNING PERMIT PLN/2018/549 –  
TWO (2) LOT SUBDIVISION – 121 AITKEN STREET, 
GISBORNE (Continued) 

 
b) Modification of the existing carport to become freestanding 

and wholly contained within Lot 1; 
c) A new crossover from Aitken Street/Fersfield Road for each 

lot; 
d) A new access driveway for the existing dwelling on Lot 1; 
e) Stormwater management system for Lot 2 to meet the current 

best practice performance objectives for stormwater quality 
as contained in the Urban Stormwater - Best Practice 
Environmental Management Guidelines (Victorian 
Stormwater Committee, 1999). Alternatively, payment of the 
stormwater quality offset contribution to the Responsible 
Authority. 

 
11. The subdivision is to be constructed in accordance with Macedon 

Ranges Shire Council’s Policy Engineering Requirements for 
Infrastructure Construction (June 2010). 
 

12. No polluted and/or sediment laden run-off is to be discharged 
directly or indirectly into drains or watercourses. Soil erosion 
control measures must be employed throughout the development 
works in accordance with Construction Techniques for Sediment 
Pollution Control (EPA 1991) to the satisfaction of the Responsible 
Authority. 

 

Melbourne Water 
 

13. Prior to the certification of the subdivision, Melbourne Water 
requires an easement MCPAA2741 for wetland floodway drainage 
and storm water quality management, setback 20 metres from the 
waterway centreline on both sides of the waterway (40 metre 
corridor), in favour of Melbourne Water.  

 
14. Building envelope on Lot 2 must be located outside of the 100-

year floodplain including driveway.  
 

15. No polluted and/or sediment laden run-off is to be discharged 
directly or indirectly into Melbourne Water’s designated land or 
waterway.  

 
16. The development must be sympathetic to the character of the 

creek, particularly at the interface with the waterway. Fences 
fronting the waterway must be open style of fencing (post and 
wire) to allow for the passage of water.  
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10. PE.1   APPLICATION FOR PLANNING PERMIT PLN/2018/549 –  
TWO (2) LOT SUBDIVISION – 121 AITKEN STREET, 
GISBORNE (Continued) 

 
17. Any additional or modified stormwater connections must comply 

with Melbourne Water guidelines and will require a separate 
application to Melbourne Water for approval prior to the 
commencement of works. 

 
18. Policy (Waters of Victoria) objectives for environmental 

management of stormwater as set out in the 'Urban Stormwater 
Best Practice Environmental Management Guidelines (CSIRO) 
1999'. 

 
19. Prior to certification of the sub-division, a Site Environmental 

Management Plan (SEMP) must be produced and adopted on-site 
to prevent impacts to the nearby waterway. The SEMP must 
address the following: 
a) Sediment and silt management controls; 
b) Vegetation management techniques; 
c) Access tracks; 
d) Spoil stockpiling; 
e) Machinery/ Plant locations; 
f) Exclusion fencing around native vegetation/habitat. 

 
20. All approved plans are to be completed to the satisfaction of the 

responsible authority. 
 

21. Prior to Certification, the Plan of Subdivision must be referred to 
Melbourne Water, in accordance with Section 8 of the Subdivision 
Act 1988. 

 
Permit Expiry 

 
22. This permit will expire if one of the following circumstances 

applies: 
a) The plan of subdivision is not certified within two years of the 

date of this permit. 
b) The plan of subdivision is not registered at Land Registry 

within five years of the certification of the subdivision. 
 

In accordance with Section 69 of the Planning and Environment Act 
1987 an application may be submitted to the Responsible Authority 
for an extension of the periods referred to in this condition. 

 
Permit Note: 

 

 Future owners of the land must be made aware of the 
existence of this permit. 
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10. PE.1   APPLICATION FOR PLANNING PERMIT PLN/2018/549 –  
TWO (2) LOT SUBDIVISION – 121 AITKEN STREET, 
GISBORNE (Continued) 

 
Existing conditions and relevant history 

 
Subject Land and Surrounds 
 
The subject site is located on the east side of Aitken Street, at the intersection 
of Aitken Street and Fersfield Road in Gisborne. The site is irregular in shape 
and has an area of 6982 square metres.  
 
The site currently contains a dwelling, setback approximately 15.5m from 
Aitken Street. An outbuilding associated with the dwelling is located in the 
south-west corner of the land. The South Gisborne drain (now named as 
Bunjil Creek) which is an open drainage, lies across the south eastern most 
corner of the site.  
 
The site comprises scattered vegetation around the dwelling. The western 
boundary and embankments of the waterway are heavily vegetated with 
exotic canopy trees and riparian native vegetation. 
 
Land to the north across Fersfield Road and to the west across Aitken Street 
contains small residential lots containing detached dwellings. Land to the 
immediate east is a public reserve. The adjoining property to the south is a 
large residential block containing a dwelling with associated outbuilding. 
Gisborne Cemetery is located approximately 60m north-west of the site.   
 
Registered restrictive covenants and/or Section 173 Agreements affecting the 
site 
 
The title provided with the application shows the subject site is encumbered 
by two easements. 

 E1 (sewerage easement) having a width of 3 metres affecting the south 
eastern section of the site.  

 E2 (drainage easement) having a width of 6 metres on the open drain.  
 
Previous planning permit history 
 
A search of Council’s records has found the following permit history: 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Permit No. Description 

PLN/2003/317 Two lot subdivision – Expired as the permit was never acted 
upon. 

PLN/2017/394 Two lot subdivision  - Lapsed 

DP/2011/7/M Development Plan – Amended at the July 2019 Ordinary Council 
Meeting. 
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Proposal  
 
It is proposed to subdivide the land into two (2) lots. 
 
Lot 1 will have an area of 3999m2 and will contain the existing dwelling. 
Access to the allotment will be provided via a new crossover from Fersfield 
Road.  
 
Lot 2 will have an area of 2982m2 and will be vacant. A building envelope of 
13m x 20 m is proposed on land and vehicular access to the lot will be via the 
existing crossover from Aitken Street. 
 
Section 46AZK of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 
 
Section 46AZK of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 requires Council as 
a Responsible Public Entity to not act inconsistently with any provision of the 
Statement of Planning Policy (SOPP) in exercising decision making powers. 
Attachment 2 contains the officer assessment against the SOPP. 

 
Relevant Macedon Ranges Planning Scheme controls 
 
Planning Policy Framework (PPF) 
 

Clause No.  Clause name 

11.03-3S Peri-Urban Areas 

15.01-3S Subdivision Design 

15.01-5S Neighbourhood Character 

 
Local Planning Policy Framework (LPPF) 
 

Clause No.  Clause name 

21.04 Settlement 

21.08-3 Built Environment 

21.09-1 Housing in Towns 

21.13-1 Gisborne and New Gisborne 

 
Zoning 
 

Clause No. Clause name 

32.08 General Residential Zone (Schedule) 

 

Overlay 
 

Clause No. Clause name 

43.04 Development Plan Overlay (Schedule 4) 

45.06 Development Contributions Plan Overlay (Schedule 2) 
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Particular Provisions 
 

Clause No. Clause name 

53.01 Public Open Space Contribution and Subdivision 

56 Residential Subdivision 

General Provisions 
 

Clause No. Clause name 

65 Decision Guidelines 

66 Referral and Notice Provisions 

 
Cultural Heritage Management Plan Assessment 
 

 Assessment Criteria Assessment Response 

1 Is the subject property within an 
area of cultural heritage sensitivity 
as defined within the cultural 
heritage sensitivity mapping or as 
defined in Part 2 Division 3 or 4 of 
the Aboriginal Heritage Regulations 
2018? 

Yes 

2 Does the application proposal 
include significant ground 
disturbance as defined in 
Regulation 4 Aboriginal Heritage 
Regulations 2018? 

No 

3 Is the application proposal an 
exempt activity as defined in Part 2 
Division 2 Aboriginal Heritage 
Regulations 2018? 

Yes 

4 Is the application proposal a high 
impact activity as defined in Part 2 
Division 5 Aboriginal Heritage 
Regulations 2018? 

No 

 
Based on the above assessment, a cultural heritage management plan is not 
required in accordance with Part 2 Division 1 Regulation 6 Aboriginal Heritage 
Regulations 2018.  
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The process to date 
 
Referral 
 

Authority (Section 52) Response 

MRSC Engineering No objection, subject to conditions. 

MRSC Environment No objection. 

Melbourne Water No objection subject to conditions.  

 
Advertising 
 
The application is exempt from notice requirements of Section 52(1)(a), (b) 
and (d), the decision requirements of Section 64(1), (2) and (3) and the review 
rights of Section 82(1) of the Act 
 
Planning and Local Planning Policy Framework (PPF & LPPF) 

 
Planning policy 11.03-3S aims for “growth in peri-urban areas to protect and 
enhance their identified valued attributes”, which includes provision of 
development in established settlements that have capacity for growth having 
regard to complex ecosystems and landscapes of attractiveness.  

Planning policy seeks to provide a good quality urban environment and 
encourages adherence to good urban design principles in designing new 
development.  In achieving this outcome, Clause 15.01-3S aims “to ensure 
the design of subdivisions achieves attractive, safe, accessible, diverse and 
sustainable neighbourhoods.”  

Clause 15.01-5S emphasises the importance of cultural identity and 
neighbourhood character.  The objective of Policy 15.01-5S (Neighbourhood 
Character) is “to recognise, support and protect neighbourhood character, 
cultural identity, and sense of place.” The strategies associated with this policy 
are to: 

 Ensure development responds to cultural identity and contributes to 
existing or preferred neighbourhood character. 

 Ensure development responds to its context and reinforces a sense of 
place and the valued features and characteristics of the local environment 
and place by emphasising the: 

o Pattern of local urban structure and subdivision. 
o Underlying natural landscape character and significant vegetation. 
o Heritage values and built form that reflect community identity. 
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In addition, these policies place great emphasis on the need for new 
development to respond to the urban character and natural features, in order 
to maintain the attractiveness and amenity of towns. The proposal is 
considered to respond appropriately in terms of the existing and preferred 
neighbourhood character as the adjoining area predominantly comprises 
smaller lots.  
 
Clause 21.04 states that Gisborne is a large district town within Macedon 
Ranges Shire, with a growing population. It anticipated to grow to a regional 
centre of 10 000+ people by 2036. The development of Gisborne is 
encouraged to reflect its hierarchical importance within the Shire and this is to 
be done by facilitating the provision of a large, diverse, employment and 
housing base and the provision of higher order goods and services. 
 
Gisborne holds good opportunity for infill residential development which 
utilises existing infrastructure and resources. Such development will result in a 
more affordable housing market, and ideally reflect a more diverse housing 
choice as required by the current and future population. 
 
Under Clause 21.08-3 Built Environment it is an objective ‘to protect and 
enhance the existing character and form of the Shire’s towns’.  This is done by 
ensuring that subdivision/development patterns and preferred neighbourhood 
character are respected, and that higher density development is directed as 
per town centre structure plans. 
 
One of the strategies at Clause 21.08-3 is to ensure all new residential 
development or subdivision fronts existing and proposed road networks. The 
proposed subdivision will respect the existing streetscape and it will create an 
additional lot fronting the street that responds positively to the existing 
streetscape character.  
 
Each township holds a designated and important role within the shire, and 
such role is supported by the objectives and strategies of Clause 21.13. 
Clause 21.13-1 (Gisborne and New Gisborne) seeks positive development 
that will ensure the preservation of Gisborne’s role as the major urban centre 
in the southern part of the shire.  
 
The subject site is outside of the designated preferred medium density area 
for Gisborne, as detailed within the Gisborne/New Gisborne Framework Plan. 
There is an opportunity to approve medium density development outside of 
the preferred medium density area if in alignment with the following strategy: 
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Encourage, in appropriate locations, medium density housing within 
400 metres walking distance of the Gisborne town centre as 
designated on Gisborne / New Gisborne Framework Plan. Appropriate 
locations are those areas where slope and access to services are 
favourable for medium density development and where such 
development is compatible with established landscape and township 
character, and places of heritage significance. Medium density housing 
may be appropriate in locations outside designated areas if all of the 
following apply: 

 The site is located near public open space or a local neighbourhood 
activity centre; 

 A site responsive and high quality built form outcome is achieved, 
and generous landscaping that contributes to the local 
neighbourhood character is provided; 

 Amenity impacts on adjoining residential properties are minimised; 
and 

 The intensity and scale of development is in keeping with the 
character of the area. 

 
The subject site is approximately 800m south from the Gisborne Township 
and is within good proximity to public open space (being a reserve located to 
the immediate east). The proposal is considered to be of a scale and intensity 
which is in keeping with the character of the area.  
 
The site is located within the established boundaries of the town, where all 
services are available. The proposed two lot subdivision is consistent with the 
Planning and Local Planning Policies.   
 
Clause 32.08 General Residential Zone 
 
The purposes of the General Residential Zone are to encourage residential 
development that respects the neighbourhood character and to encourage a 
diversity of housing types and housing growth particularly in locations offering 
good access to services and transport.  A planning permit is required to 
subdivide land.  The key decision guideline is Clause 32.08-13 is the 
consideration of the objectives, standards and decision guidelines of Clause 
56. 

 
The proposal satisfies the purpose of the General Residential Zone insofar as 
providing for residential development in areas well serviced by facilities.  The 
proposal is consistent with the outcomes sought by the General Residential 
Zone by providing for an infill development and additional residential 
opportunities, with varied lot densities in an established residential area to 
meet the housing needs of different households. 
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Clause 43.04 Development Plan Overlay (Schedule 4) 
 
The purpose of Development Plan Overlay is to identify areas which require 
the form and conditions of future use and development to be shown on a 
development plan before a permit can be granted to use or develop the land. 
Schedule 4 of the Development Plan Overlay relates to the Gisborne 
Residential Area. Council at its ordinary meeting on 24 July 2019 resolve to 
approve an amendment to the Development plan that applies to the site to 
facilitate the proposal.  

 
Clause 45.06 Development Contributions Plan Overlay (Schedule 2) 
 
The Development Contributions Plan Overlay was introduced in April 2013 to 
enable contributions to be levied for newly created new residential lots in the 
Gisborne Township. The overlay stipulates that a planning permit must not be 
granted until a Development Contributions Plan (DCP) has been prepared and 
incorporated into the planning scheme. Any permit granted must be consistent 
with the provisions of the incorporated Development Contributions Plan.  

 
The subject site falls within Area 11 within Schedule 2 to this overlay, where 
the following contributions were applicable as of July 2013: 

 
Levies payable for residential development 

 DI 
Community 
Facility 
(per 
residential 
lot) 

 

DI Open 
Space 
(per 
residential 
lot) 

 

DI Open 
Space 
Land 
(per 
residential 
lot) 

 

DI 
Planning 
(per 
residential 
lot) 

 

DI Roads 
(per 
residential 
lot) 

 

DI 
Drainage 
(per 
residential 
lot) 

 

DI 
Drainage 
Land 
(per 
residential 
lot) 

 

Total 
Charge 
(per 
residential 
lot) 

 

Area 
11 

$289.08 $1217.85 $1,146.06 $8.12 $212.58 $1,411.61 $1,151.25 $5,436.55 

 

Schedule 2 of the overlay stipulates that where new residential subdivisions 
are proposed the contribution can be collected as a condition of the 
subdivision permit. The contribution must be adjusted in accordance with the 
Building Price Index and land acquisition values on 1 July each year. This 
contribution will be included as a condition on the permit.  

 
Clause 53.01 Public open space contribution and subdivision  
 
Pursuant to Clause 53.01 of the planning scheme, a person who proposes to 
subdivide the land must make a contribution to the Council for public open 
space.   
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An exemption may be applied for a two lot subdivision, in which Council 
believe that the land will not be further subdivided. The application is for a 
subdivision of land to create two lots. Due to the existing constraints on site 
(open drain) and the location of dwelling on Lot 1, it is unlikely that the lots can 
be further subdivided in future. 
 
Clause 56 Residential Subdivision  
 
The provisions of Clause 56 of the Macedon Ranges Planning Scheme apply 
to the proposed subdivision of this site.  
 
Clause 56.03-5 Neighbourhood Character  
 
The surrounding character of the area comprises of varied residential lot sizes 
containing existing dwellings. The proposed subdivision respects the existing 
character and the density of dwelling development within the area and is 
considered appropriate.  
 
Clause 56.04 Lot Design  
 
The subdivision will provide two varying lot sizes, with Lot 1 to contain the 
existing dwelling and Lot 2 of an appropriate size to contain a future dwelling, 
outbuilding and servicing infrastructure such as reticulated sewerage. The lots 
are of sufficient size for appropriate solar access, as well as providing for 
good solar access for future dwelling on proposed Lot 2. There are no 
common areas being proposed as part of this subdivision. Lot 1 will have 
direct access from Fersfield Road and Lot 2 will have access via the existing 
vehicular access through Aitken Street. Both lots will face the street frontages 
providing adequate safety and security.  
 
Clause 56.06-8 Lot Access  
 
The site is reasonably close to the town centre. Both lots having direct access 
from the road, which is considered appropriate with regard to access and 
mobility. An additional dwelling on Lot 2 will have no impact on traffic volumes 
in the neighbourhood.  
 
Clause 56.07 Integrated Water Management 
 
Reticulated water and sewerage will be provided to lots in accordance with the 
requirements of the relevant water authority. Lot 1 is already connected to all 
available services as it contains an existing dwelling.  The additional lot can 
be supported by appropriate infrastructure.  
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Clause 56.08 Site Management  
 
Clause 56.08-1 relates to the protection of the surrounding area from 
contamination and damage through the construction phase. The subdivision is 
minor in nature and will necessitate minimal works as such it is considered 
that there will be no unreasonable impact from the subdivision. 
 
Clause 56.09 Utilities  
 
The subdivision is located where existing services are provided such that 
there need be no constraint to timely connection of services. Shared trenching 
will be utilised where possible with connection to utilities to be undertaken in 
accordance with the requirements of the relevant authorities.  

 
Other Matters 

 
Melbourne Water has requested a condition stating an easement is created 
on both sides of the waterway (40 metre corridor) for wetland floodway and 
storm water quality management.  

 
Conclusion 
 
The proposal satisfies all the relevant PPF and LPPF, as well as the zone and 
overlay requirements. It is recommended that a planning permit being issued. 
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AND DEVELOPMENT OF A DWELLING AND OUTBUILDING 
– 130 RUSSELLS ROAD, WOODEND NORTH 

 
Officer: John Edwards, Coordinator Statutory Planning 
 
File Ref: PLN/2019/13 

  
 Council Plan Relationship: Relates to priority area: 

Improve the built environment 
 

  Attachments:   
1. Site plans 
2. Dwelling plans 
3. Shed plan  
4. Statement of Planning Policy 

planning checklist 
5. Locality plan showing 

surrounding dwellings 
6. Strategic Framework Plan 

Macedon Ranges Shire at 
2036 

 
Applicant: Mr Dean Suckling, Enprove Pty Ltd 
 
Date of receipt of application: 3 January 2019 
 
Trigger for report to Council: Councillor call-in 
 
 
Synopsis:  
 
The application is for the construction of a dwelling and outbuilding at  
130 Russells Lane, Woodend North. 
 
The subject site is 6.2 hectares in size and currently unused grazing land 
with two road frontages.  Russells Road is a bitumen road to the south, 
and Donovans Road is a gravel road at the western side boundary. 
 
Approval to build a dwelling on the subject land was given and recorded 
on 8/11/2000 in Council’s online system. 
 
The applicant seeks to build a dwelling and large shed located centrally on 
the land.  The land is to be fenced into several paddocks, with smaller 
paddocks directly accessed via a laneway from Donovans Road to the 
west.  The larger paddocks, farm shed and dwelling are to be accessed 
directly from Russells Road to the south. There is an intermittent (winter) 
creek to the northeast. 
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The land is currently degraded and unproductive and needs significant 
investment to improve the agricultural capacity.  It is of moderate 
agricultural soil quality and not within the extensive area identified in the 
Planning Scheme’s Strategic Framework Plan 2036 as Good Capability–
Agriculturally Productive Land.   

 
The application was advertised and one (1) objection was received 
mentioning previous flooding of the land, impact on the road by surface 
water from new driveway and extra traffic created, and potential vegetation 
impact on the road reserve.  The application was referred internally to the 
Engineering and Environmental Health sections who did not object.  It was 
referred externally to Coliban Water and Goulburn Murray Water who did 
not object or have concerns about inundation by floodwaters or risk to 
human life in their referral response. 
 
A Land Capability Assessment (LCA) outlines the septic system required 
for the dwelling and successfully addresses Environmental Significance 
Overlay (ESO4) concerns. 
 
The Farm Management Plan (FMP) outlines soil quality improvements, 
and value-adding agricultural production introducing a newly emerging 
high value purebred cattle breed (Speckle Park) into a closely monitored 
selective breeding program to maximise quality and numbers.   
 
Other small lots in the surrounding Farming Zone (FZ) area have dwellings 
with little associated agricultural use.   A dwelling and agricultural shed on 
this 6 hectare lot is consistent with the locale and a positive agricultural 
outcome for the site and for the surrounding area. 
 
The proposal meets both the purposes of the FZ, and the FZ use of the 
land for a dwelling is consistent with the Planning Policy Framework 
(PPF), Municipal Strategic Statement (MSS) and Local Planning Policy 
Framework (LPPF).  It meets the objectives to protect agricultural land and 
facilitate innovation in new agricultural pursuits enhancing the ongoing, 
productive use of the land for agriculture. 
 
The issuing of a planning permit with conditions would provide clarity and 
appropriate control of the land use into the future. 
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Officer Recommendation:  
 
That the Council resolve to issue a Notice of Decision to grant a 
planning permit for the “use and development of the land for a dwelling 
and outbuilding in accordance with endorsed plans”, for the subject 
land at Crown Allotment 70 Section Q Parish of Woodend, 130 Russells 
Road, Woodend North, subject to the conditions below: 
 
1. The development must not be commenced until three copies of 

plans drawn to scale and with written dimensions are submitted and 

approved by the Responsible Authority.  When approved, the 

landscape plans will be endorsed and will then form part of this 

permit.  Such plans must show: 

a. Any existing trees to be retained on the subject land 

b. Location of the windbreak boundary tree plantings within the 

subject land adjacent to the western and southern boundaries   

c. Number of species to be planted 

d. Types of species to be planted including botanical name.  Species 

should be indigenous wherever possible. 

e. Completion date of works, and 

f. Maintenance of the plantings. 

 

2. The development and use as shown on the endorsed plans must not 

be altered unless with the prior written consent of the Responsible 

Authority. 

 

3. Before the construction of the dwelling commences, the farm 
infrastructure including the laneway, fences and shed must be 
completed. 

 

4. Landscape boundary vegetation plantings 
Within six months of the occupation of the dwelling the boundary 
vegetative visual screen windbreaks along the western boundary 
and southern boundary in accordance with the landscape plans 
must be carried out, completed and thereafter maintained to the 
satisfaction of the Responsible Authority.    
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5. Before the development commences, the owner/s of the lot must enter 

into an agreement with the Responsible Authority in accordance with 

Section 173 of the Planning and Environment Act 1987.  The 

agreement must provide for: 

a) The owner of the land must implement all the recommendations 

and requirements of the Farm Management Plan endorsed under 

Planning Permit PLN/2019/13 on an ongoing basis to the 

satisfaction of the Responsible Authority, unless otherwise 

agreed in writing with the Responsible Authority. 

 
Application must be made to the Registrar of Titles to register the 
Section 173 Agreement on the title to the land under Section 181 of the 
same Act prior to the commencement of the development. 
 
The owner/s must pay all costs (including Council’s costs) associated 
with the preparation, execution, registration and any amendment of the 
Section 173 Agreement. 
 
MRSC Health Conditions 
6. The dwelling shall be fitted with a wastewater treatment and disposal 

system to a design approved by Council’s Environmental Health 

Officer and such that all effluent is disposed of within the boundaries 

of the allotment, to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority.  A 

separate permit must be obtained from Council’s Environmental 

Health Department prior to its installation. 

 
7. The wastewater disposal area must be kept free of stock, buildings, 

driveways and service trenching and must be planted with 

appropriate vegetation to maximise its performance, stormwater must 

be diverted away, to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority.  

 
MRSC Engineering Conditions 
8. Prior to the commencement of works, an “Asset Protection Permit” 

must be obtained from Council for any of the following 

circumstances: 

a. Entering a building site by means of a motor vehicle having a 

gross weight exceeding two tonnes. 

b. Occupying a road for works. 

c. Connecting any Council land to a stormwater drain. 

d. Opening, altering or repairing a Council road. 

e. Opening, altering or repairing a Council drain. 

f. Accessing a building site from a point other than a crossover. 

g. Construct/repair/widen/remove any crossover. 
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9. Prior to the commencement of use, the following works must be 

undertaken to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority: 

a. A new crossover must be constructed in Donovans Road. 

b. The existing crossover in Russells Road must be reconstructed. 

 
10. Prior to commencement of use, potable water supply with a storage 

capacity of at least 10,000 litres must be provided to the dwelling for 

domestic use and firefighting purposes to the satisfaction of the 

Responsible Authority. 

 
11. Prior to any development works being undertaken, an ‘Asset 

Protection Permit’ must be obtained from Council for any of the 

following: 

a) Works within Council road reserves or on Council stormwater 
drainage assets. 

b) Entry into a building site by means of a motor vehicle having a 
gross weight exceeding two tonnes. 

c) New crossover or existing crossover upgrading works. 
 

12. Prior to the commencement of use, the access driveway to the 

dwelling must be constructed to meet the following requirements to 

the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority: 

a) The driveway, including any culvert crossings, must be 
constructed to a standard so that it is accessible in all weather 
conditions and be capable of accommodating a vehicle of 15 
tonnes for the trafficable road width. 

b) The driveway must have a minimum trafficable width of 3.5m, be 
clear of encroachments 4 metres vertically and have no 
obstructions within 0.5m either side of the formed width of the 
driveway. 

c) Curves must have a minimum radius of 10 metres. 
d) The average grade must be no more than 1 in 7 with a maximum of 

no more than 1 in 5 for no more than 50 metres. 
e) Dips must have no more than a 1 in 8 entry and exit angle. 

 
13. Storm water runoff from the dwelling must be dissipated as normal 

un-concentrated overland flow clear of property boundaries and 

buildings in adjacent properties.    

 
14. The development is to be constructed in accordance with Macedon 

Ranges Shire Council’s Policy Engineering Requirements for 

Infrastructure Construction (June 2010). 
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15. No polluted and/or sediment laden run-off is to be discharged 

directly or indirectly into drains or watercourses. Soil erosion 

control measures must be employed throughout the development 

works in accordance with Construction Techniques for Sediment 

Pollution Control (EPA 1991) to the satisfaction of the Responsible 

Authority.  

 
Goulburn-Murray Water Conditions 
16. All wastewater from the dwelling must be treated to a standard of at 

least 20mg/L BOD and 30mg/L suspended solids using a package 

treatment plant or equivalent.  The system must have a certificate of 

conformity issued by the Conformity Assessment Body (or 

equivalent approval) and be installed, operated and maintained in 

accordance with the relevant Australian Standard and EPA Code of 

Practice.    

 
17. All construction and ongoing activities must be in accordance with 

sediment control principles outlined in ‘Construction Techniques for 

Sediment Pollution Control’ (EPA, 1991).  

 
Expiry of Permit 
18. This permit will expire if one of the following circumstances applies:  

a) The development is not commenced within 2 years of the date of 

this permit. 

b) The development is not completed within 4 years of the date of 

this permit.  

 
The Responsible Authority may extend the periods referred to if a 
request is made in writing before the permit expires, or within 6 months 
afterwards if the development has not commenced, or 12 months after if 
the development has commenced but is not yet completed.  
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Existing conditions and relevant history 
 
Subject Land  
 
The subject site is located on the northern side of Russells Road, on the 
corner with Donovans Road in Woodend North.  Russells Road is a sealed 
bitumen road and Donovans Road is a good quality unsealed gravel road. 
 
The site comprises of 6.2 hectares and is an irregular rectangular shape.  It is 
essentially vacant with the exception of a small shed located on the site 
(which is proposed to be removed as part of this application).  The site has 
connection to town water available. 
 
An intermittent watercourse (winter creek) runs through the north eastern part 
of the site and contains a significant planting of willow trees either side of the 
waterway. This waterway is a tributary of Five Mile Creek which is located 
approximately 80 metres to the west of the subject site.  The waterway 
physically splits the subject site from any of the adjoining properties to the 
east and north, making the site somewhat isolated. 
 
The land is relatively rundown in agricultural terms, lacking the presence 
of modern pasture grasses, with poor mineral and trace elements balance, 
and no fertiliser application for some years.  The pasture coverage is poor 
and severely impacted by acid root matting and weed growth, as well as 
noxious weeds such as gorse.  Internal and perimeter fencing is aged and 
ineffective and there is no existing agricultural water supply. 
 
The site is located within the Farming Zone and is affected by the 
Environmental Significance Overlay Schedule 4 (Eppalock Proclaimed 
Catchment).  
 
Surrounds 
 
The subject site is located in the area of Woodend North directly north of the 
main township area.  The surrounding allotment sizes are small - generally 
between 2-4 hectares. Most of these allotments are ‘hobby farm’ style 
properties and cannot be properly farmed due to their size. The majority of 
allotments already contain dwellings and associated outbuildings.  
 
The subject site is located along the northern periphery of this area and 
strategically located as part of the transition to the larger farming allotments 
further north of Russells Road and the smaller allotments abutting to the south 
of Russells Road.  
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Registered restrictive covenants and/or Section 173 Agreements affecting the 
site 
 
The subject site is not affected by any restrictions. 
 
Previous permit history 
 
A search of Council’s records has found the following permit history: 
 

 
 
 
 
 

The proposal 
 
It is proposed to construct a single storey four (4) bedroom dwelling and 
associated shedding on the subject site. This dwelling is proposed in 
association with cattle farming, which is proposed to be established on the 
site. 
 
The primary access to the dwelling will utilise the existing access from 
Russells Road and the secondary access as a laneway between newly 
created paddocks will be from Donovans Road. 
 
The owner intends to utilise the land for a nucleus of purebred Speckle Park 
cattle, and to birth and wean the calves at the property. The Speckle Park 
cattle breed are a newly emerging dual purpose breed for both dairy and beef 
production.   
 
It should be noted that the Shire already has an existing nationally renowned 
breeder of Speckle Park cattle, with Mr Milne of Speckline Stud (Speckle Park 
& Lowline cattle) in Tylden. 
 
The property will be largely used as the holding paddocks for a core group 
of ten pregnant purebred cows to maximise their breeding potential.  The 
applicant submits that constant supervision to ensure optimal maternal 
care of cows, and neonatal care of mother and calf is required. 
 
The weaned calves are then moved on to other property owned jointly by 
the applicant to allow for expansion of the breed, for animal sales, semen 
sales and promotion of the breed. 
 

Permit No. Description 

RFD62751 
8/11/2000 

130 Russells Road Potential purchasers approval to build. 
[system transfer file note] 
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A Farm Management Plan has been provided which notes that currently the 
site is a low quality parcel of land not suitable for agriculture due to the 
infestation of weeds, poor pasture quality and current lack of agricultural water 
supply.  The site needs significant investment to improve the agricultural 
capacity.  The farm plan notes that the owner intends to improve the property 
substantially to allow the farming venture to be undertaken and that this is a 
positive outcome for the site and for the surrounding area.  
 
Sewer and gas are not available. The proposal includes a Land Capability 
Assessment which recommends that wastewater be treated to a secondary 
standard and disposed of via sub surface irrigation.  
 
Russells Road is a sealed bitumen road and Donovans Road is a good quality 
unsealed gravel road.  The primary access to the dwelling is proposed from 
Russells Road and the secondary access as a laneway between newly 
created paddocks will be from Donovans Road.  The Russells Road crossover 
is an existing crossover, however Council’s Engineering Department have 
required that this be upgraded to meet Council standards.   

 
Relevant Macedon Ranges Planning Scheme controls 
 
Section 46AZK of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 
 
Section 46AZK of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 requires Council as 
a Responsible Public Entity to not act inconsistently with any provision of the 
Statement of Planning Policy (SOPP) in exercising decision making powers.  
The officer assessment against the SOPP is contained as an attachment. 
 
State Planning Policy Framework 

 
Clause No. Clause name 

12 Environment and Landscape Values 

14 Natural Resource Management  

15 Built Environment and Heritage 

16 Housing 

17 Economic Development  
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Local Planning Policy Framework 

 
Clause No. Clause name 

21 Municipal Strategic Statement 

21.03 Vision – Strategic Framework Plan 

21.05 Environment and Landscape Values 

21.07  Natural Resource Management  

21.09 Housing 

21.13 Local Area and Small Settlements -  

22.01 Macedon Ranges and Surrounds 

 
Zoning 

 
Clause No. Clause name 

35.07 Farming Zone 

 

Overlay 
 

Clause No. Clause name 

42.01 Environmental Significance Overlay Schedule 4 

 
Particular Provisions 

 
Clause No. Clause name 

N/A 

  
General Provisions 

 

Clause No. Clause name 

65 Decision Guidelines 

66 Referral and Notice Provisions 

 
Permit Trigger 

 

Clause No. Clause name 
35.07-1 Use of the land for a dwelling 

35.07-4 A permit is required for building and works associated with a 
section 2 use.  
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Cultural Heritage Management Plan Assessment 

 

 Assessment Criteria Assessment Response 

1 Is the subject property within an area of 
cultural heritage sensitivity as defined 
within the cultural heritage sensitivity 
mapping or as defined in Part 2 
Division 3 or 4 of the Aboriginal 
Heritage Regulations 2007? 

Yes, part of the western portion 
of the land is within the setback 
distance of cultural heritage 
sensitivity from the Five Mile 
Creek further to the west.  The 
proposed area for construction 
of the dwelling is not within the 
affected portion.  

2 Does the application proposal include 
significant ground disturbance as 
defined in Regulation 4 Aboriginal 
Heritage Regulations 2007? 

Yes 

3 Is the application proposal an exempt 
activity as defined in Part 2 Division 2 
Aboriginal Heritage Regulations 2007? 

Yes 

4 Is the application proposal a high 
impact activity as defined in Part 2 
Division 5 Aboriginal Heritage 
Regulations 2007? 

N/A 

 

Based on the above assessment, a cultural heritage management plan is not 
required in accordance with Part 2 Division 1 Regulation 6 Aboriginal Heritage 
Regulations 2007. 

 
The process to date 
 
Referral 
 

Authority (Section 55) Response 

Western Water No objection  received 

Coliban Water  No objection received 

Goulburn Murray Water  No objection subject to conditions 

 
Authority (Section 52) Response 

MRSC Engineering No objection subject to conditions 

MRSC Environmental Health No objection subject to conditions 

 
Advertising 
 
Pursuant to Section 52 of the Planning and Environment Act 1987, the 
application was advertised by sending notices to the owners and occupiers of 
surrounding and adjoining land and by requiring a notice to be erected on the 
land for a period of 14 days.  One (1) objection was received. 
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Officer assessment 
 
The key consideration is the impact on the productive potential and ability 
to sustain viable agricultural use, both on the subject site and on adjoining 
land through the construction of a dwelling.  
As demonstrated below, the PPF and LPPF seek to support and enhance 
agricultural use by ensuring that future development, particularly 
residential development does not result in the permanent removal of 
agricultural land or inhibit the continuation and development of existing 
agricultural uses.  These objectives are reiterated in the purpose of the 
Farming Zone. 
 
The applicant has provided a Land Capability Assessment report which shows 
that the land is capable of adequately treating and disposing of wastewater 
from the dwelling via a packaged treatment sewage plant and subsurface 
irrigation system  
 
The applicant has demonstrated that the proposal will significantly 
increase the agricultural yield of the land.  The applicant has outlined the 
intrinsic high value and rarity of the Speckle Park cattle breed and the 
proposal to establish a nucleus of high quality purebred livestock on the 
land.   
 
A clear case is provided on the need to live in the dwelling on the land to 
allow the constant supervision required to maximise the reproductive 
potential sought after through high quality maternal care, and the neo-
natal care of the mother and calf.   This will maximise the numbers of 
cattle bred.  
 
The application site is located within the area affected by Environmental 
Significance Overlay (Schedule 4 – Eppalock Proclaimed Catchment).  
The applicant has provided sufficient information to demonstrate that the 
dwelling can be appropriately serviced for wastewater disposal.  The 
proposal has been reviewed and approved by the relevant water 
catchment authorities and Council’s Environmental Health Department and 
deemed to satisfy the relevant policy and overlay provisions.  
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Objector issues and the applicable Officer response   

 
The objection issue and Officer comments on the objection are provided 
below: 

 
Objection Officer response 

The subject site is very 
flood prone 
 

The Water Authorities have expressed no concerns with the potential 
inundation of the land or any impact on the development of a dwelling 
on the land.  This response deems the risk to human life to be 
minimal.  
 
An Officer inspection of the subject site after a period of significant 
rainfall did not indicate any overland flow or inundation on the land. 
 

Donovans Road is the 
entry to submitter’s 
property, is often 
underwater, and the new 
driveway will create 
additional surface water 
flow onto the road. 
 

An Officer inspection of Donovans Road and environs after a period of 
significant rainfall did not indicate any overland flow damage to the 
gravel road formation. 
 
A well-formed deep swale drain exists along the property boundary to 
transport stormwater away from the roadway and neighbouring road 
reserve. 
 
Any new crossover on Donovans Road will need to meet the Council’s 
current design standards which will minimise any surface water flow 
onto road surfaces by ensuring it is directed into the current swale 
drains. 
 

Concerned that an 
additional accessway off 
Donovans Road to the 
subject site will create 
extra traffic movements  
 

The creation of a secondary accessway/crossover onto Donovans 
Road will be primarily used for the “as-of-right” agricultural use for 
cattle breeding.  This is the laneway which passes between the bulk of 
the proposed cattle housing paddocks providing strategic access to 
these paddocks.  The anticipated use of this high value low numbers 
farming enterprise will have minimal impact on the use of the formed 
gravel road known as Donovans Road.  The relatively low usage will 
also be very unlikely to affect the access of farm related vehicles along 
Donovans Road to other properties further to the north. 
 
The existing crossover/access at Russells Road, which includes a 
double row of cypress trees on the land leading into the paddock, will 
be utilised as the primary access for the proposed dwelling.  This will 
be upgraded to meet current design standards.  This would have been 
the access point for the dwelling which was approved to build in 2000 
(referenced at council record RFD62751  8/11/2000).  
 

Donovans Road will 
require upgrading and 
regular maintenance.  
 

The low usage proposed for access from Donovans Road is unlikely to 
detrimentally impact the road surface. 
 

Concerned that proposed 
vegetation may encroach 
onto road reserve 
 

The existing vegetation including weed infestation was shown along 
the boundaries, overlapping externally and internally, on the existing 
site plan.  This will be removed and replaced with the proposed 
windbreak boundary fence plantings that will be contained within the 
curtilage of the land and will not intrude into the road reserve. 
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Planning Policy Framework  
 
Clause 14.01-1S, relating to the protection of agricultural land has as its 
objective “to protect the state’s agricultural base by preserving productive 
farmland”.  The clause states, that in considering a proposal to develop 
agricultural land, the following factors must be considered: 

 The desirability of impacts of removing the land from primary 
production, given its agricultural productivity. 

 The impacts of the proposed development on the continuation of 
primary production on adjacent land, with particular regard to land 
values and to the viability of infrastructure for such production. 

 The compatibility between the proposed development and the existing 
uses of the surrounding land. 

 Assessment of the land capability. 
 

Collectively, these policies place great emphasis on the importance in 
protecting existing agricultural land from inappropriate development, which 
will effectively permanently remove the land from agricultural use.   
 
The application site is within a Farming Zone and identified as degraded 
agricultural land requiring substantial financial and product input to 
increase its productive capacity.  Clause 14.01-1 is particularly clear in 
requiring a nexus between development of farmland and ongoing 
productive use of agriculture, to protect against loss of agricultural land. 
 
Clause 14.01-2S encourages sustainable agricultural land use.  The 
strategies clearly show that innovation and encouraging diversification and 
investment in value adding production should be facilitated.  In addition 
that genuine farming enterprises should be assisted to embrace 
opportunities and adjust to market changes.  This is an enterprise clearly 
seeking to establish a highly controlled breeding program to maximise the 
future breeding potential and contribution of this newly emerging dual 
purpose cattle breed to our farming economy. 
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Local Planning Policy Framework 
 
The MSS identifies the importance of natural resource management within 
the Shire, with particular emphasis on water catchments, soils and 
agricultural production.  The land use vision stated in Clause 21.03-2 
states the following: 

 Agriculture remains an important part of the character and economy of 
the Shire, especially the high quality soils in the east of the Shire and in 
the north where there has been less land fragmentation.  Effective land 
management is a key priority. 

 Protection of water quality, especially potable water supply is 
fundamental.  Land use and development, particularly un-serviced 
development in open water supply catchments, is minimised and 
managed to ensure water quality is not compromised. 

 
The associated Strategic Framework Plans at Clause 21.03-3 interprets 
the land use vision and identifies the vision’s key elements influencing 
land use planning up to 2036.  This pictorial map identifies areas of good 
agricultural productive capability within the Shire, in support of the above 
dot point about high quality agricultural soils being in the east and north.   
 
This map clearly shows that the subject land is outside of these identified 
good quality agriculturally productive areas. 
 
The application site lies well away from these policy areas, but it is still 
located within the broader Farming Zone where supporting agricultural use 
remains a key objective.   This proposal seeks to maximise the potential 
agricultural outputs of this lower quality agricultural land by improving the 
pastures and establishing stud cattle breeding. 
 
The various relevant strategies associated with these local planning policy 
objectives generally encourage the use and management of land for 
agriculture, discourage conversions of productive agricultural land to non-
productive purposes, ensure new development relates to the productive 
use of the land and ensure any use of the land for residential activity is 
secondary or ancillary to the primary agricultural use of the land.  Of 
particular importance, construction of dwellings is discouraged unless it 
can be demonstrated it is required to facilitate or enhance the ongoing 
primary use of the land for productive, sustainable agriculture.  This 
application seeks to make a clear link between improving agricultural 
production on less than high quality production land by the inclusion of a 
dwelling ancillary to this agricultural production. 
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Farming Zone 
 
The general purposes of the Farming Zone are to provide for the use of 
land for agriculture, to encourage the retention of productive agricultural 
land and to ensure that non-agricultural uses, including dwellings, do not 
adversely affect the use of land for agriculture. 
 
For allotments below the minimum 40 hectares lot size specified in the 
schedule a dwelling requires a planning permit.  While the use is 
discretionary this does not imply that a permit should not be granted.  The 
key consideration is the appropriateness of the dwelling use, having 
regard to the purpose of the zone.   
 
As discussed above, both the SPPF and LPPF are very clear that 
dwellings on small lots within the Farming Zone are discouraged, except 
where the dwelling is demonstrated to provide a genuine benefit to the 
agricultural use of the land. 

 
Clause 35.07-6 provides matters to consider in deciding on an application 
in the Farming Zone.  Of particular note are the following: 

 Whether the dwelling will result in the loss or fragmentation of 
productive agricultural land. 

 Whether the dwelling will be adversely affected by agricultural activities 
on adjacent and nearby land due to dust, noise, odour, use of 
chemicals and farm machinery, traffic and hours of operation. 

 Whether the dwelling will adversely affect the operation and expansion 
of adjoining and nearby agricultural uses. 

 The potential for the proposal to lead to a concentration or proliferation 
of dwellings in the area and the impact of this on the use of the land for 
agriculture. 

 
Considerations 
 
Built Form 
 
There is no significant concern with the design or siting of the dwelling and 
outbuilding (shed) proposed.  The siting, scale and materials of the 
buildings are considered appropriate and will not detract from the rural 
landscape, having regard to the character of the area.   
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Road Infrastructure 
 
The road infrastructure is adequate to meet the as-of-right proposed 
farming activities as well as the proposed dwelling.  Council’s Engineering 
section response has reaffirmed this, with the exception that the existing 
Russells Road crossover will need to be upgraded to meet current 
standards. 
 
Farm Management Plan  
 
The FMP also sets out measures which will be undertaken for weed 
control and pasture improvement.  It is acknowledged there is a serious 
weed problem existing on the site and these works will result in a dramatic 
improvement in this regard.   
 
The dislocation of this land with the adjoining farmland to the northeast, 
due to the intermittent creek, has resulted in it becoming rundown and 
weed infested.  The financial outlay required to improve the agricultural 
productivity is very unlikely to occur without a proposal for more cost 
effective animal production incorporating constant supervision of the 
enterprise by the inclusion of onsite accommodation (a dwelling). 

 
Farm Dwellings 
 
The “dwelling issues” in the decision guidelines of the Farming Zone  seek 
to address the impact of a dwelling through loss or fragmentation of 
productive agricultural land, impact on agricultural use on the subject land 
and surrounding land, and the potential of a dwelling to lead to 
proliferations of dwellings in the area resulting in a loss of agriculture. 
 
The dwelling and domestic footprint, in this instance, will equate to less 
than 5% of the overall site.  Concurrently with this, while the Planning 
Scheme acknowledges the lesser agricultural quality of this six hectare lot, 
the applicant has provided a proposal which clearly demonstrates a 
commitment to improved land management practices and the ability to 
maximise agricultural value-added potential for this site.   
 
While there are currently many nearby dwellings to the south on smaller 
lots with minimal or no agricultural association, this land is within an area 
currently acting as a transition between these dwellings to the south and 
the larger farmland lots to the north.  The physical barrier of the Calder 
Freeway is also present to the north, that separates this vicinity from the 
large farmland lots north of the freeway.   
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This subject land has two road frontages (to west and south) and has a 
significant environmental barrier (“winter creek”/intermittent waterway with 
significant willow tree growth) effectively separating and isolating this land 
from the adjacent farmland to the north and east. 

 
Dinning v Macedon Ranges SC [2018] discusses a proposal to establish a 
specialist animal industry operation on a smaller farming zone allotment.  
The VCAT Member, Graeme David, stated inter alia: 
I accept the Applicant’s intent is to conduct a business on the site… 
The substantial level of investment proposed for the site, for example 
through the construction of a roofed 60mx40m horse arena, and the extent 
of proposed internal fencing and water reticulation infrastructure is 
indicative of more than that indicatively expected for a rural living/hobby 
farm proposal.  The total area of the property can be adequate for a horse 
retraining facility of the type proposed. 
 

Furthermore, I accept that the proposed use for the retraining of horses 

represents intensification of agricultural use relative to the low intensity 

grazing use to which the land has been put in the past. I find that the small 

area of land to be lost to agriculture for a proposed dwelling is 

counterbalanced by the increased intensification of agricultural use on the 

site. 

 
In that case, the tribunal also addressed the fact that the land in question 
was not in that area identified as having the productive agricultural soil, 
and this permit application also meets this criteria.  The Tribunal decided 
that a permit should be granted.  The development of the current 
proponent business model, infrastructure and circumstances are similar to 
this. 
 
The applicant asserts that the business model proposed in the Farm 
Management Plan requires a dwelling upon the land.   
 
Surrounding Dwellings 
 
As indicated on the accompanying locality plan, the majority of 
surrounding land already has established residences, and mostly on 
smaller land parcels.  The majority of these have been built in the 1990’s 
or earlier. 
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This land is part of the transition area between the smaller fully developed 
lots to the south of Russells Road and the larger farming lots further to the 
north.  The strategic planning framework also indicates that this farm land 
is not within the high productivity area of the Shire and as such is 
considered to be of a lesser agricultural capacity.  This proposed dwelling 
will support an agricultural enterprise which will transform  the land from 
low agricultural grade weed infested land parcel to a key contributor to 
value added production through maximising the breeding potential and 
genetic contribution of a newly emerging cattle breed. 

 
Conclusion 
 
It is clearly expressed in both State and Local Policy that the protection of 
agricultural land is of importance to the local and wider community.  It is 
essential that an application relating to agricultural land in the Farming 
Zone be able to satisfactorily address relevant objectives of the Planning 
Scheme. 
 
This proposal has demonstrated that the dwelling is reasonably required to 
facilitate the business plan expressed in the Farm Management Plan to 
maximise agricultural contribution and ensure the future agricultural 
potential of the subject land which would otherwise continue to degrade.   
 
It is considered that the proposal is an appropriate development and 
should therefore be supported. 
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Officer: Jack Wiltshire, Senior Statutory Planning Officer 
 
File Ref: PLN/2019/229 
 

 Council Plan Relationship: Relates to priority area: 

Improve the built environment 
 

  Attachments:  Plans and 
Statement of Planning Policy 
table  

 
Applicant: Catalyst One 
 
Date of receipt of application: 27 May 2019 
 
Trigger for report to Council: Councillor call in 
 
 
Synopsis:  
 
The application proposes the construction of a telecommunication facility 
comprising a 30 metre high monopole with associated equipment and the 
lopping of native vegetation. The facility is proposed as part of the Regional 
Rail Connectivity Project (RRCP) to improve regional mobile coverage for its 
passengers. It will also provide improved telecommunications within the 
Woodend Township. 
 
The application was not advertised due to the proposal being partly funded by 
the State of Victoria which exempts the application from notice under Clause 
52.19-3. The vegetation removal element of the application was not 
advertised, as it is not considered that it will cause detriment to any person. 
 
Key issues to be considered relate to the visual impact of the proposed facility 
on the surrounding area, the Code of Practice for Telecommunications 
Facilities, and the appropriateness of any native vegetation removal.  
 
The application has been assessed against the Macedon Ranges Planning 
Scheme and is considered appropriate.  It is recommended to grant a 
planning permit.  
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Officer Recommendation:  
 
That a Planning Permit is granted for the use and development of the 
land for a telecommunications facility (30m high monopole and ancillary 
equipment) and lopping of native vegetation for the land at CA9 Section  
42 P/Woodend, 59c High Street, Woodend subject to the conditions 
below:  

 
1. The use and development as shown on the endorsed plans must not 

be altered unless with the prior written consent of the Responsible 
Authority. 

 
2. No other trees or vegetation on site shall be removed, damaged, 

destroyed, felled, lopped or uprooted unless with the prior written 
consent of the Responsible Authority. 

 
3. The use of a generator is only permitted for the construction and 

maintenance of the facility to the satisfaction of the Responsible 
Authority.  

 
MRSC Engineering and Projects Unit Conditions  

 

4. Prior to the commencement of works, an “Asset Protection Permit” 
must be obtained from Council for any of the following 
circumstances: 
a) Entering a building site by means of a motor vehicle having a 

gross weight exceeding two tonnes. 
b) Occupying a road for works. 
c) Connecting any Council land to a stormwater drain. 
d) Opening, altering or repairing a Council road. 
e) Opening, altering or repairing a Council drain. 
f) Accessing a building site from a point other than a crossover. 
g) Construct/repair/widen/remove any crossover 

 
5. No polluted and/or sediment laden runoff is to be discharged directly 

or indirectly into drains or watercourses. Soil erosion control 
measures must be employed throughout the development works in 
accordance with Construction Techniques for Sediment Pollution 
Control (EPA 1991) to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority. 
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MRSC Environment Unit Conditions  
 

6. Prior to development commencing (including any demolition, 
excavations, tree removal, delivery of building/construction materials 
and/or temporary buildings), the tree protection fencing must be 
erected to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority in 
accordance with the approved tree protection zone(s).  The fencing 
must be erected to form a visual and physical barrier, be a minimum 
height of 1.5 metres above ground level, and include signage clearly 
marked “Tree Protection Zone – No Entry” on all sides.  

 

Permit Expiry Conditions  
 

7. This permit will expire if one of the following circumstances applies:  
 

a) The development is not commenced within 2 years of the date of 
this permit.  

b) The development is not completed within 4 years of the date of 
this permit.  

c) The use is not commenced within 2 years of the completion of the 
development  

  
The Responsible Authority may extend the periods referred to if a 
request is made in writing before the permit expires, or within 6 
months afterwards if the development has not commenced, or 12 
months after if the development has commenced but is not yet 
completed.  
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Existing conditions and relevant history 

 
Subject Land 
 
The subject site is located within the Woodend Train Station land at 59c High 
Street, Woodend. The proposed facility will be located approximately 360m to 
the south-west of the intersection of High Street and Anslow Street.  
 
The subject site is managed by Vic Track.  
 
The site comprises the Woodend Train Station with the main building located 
on the northern side of the railway line and a platform and shelter on the 
southern side of the railway line. Car parking areas are provided on both sides 
of the railway line with the majority of the car parking on the southern side. 
This southern carpark is accessed from Corinella Road, while the northern 
carpark is accessed from High Street. The southern carpark comprises an 
area of approximately 635m2.  
 
Corinella Road has four crossovers into the sealed train station carpark. There 
are a number of large trees along the Corinella Road frontage of both native 
and exotic varieties. A number of these trees are mature canopy trees. 
 
The immediate area to the west of the southern carpark is relatively vacant 
except for a cluster of trees which are also a mix of exotic or native types and 
of varying heights and maturities. The railway water tower is located to the 
north of these trees.  
 
Surrounds 
 
The land to the south of Corinella Road comprises a residential area. The 
character in this location is mixed between smaller unit type developments 
and larger lots with more generous setbacks and allowance for tree plantings. 
The site is bordered by High Street to the east.  
 
The northern area of the site is zoned Public Use Zone and Commercial 1 
Zone. The adjacent area south of Urquhart Street comprises the Woodend 
State Emergency Service Station and Woodend Fire Station. The Woodend 
Coles is also located to the east of these buildings. The area north of Urquhart 
Street comprises a mix of commercial and residential uses.  
 
Registered restrictive covenants and/or Section 173 Agreements affecting the 
site 
 
No restrictive covenants or Section 173 Agreements apply to the land.  
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Previous planning permit history 
 
A search of Council’s records has found the following permit history: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Proposal  
 
It is proposed to use and develop the site for a telecommunications facility 
comprising a 30m high concrete monopole, one (1) outdoor equipment 
cabinet and 8 bollards. The proposal facility and compound will be located 
within a lease area of 7.4m by 7.4m (total lease area of 54.76m2).   

 
Specifically, the proposed facility is to comprise:  

 The installation of a 30m high monopole.  

 Three (3) panel antennas (2600mm(h) x 548mm(w) x 150mm(d)) 
mounted atop the headframe; 

 The installation of 8 bollards fronting the train station carpark.  

 The installation of one (1) outdoor cabinet at ground level and coloured 
“Pale Eucalypt”.  

 Installation of ancillary equipment associated with the operation of the 
facility, including, remote radio units, cable trays, cabling, safe access 
methods, earthing and electrical works.  

 
The monopole will be installed atop a pier foundation which will be imbedded 
into the ground.  
 
The facility is to be located 21m from the Corinella Road frontage and 64.1m 
south-east from the boundary of 27 Corinella Road. The facility is to be 
setback approximately 286m from the High Street frontage. 
 
No site cut and fill is required to level the area due to the proposed pier 
foundation and the relatively level site location.   
 
Two branches are proposed to be lopped from an adjoining southern 
mahogany tree. No over vegetation removal is required to facilitate the 
development.  
 
No security fencing is proposed to limit the required vegetation removal for the 
facility.  
 

Permit No. Description 

PLN/2016/441 Works (Waterproofing) at Campaspe River Bridge.  

PLN/2008/458 Vegetation removal 

PLN/2001/695 Tree removal and carpark 
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Section 46AZK of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 
 
Section 46AZK of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 requires Council as 
a Responsible Public Entity to not act inconsistently with any provision of the 
Statement of Planning Policy (SOPP) in exercising decision making powers. 
Attachment 2 contains the officer assessment against the SOPP. 
 
Relevant Macedon Ranges Planning Scheme controls 

 
Planning Policy Framework 
 

Clause No.  Clause name 

11 Settlement  

12  Environment and Landscape Values  

13 Environmental Risks and Amenity  

14.02-1S Catchment Planning and Management  

19.03-4S Telecommunications 

 
Local Planning Policy Framework 
 

Clause No.  Clause name 

21.02 Key issues and influences 

21.05 Environment and Landscape values 

21.10 Economic development and tourism 

21.12 Community and development infrastructure 

22.01 Macedon Ranges and Surrounds 

 
Zoning 
 

Clause No. Clause name 

36.01 Public Use Zone  

 

Overlay 
 

Clause No. Clause name 

42.01 Environmental Significance Overlay Schedule 4 

 
Particular Provisions 
 

Clause No. Clause name 

52.17 Native Vegetation  

52.19 Telecommunications Facility  
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General Provisions 
 

Clause No. Clause name 

65 Decision Guidelines 

66 Referral and Notice Provisions 

 
Operational Provisions 
 

Clause No. Clause name 

71.02-3 Integrated Decision Making  

 
Relevant Definitions – Clause 74 

Telecommunications 
Facility 

Land used to accommodate any part of the infrastructure 
of a Telecommunications network. It includes any 
telecommunications line, equipment, apparatus, 
telecommunications tower, mast, antenna, tunnel, duct, 
hole, pit, pole, or other structure or thing used, or for use in 
or in connection with a Telecommunications network. 

 
Cultural Heritage Management Plan Assessment 
 

 Assessment Criteria Assessment Response 

1 Is the subject property within an area 
of cultural heritage sensitivity as 
defined within the cultural heritage 
sensitivity mapping or as defined in 
Part 2 Division 3 or 4 of the Aboriginal 
Heritage Regulations 2018? 

No. 

2 Does the application proposal include 
significant ground disturbance as 
defined in Regulation 4 Aboriginal 
Heritage Regulations 2018? 

Yes. 

3 Is the application proposal an exempt 
activity as defined in Part 2 Division 2 
Aboriginal Heritage Regulations 2018? 

Yes. 

4 Is the application proposal a high 
impact activity as defined in Part 2 
Division 5 Aboriginal Heritage 
Regulations 2018? 

No.  

 

Based on the above assessment, a cultural heritage management plan is not 
required in accordance with Part 2 Division 1 Regulation 6 Aboriginal Heritage 
Regulations 2018 
 
A cultural heritage management plan has not been submitted.   
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The process to date 
 
Referral 
 

Authority (Section 55) Response 

Goulburn Murray Water No objection.  

Coliban Water No objection.  

Western Water No response. Considered no objection. 

 
Authority (Section 52) Response 

MRSC Engineering and 
Projects Unit  

No objection subject to two (2) conditions.  

MRSC Environment Unit No objection subject to two (2) conditions.  

MRSC Economic 
Development Unit  

No objection.  

 
Advertising 
 
Under clause 52.19-3, an application under any provision of this scheme to 
use or develop land for a Telecommunications facility is exempt from the 
notice requirements of Section 52(1)(a), (b) and (d), the decision requirements 
of Section 64(1), (2) and (3) and the review right of Section 82(1) of Act if the 
Telecommunications facility is funded, or partly funded, by the State of 
Victoria.  
 
The native vegetation removal was not advertised. Due to the minor nature 
and extent of the proposed vegetation removal, it was considered that no 
material detriment would occur to any person.  
 
Officer Assessment 
 
The proposed telecommunications facility requires assessment against the 
provisions of the Planning Policy Framework (PPF), Local Planning Policy 
Framework (LPPF), Clause 52.19 and the decision guidelines of Clause 65 
together with the provisions of the Public Use Zone 1. Matters to be taken into 
consideration include the visual impact of the structure, environmental impact, 
the suitability of the site and the relevant code of practice for 
telecommunications facilities. The Environmental Significance Overlay 
Schedule 4 (ESO4) will also be taken into consideration in determining the  
suitability of the proposal. The vegetation removal is required to be assessed 
under the provisions of the PPF, LPPF, ESO4 and Clause 52.17.  
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Planning Policy Framework (PPF) and Local Planning Policy Framework 
(LPPF) 
 
The Planning Policy Framework (PPF) recognises the need to facilitate the 
development of telecommunication infrastructure. In considering proposals for 
telecommunication services, a balanced approach between the provision of 
important telecommunications services and the need to protect the local 
amenity and environment from adverse impacts is required. Clause 71.02-3  
outlines that “Society has various needs and expectations such as land for 
settlement, protection of the environment, economic wellbeing, various social 
needs, proper management of resources and infrastructure. Planning aims to 
meet these needs and expectations by addressing aspects of economic, 
environmental and social wellbeing affected by land use and development. 
Planning and responsible authorities should endeavour to integrate the range 
of planning policies relevant to the issues to be determined and balance 
conflicting objectives in favour of net community benefit and sustainable 
development for the benefit of present and future generations”.  

 
Particular clauses within the PPF includes Clause 12 which outlines that 
“planning should help to protect the health of ecological systems and the 
biodiversity they support”. It also seeks that “planning should protect, restore 
and enhance sites and features of nature conservation, biodiversity, 
geological or landscape value”. Clause 13 requires that “planning should aim 
to avoid or minimise natural and human-made environmental hazards, 
environmental degradation and amenity conflicts”.  
 
Clause 14.02-1S seeks to “assist the protection and restoration of 
catchments, water bodies, groundwater, and the marine environment”. 
Applicable strategies associated with the application include:  

 Undertake measures to minimise the quantity and retard the flow of 
stormwater from developed areas. 

 Ensure land use and development minimises nutrient contributions to 
water bodies and the potential for the development of algal blooms. 

 Require appropriate measures to restrict sediment discharges from 
construction sites. 

 
The objective of Clause 19.03-4S is to facilitate the orderly development, 
extension and maintenance of telecommunication infrastructure. To 
implement this objective, planning provisions/decisions should: 

 Facilitate the upgrading and maintenance of telecommunications facilities. 

 Ensure that modern telecommunications facilities are widely accessible to 
business, industry and the community. 

 Ensure the communications technology needs of business, domestic, 
entertainment and community services are met. 
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 Do not prohibit the use of land for a telecommunications facility in any 
zone. 

 Encourage the continued deployment of broadband telecommunications 
services that are easily accessible by: 
- Increasing and improving access for all sectors of the community to the 

broadband telecommunications trunk network. 
- Supporting access to transport and other public corridors for the 

deployment of broadband networks in order to encourage infrastructure 
investment and reduce investor risk... 

 Ensure a balance between the provision of important telecommunications 
services and the need to protect the environment from adverse impacts 
arising from telecommunications infrastructure. 

 Planning should have regard to national implications of a 
telecommunications network and the need for consistency in infrastructure 
design and placement. 

 
Clause 21.05-2 outlines that the Macedon Ranges Shire has many and varied 
rural and township landscapes which are highly valued by residents and 
visitors. It identifies that as a growing municipality on the fringe of Melbourne, 
these landscapes face many challenges and threats which could have a 
detrimental effect on the Shire’s visual and landscape qualities.  
 
Clause 21.10 outlines the importance of tourism to the Shire’s economy and 
the importance of protecting the presentation of township entrances to 
enhance the area’s tourism appeal.   

 
Clause 21.12-2 outlines the need to “provide infrastructure, services and 
community facilities to new and established urban areas in an equitable 
manner”. This can be done by encouraging the delivery of necessary 
infrastructure to occur concurrent with or prior to development. 

 
Clause 22.01 – Macedon Ranges and Surrounds is a guiding policy that 
outlines consideration of development and land use. The applicable policies 
are considered relevant:  

 All development in proclaimed water catchment areas and in elevated 
areas must be strictly limited and regulated to protect water quality, and 
maintain or enhance natural systems and landscape character. 

 Development to be permitted in urban and rural areas must be planned to 
achieve harmony with the natural environment and to maintain both the 
generally rural character and high landscape values of the policy area. 

 Planning and management of the resources of the policy area must take 
into account not only the interests of the Victorian community but also the 
needs and views of the local community. 

 



Ordinary Council Meeting – Wednesday, 28 August 2019 

 

Page 53 

10. PE.3  APPLICATION FOR PLANNING PERMIT PLN/2019/229 
USE AND DEVELOPMENT OF A TELECOMMUNICATIONS 
FACILITY AND VEGETATION REMOVAL – WOODEND 
RAILWAY STATION, 59C HIGH STREET, WOODEND 
(Continued) 

 
Clause 22.01 seeks to allow the “provision of drainage, sewerage, utilities and 
social services in keeping with the special demands and restraints placed 
upon the policy area”. 

 
Public Use Zone Schedule 4 (PUZ4) 
 
The site is located within the Public Use Zone Schedule 4. The objectives of 
the Zone include the following:  

 To implement the Municipal Planning Strategy and the Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 To recognise public land use for public utility and community services and 
facilities. 

 To provide for associated uses that are consistent with the intent of the 
public land reservation or purpose. 

 
The purpose of Schedule 4 of the Public Use Zone is identified as being for 
the purpose of transport.   

 
A planning permit is required for the use and development of the land under 
the zoning.  

 
It is considered that the proposal will not detrimentally impact upon the 
purpose of the PUZ4 for the following reasons: 

 Only 54.76m² of the site will be used for the proposal.  

 A minimal amount of native vegetation is proposed to be removed while 
utilising existing vegetation to screen the site. 

 Minimal site works are proposed.  

 The location of the tower is setback reasonably from High Street and the 
Woodend Train station building. The tower will be located within a 
grouping of trees which will further recede its visual impact from the 
surrounding township. 

 When considering views from High Street it is deemed the Coles building 
and High Street vegetation will buffer and screen the monopole from any 
direct views.  

 The proposal would not cause an unreasonable impact on the nearby 
dwellings due to its setback, the location on a railway reserve and 
screening on the site, within the private realm along Corinella Road.  
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Environmental Significance Overlay Schedule 4 
 
The site is located on land subject to the Environmental Significance Overlay 
Schedule 4. The objectives of the overlay include the following: 

 To implement the Municipal Planning Strategy and the Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 To identify areas where the development of land may be affected by 
environmental constraints. 

 To ensure that development is compatible with identified environmental 
values. 

 
Schedule 4 outlines the following statement of environmental significance: 

 Lake Eppalock is a major water storage and recreational facility located 
within the Campaspe River catchment. It is a major source of water for 
irrigation, stock and domestic and urban water supplies for towns within 
the municipality. 

 
The environmental objective to be achieve is: 

 To ensure the protection and maintenance of water quality and water yield 
within the Eppalock Water Supply Catchment Area as listed under Section 
5 of the Catchment and Land Protection Act 1994. 

 
The application triggers a permit under this overlay to lop vegetation. The 
provisions of the ESO4 must also be considered along with the decision 
guidelines of Clause 52.19 which will be addressed below. 

 
The proposed removal of the vegetation will not adversely impact on the 
protection and maintenance of water quality or yield within the Eppalock 
Water Supply Catchment Area. The application was referred to Goulburn 
Murray Water, Coliban Water and Western Water under Clause 66.02-5 and 
no objection was received. In terms of the proposed development, it is not 
considered that the proposed telecommunications facility will have any impact 
on Lake Eppalock due to the nature of the facility and minor amount of 
vegetation removed.  
 
Clause 52.17 – Native Vegetation  
 
The application triggers a permit under Clause 52.17 for the removal of native 
vegetation. The clause seeks to ensure that there is no net loss to biodiversity 
as a result of the removal, destruction or lopping of native vegetation. This is 
to be achieved by applying the following three step approach in accordance 
with the Guidelines for the removal, destruction or lopping of native vegetation 
(Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning 2017) (the 
Guidelines):  
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1. Avoid the removal, destruction or lopping of native vegetation. 
2. Minimise impacts from the removal, destruction or lopping of native 

vegetation that cannot be avoided. 
3. Provide an offset to compensate for the biodiversity impact if a permit 

is granted to remove, destroy or lop native vegetation. 
 

To manage the removal, destruction or lopping of native vegetation to 
minimise land and water degradation. 
 
The application included an arboriculture assessment of the proposed 
development. No offset is required for the lopping of vegetation.   
 
The applicant advises the monopole base location and lack of security fence 
seek to minimise the amount of vegetation removed.   
 
The application was referred to the MRSC Environment Unit who did not 
object to the granting of a permit allowing the vegetation removal subject to 
conditions. The conditions require the establishment of tree protection zones. 
It is not considered that the vegetation removal will impact on the biodiversity 
or habitat of the area due to the minor nature of removal and the trees being 
located within the rail way reserve. 
 
Clause 52.19 – Telecommunications Facility  
 
Pursuant to Clause 52.19-2, a permit is required to construct a 
Telecommunications facility.  
 
The purpose of Clause 52.19 is: 

 To ensure that telecommunications infrastructure and services are provided 
in an efficient and cost effective manner to meet community needs. 

 To ensure the application of consistent provisions for telecommunications 
facilities. 

 To encourage an effective state-wide telecommunications network in a 
manner consistent with the economic, environmental and social objectives 
of planning in Victoria as set out in Section 4 of the Planning and 
Environment Act 1987. 

 To encourage the provision of telecommunications facilities with minimal 
impact on the amenity of the area. 

 
In considering the proposal against the provisions of this clause, regard must 
be given to the Code of Practice for Telecommunications Facilities in Victoria 
and the effect of the proposal on adjacent land. 
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An assessment of the compliance of the proposed telecommunications facility 
in accordance with the principles of Section 4.0 of the Code of Practice for 
Telecommunications Facilities in Victoria, July 2004 is provided below: 
 
Principle 1 – A Telecommunications facility should be sited to minimise visual 
impact  
 
The facility is appropriate and minimises the visual impact of the structure. 
The siting and presence of vegetation on the site and surrounding road 
network will screen the facility, including from the local road network of 
Corinella Road but also High Street. A number of buildings presently exist on 
the site and toward High Street which will screen the monopole and works 
around the monopole.  
 
The use of a monopole facility, as opposed to a lattice tower, will serve to 
minimise the visual impact of the facility. The proposed tower will also be 
finished in a natural galvanised steel finish which will fade with weathering.  
 
It is not considered that the facility will form a dominating visual element in the 
surrounding area despite the height of the tower as the surrounding 
vegetation will assist to screen the pole. Furthermore, the location near the 
railway line is partly to fulfil the facilities role for the Regional Rail Connectivity 
Project (RRCP). The tower is required to be of this height to ensure maximum 
service capacity. The surrounding vegetation have been reviewed within an 
arborist report. The report identifies that many of the trees have a life 
expectancy which ranges between 1 and 20 years. Currently there is limited 
opportunity to plant additional vegetation due to the existing vegetation on the 
site. Furthermore, the vegetation is under the control of Vic Track.  
 
In consideration of this, the location of the tower is still suitably located to 
minimise its visual impact and that the decline of existing screening trees is 
not fatal to the monopole’s location. The surrounding location benefits from 
screening from local vegetation within the private realm to the south and the 
Woodend Coles building to the north. Vegetation further along the Corinella  
 
Road frontage will also provide screening to the east and there is no 
significant visual impact to the west. 
 
Given the presence of development and vegetation in the area it is considered 
that the visual impact of the facility will be minimal and not dominating to the 
adjoining area.  



Ordinary Council Meeting – Wednesday, 28 August 2019 

 

Page 57 

10. PE.3  APPLICATION FOR PLANNING PERMIT PLN/2019/229 
USE AND DEVELOPMENT OF A TELECOMMUNICATIONS 
FACILITY AND VEGETATION REMOVAL – WOODEND 
RAILWAY STATION, 59C HIGH STREET, WOODEND 
(Continued) 

 
Principle 2 – Telecommunications facilities should be co-located wherever 
practical 
It is not possible to co-locate the facility as the Applicant’s investigation found 
that there were no viable options in the form of existing telecommunications 
facilities in the Woodend area. Some opportunity to utilise other facilities, such 
as buildings, were found however, these were not suitable from a service 
perspective.  
 
Seven proposed sites were nominated by the applicant within their planning 
report outlining possible sites for the facility. A number of factors were outlined 
by the applicant to determine the final site. These included greater visual 
impact, signal coverage suitability issues, the reluctance to use a taller tower 
in an urban area or land tenure could not be secured. The subject site was the 
preference of Vic Track in this instance as opposed to the northern side of the 
rail corridor. Furthermore, the applicant has advised the proposed tower will 
be suitable for future co-location if the need arises.   
 
Principle 3 – Health standards for exposure to radio emissions will be met  
The facilities construction, operation and siting will be undertaken with minimal 
disturbance and risk and in compliance with State Environment Protection 
Policies and best practice environmental management guidelines. 
 
An Electromagnetic Emissions (EME) report has been produced for the 
Telecommunications Facility which demonstrates compliance with the 
Radiation Protection Standard.  
 
The information submitted with the application shows that the facility would 
have a maximum EME level of under 0.5% of the 100% public exposure limit 
set by the Australian Radiation Protection and Nuclear Safety Agency 
(ARPNSA) which is 61.4 V/m, 10000 mW/m2. The facility will produce a 
maximum of 3.49 V/m, 32.34 mW/m2 at 200m - 300m from the facility. The 
facility will meet both the ARPANSA safety standard and the Australian 
standard in relation to EME.  
 
Furthermore, numerous VCAT decisions, such as Mason v Greater Geelong 
CC (Red Dot) [2013] VCAT 2057, have consistently held that matters relating 
to electromagnetic radiation should not be considered and are not relevant 
where the ARPANSA standards are met. 
 
Principle 4 – Disturbance and risk relating to siting and construction should be 
minimised; Construction activity and site location should comply with State 
Environment Protection policies and best practice environmental management 
guidelines 
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The siting and construction of the proposed telecommunications tower will not 
cause any significant environmental damage or significantly disturb the soil or 
local flora and fauna. The removal of vegetation has been assessed by the 
MRSC Environment Unit and is considered appropriate subject to conditions. 
All relevant standards of engineering and construction safety will be adhered 
to, with conditions placed on the permit requiring compliance with the relevant 
guidelines.  
 
Once operational, the facility will function continuously unstaffed and will 
typically only require periodic maintenance works. Provision has been made 
for the location of any generators required for construction or cranes outside 
of the tree protection zones of surrounding trees.  
 
Conclusion 
 
The proposed facility and vegetation removal is appropriate and meets the 
requirements for telecommunications facilities specified in the Planning 
Scheme and Code of Practice for Telecommunications Facilities in Victoria, 
July 2004. It is recommended that a permit be issued subject to conditions. 
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10. PE.4  STERN WAY, NEW GISBORNE 
 
 Officer: Rob Ball, Manager Strategic Planning and Environment 
 
 Council Plan Relationship: Relates to priority area: 

Improve the built environment 
 

  Attachment:  New Gisborne 
Development Plan, January 
2016  

 
 

 Synopsis 
   
The New Gisborne Development Plan (2015) (the development plan) is 
Council’s adopted strategic document to guide development within the New 
Gisborne area over the next 5-10 years. The Development Plan was adopted 
by Council in 2014 following a comprehensive process over a four year period 
including community consultation.  
 
A report was presented to Council at its Ordinary Council Meeting on 26 June 
2019 in response to a petition received on 18 February 2019 signed by 93 
persons requesting: 
 
“As residents of the Barringo Estate, we seek Council to take action to retain 
the current configuration of Stern Way as a cul de sac.” 
 
At its meeting on 26 June 2019 Council resolved: 
 
“That Council: 
 
1. Require officers to report back to Council by the August 2019 Ordinary 

Council Meeting with options as to the impacts of permanently leaving 
Stern Way as a cul-de-sac/ no through road together with advice regarding 
what statutory process would be required in order to achieve this.” 
 

Officers have explored the options in relation to permanently leaving Stern 
Way as a no through road and the statutory processes that would be required 
to enable this to happen as outlined in this report. 

 
 It is recommended that Stern Way be delivered as a through road. 
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 Officer Recommendation: 
 

That Council: 
 
1. Retain the design and intent as outlined in the New Gisborne 

Development Plan (2015) and Planning Permit PLN2015/342 allowing 
the 143 Lot Subdivision of 28 Ferrier Road Development and for 
Stern Way to be delivered as a through road; and  
 

2. Write to all residents within Stern Way to inform them of Council’s 
decision. 
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Background 
 
The New Gisborne Development Plan (2012) was adopted by Council on 26 
March 2014. The 2012 version of the New Gisborne Development Plan was 
superseded by Victorian Civil and Administrative Tribunal (VCAT) on the 23 
December 2015 (Cathlaw Pty. Ltd. VS Macedon Ranges S.C. VCAT Ref 
1628/2015). The current version of the New Gisborne Development Plan 
(2015) is based on this VCAT decision. 
 
Both the 2012 and 2015 versions of the New Gisborne Development Plan 
contained the road and transport principles of:  

 Providing convenient internal and external access / linkages within and 
between neighbourhoods and key destinations.  

 Retain the potential for a north-south connector road west of Station Road 
to alleviate traffic congestion on Station Road.  

 Allow for the future provision of public transport, including accommodating 
bus movements and bus stop facilities at strategic locations.  

 Provide attractive, convenient, safe and legible pedestrian and bicycle 
networks.  

 Provide for wide road verge widths to allow for landscaping, footpaths and 
create the overall appearance of openness and a landscaped setting for 
new development  

 Consideration of possible future urban development of land adjoining to 
the west.  

 
Planning Permit PLN2015/342 was approved as generally in accordance with 
the Development Plan on 15 July 2016. The Planning Permit allows for a 143 
lot subdivision at the land known as 28 Ferrier Road New Gisborne. As part of 
the Planning Permit application a traffic and transport assessment was 
completed to support the expected road network.  
 
Plans for the approved subdivision under permit PLN2015/342 were endorsed 
by Council in May 2017 which show the subdivision to be delivered across five 
stages. Works have substantially commenced in relation to Stages 1 and 2 of 
the subdivision. The connection to Stern Way does not form part of the current 
works although it does include a significant section of the main north south 
connector road that will ultimately connect to Stern Way. 
 

 New Gisborne Development Plan (2015) 
 
 The Development Plan is intended to guide development over a 5-15 year 

period. Currently only a small portion of the area covered by the Development 
Plan has been developed. There are planning permits in place for various 
sites within the Development Plan area including the land between Stern Way 
and the railway line and the adjoining parcel of land at 28 Ferrier Road, New 
Gisborne. 
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 The existing properties along Stern Way were not subject to the Development 

Plan and either existed before the Development Plan was approved or shortly 
after its approval. The balance of the land along Stern Way is currently being 
developed for housing or will be in the future. Similarly the land to the west of 
Stern Way is currently being developed. 

 
 The Development Plan identifies Stern Way as a through road which forms 

part of a grid street network which is designed to create a permeable transport 
network and allow an efficient subdivision layout. Stern Way forms part of a 
hierarchy of roads identified within the Development Plan and is one of two 
east west roads that connect Station Road to the new north south road and 
ultimately to Ferrier Road. 

 
 Both approved developments bound by Stern Way and the railway line and 

the land directly to the west are designed on the basis of the road hierarchy 
and function outlined in the Development Plan. Any decision to change the 
role and function of Stern Way will impact the broader road network and 
reduce the options available for vehicle movement from Station Road through 
to the new north south connector road and Ferrier Road. This would likely 
result in increased traffic movements on Hurst Drive and the northern end of 
the new north south road.  

 
 To change the role and function of Stern Way to a no through road, the 

current Development Plan would need to be amended. Council has the 
statutory authority to amend the Development Plan but would be required to 
publicly exhibit the amended development plan for a minimum of two weeks 
and consider any submissions received.  

  
 Planning Permit PLN2015/342 
 
 As described above, Planning Permit PLN2015/342 was approved as 

generally in accordance with the New Gisborne Development Plan (2015) on 
15 July 2016. The Planning Permit allows for a 143 lot subdivision at 28 
Ferrier Road New Gisborne. 

 
 The approved subdivision includes five stages. Stages 1 and 2 are currently 

under construction. Stage 5 of the subdivision includes the Stern Way linkage. 
Currently under the permit the developer must provide the road link to Stern 
Way. Council cannot legally under the existing permit require the link to Stern 
Way to not be delivered. 

 
 Amending the development plan would not impact the validity of planning 

permit PLN2015/342. The developer could regardless of the development 
plan continue to develop under the conditions of the planning permit. Unlike 
the development plan, Council has no statutory authority to amend Planning 
Permit PLN2015/342 or the associated endorsed plans. Only the 
applicant/permit holder or VCAT can amend an existing planning permit. 
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Council could engage with the permit holder and request they submit an 
application to amend their existing permit and endorsed plans to enable Stern 
Way to no longer be shown as a through road. Council could only proceed to 
amend the permit following amendment of the Development Plan.. The 
owner/developer of 28 Ferrier Rd, New Gisborne has indicated to Council 
officers that they wish to retain Stern Way as a through road. 

 
 If the permit holder does not agree to amend their permit then the only 

available mechanism to maintain Stern Way as a no through road would be 
for Council to seek to amend the permit via VCAT under section 87(3)(a) of 
the Planning and Environment Act, 1987 (the Act). Section 87 enables various 
parties to seek to cancel or amend planning permits under certain 
circumstances including Council as the responsible authority. 

 
 There are a number of limitations to VCAT’s ability to amend a permit under 

section 87. One of the limitations is a permit cannot be cancelled or amended 
in relation to a subdivision after the plan of subdivision is registered under the 
Subdivisions Act, 1988. This is not currently a limitation in relation to 
PLN2015/342 but could be a barrier in the future. 

 
 Section 94 of the Act sets out provisions relating to rights to compensation 

where a request is made to cancel or amend a permit and where a permit is 
cancelled or amended under the provisions of the Act. Any request made to 
the VCAT by Council would need to be cognisant of these provisions. 

 
 Options for Stern Way 
 
 There are various options available to Council in regards to the consideration 

of whether Stern Way continues to be delivered in accordance with the 
approved Development Plan and Permit PLN2015/342 or is modified to 
enable it to be a no through road. 

 
 Option 1 – No Change 
 
 Retaining Stern Way as a though road would be consistent with and align with 

the intent of the Development Plan and planning permit PLN2015/342. It is 
considered this provides the optimal road network for both existing and future 
residents. 

 
 This option would not address the concerns of those residents who are 

advocating to revert Stern Way to a no through road. 
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 Option 2 – Amend the Development Plan and the voluntary amendment of 

PLN2015/342 by the Permit Holder 
 
 This option relies on Council amending the Development Plan and then the 

permit holder voluntarily agreeing to amend planning permit PLN2015/342. 
This represents the simplest administrative pathway to retain Stern Way as a 
no through road. 

 
 
 Option 3 – Amend the Development Plan and lodge a request to amend 

Permit PLN2015/342 at VCAT 
 
 This option requires Council to amend the development plan and then seek to 

amend the planning permit through VCAT. There is significant uncertainty as 
to whether Council would be successful in seeking to amend the permit at 
VCAT. Officers have not sought legal advice in regards to this option but it is  
recommended that legal advice be sought before proceeding this way 
particularly given the potential exposure to compensation from the permit 
holder.  

   
 

Financial and Resource Implications 
 
There are various financial and resource implications dependent on the option 
that Council resolves to pursue. 
 
Option 1: Stern way remains a through road 
 
No financial or resource implications 
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Option 2: Development Plan amended and permit holder of PLN2015/342 
agrees to request an amendment to permit 
 
Approximate Costs: 
 
Development Plan  
 
Development Plan Update       $2000 
(Graphic Design & Editing) 
 
Notification Process        $500 
(Approximately 100 letters, preparation, processing and postage) 
 
Responding to submissions/Council Report    
 $1500 
(Staff Time @10 hours) 
 
Sub Total          $4000 
 
Amend Planning Permit  
 
Secondary Consent Fee       $261 
(Permit Holder Cost) 
 
Revise plans and associated documents     $1000-
(Permit Holder Cost)       
 $2000 
 
 
Officer time 
(@5 Hours)         $750 
 
Sub Total         $750* 

 
Total           $4750* 
*$1261-$2261 permit holder cost not included 
 
 
Approximate Timeframe:  
 
6-9 months 
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Option 3: Development Plan amended and Council requests to amend permit 
through VCAT 
 
Approximate Costs 
 
Development Plan 
 
As per above         $4000 
 
Amend Planning Permit 
 
VCAT application fee       
 $1244 
 
Council Legal Representation      
 $3000 
 
Officer Time         $2250 
(@15 hours)  
 
Sub Total         $6494* 
 
 
Total          $10,494* 
 
*Under section 94 of the Act there are specific provisions in relation to rights 
to compensation associated with the process to amend a planning permit 
through VCAT. Regardless of whether Council is successful in having the 
permit amended through VCAT it could potentially be exposed to a 
compensation claim by the permit holder. The extent of any potential claim is 
difficult to quantify at this time. 
 

 Estimated Timeframe 
 
 12-18 months  

(Subject to VCAT hearing dates) 
 
Conclusion 
 
 
The development plan incorporates a range of principles to guide 
development including specific ones related to road and transport. Stern Way 
as depicted in the development plan aligns with these principles by ensuring a 
permeable transport network. The road hierarchy depicted in the development 
plan and reflected in the approved planning permit PLN2015/342 is based on 
Stern Way providing as a second connection between Station Road and the 
new north south connector road that connects into Ferrier Road. 
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Removing the connection through Stern Way will reduce the permeability of 
the transport network and would likely result in additional traffic using Hurst 
Road and the northern end of the new north south connector. Reduced traffic 
levels in Stern Way may benefit existing and future residents along Stern Way 
but it is would likely be at the detriment of future and existing residents in 
other streets as well to the broader community by reducing the road network 
permeability. 
 
It is also noted that unless the permit holder of PLN2015/342 agrees to amend 
their permit the pathway for Council to designate Stern Way as a no through 
road under the development plan and planning permit would be subject to a 
process through VCAT. There is significant uncertainty and risk to Council of 
pursuing such a process. 
 
For the above reasons it is recommended that Stern Way retains its role as a 
future through road. 



Ordinary Council Meeting – Wednesday, 28 August 2019 

 

Page 68 

10. PE.5  PROPOSED CHANGES TO FLOOD MAPPING IN KYNETON –  
REQUEST TO PROCEED WITH A PLANNING SCHEME 
AMENDMENT 

 
 Officer: Leanne Khan, Coordinator Strategic Planning 
 
 File Ref: F5359 
 
 Council Plan Relationship: Relates to priority area: 

Protect the natural environment 
 

  Attachment:  Flood map  

 

Synopsis: 
 
A review of flood mapping was recently undertaken by North Central 
Catchment Management Authority (NCCMA) in conjunction with Macedon 
Ranges Shire Council (MRSC) who are responsible for determining the 
potential inundation of land from river and creeks within the region. The 
purpose of the flooding study was to ensure that the flooding provisions for 
Kyneton accurately reflect flooding risk. This is measured as a 1 in 100 year 
event and provided as the Land Subject to Inundation Overlay (LSIO) in the 
Macedon Ranges Planning Scheme. 
 
At the Ordinary Council Meeting of the 26 June 2019, Council resolved: 
That Council authorise Council officers in partnership with North Central 
Catchment Management Authority, to undertake consultation with affected 
landowners and occupiers in Kyneton to inform them of the intended changes 
to flood mapping on the Campaspe River corridor. The consultation will be a 
minimum of four weeks and will comprise letters sent directly to landowners 
and occupiers and at least one information session. 
 
Since then Council officers have: 

 written to property owners and tenants impacted by the mapping changes 
to invite them to a community information session and to provide them with 
background information; and 

 held a community drop in meeting to inform land owners and to answer any 
queries; 

 
Four weeks were set aside for community feedback to allow for adequate 
community engagement and to follow up on any outstanding matters. 

 
In summary, the community engagement provided the following community 
insights: 

 the need to provide up to date flood mapping and that this should be 
reflected in the planning scheme; 

 interest to understand if the updates affected their land holdings; and  

 an understanding of the need for a planning scheme amendment to update 
the mapping in the Macedon Ranges Planning Scheme. 
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Council must now consider moving forward with the flood mapping updates as 
a local planning scheme amendment.   

 
 

Officer Recommendation: 
 

That Council: 

 
1. Endorse that the amendment proceed as a local amendment to the 

Macedon Ranges Planning Scheme; 
 

2. Note the findings from the community consultation and thank the 
community for their participation; and 

 
3. Request authorisation from the Minister for Planning and prepare 

draft amendment documents for the purposes of proceeding to a 
formal exhibition of the amendment.  
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Background 
In the last 18 months, NCCMA has worked with MRSC to review of flood 
mapping in Kyneton. The work has been undertaken alongside other Shires in 
the NCCMA region including Central Goldfields Shire Council and Loddon 
Shire Council. The Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning 
(DELWP) is also supporting the process.  
 
In the Kyneton area, the updated flood mapping affects approximately 124 
owners across 276 properties.  For Kyneton, the updated mapping 
recommends minor changes to the LSIO for Kyneton only within the Macedon 
Ranges Planning Scheme.   
 
At the Ordinary Council Meeting of 26 June 2019, Council resolved: 
That Council authorise Council officers in partnership with North Central 
Catchment Management Authority, to undertake consultation with affected 
landowners and occupiers in Kyneton to inform them of the intended changes 
to flood mapping on the Campaspe River corridor. The consultation will be a 
minimum of four weeks and will comprise letters sent directly to landowners 
and occupiers and at least one information session. 
 
Community engagement 
Community engagement with affected land owners and occupiers 
commenced in the first week of July 2019 for a period of four weeks.   
 
Community engagement approach 
Community engagement has encompassed the following: 
 
Table 1: Community engagement approach  
Notification type  Comment 

Direct mail notification to land 
owners and tenants  

A letter was mailed to land owners and occupiers 
advising of the updated mapping and inviting the 
community to the community drop-in meeting. The letter 
included updated technical advice and a map. 

Community drop-in meeting  Held on Tuesday 23 July 2019 at 6.30pm at the 
Kyneton Mechanics Institute Hall, 81 Mollison Street, 
Kyneton. NCCMA made a detailed presentation, 
provided comprehensive technical information and were 
available to answer questions. Council officers were 
also in attendance. 

Council’s web site Provides a flood zone map, FAQ fact sheet, contact 
details for Council officers and NCCMA officers 

NCCMA website Provides the Kyneton Flood Study Report, flood zone 
map, FAQ fact sheet, contact details for Council officers 
and NCCMA officers. 
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Community engagement outcomes 
 
The community engagement process identified the following community 
concerns: 

 how the new overlay will impact on a property owner’s right to build; 

 the status of future works to remove willows, blackberries and other 
weeds and the potential impact to bank stability 

 confirmation of whether flood mapping changes were proposed on an 
individual’s land; and 

 the status of flood mapping updates elsewhere in the shire. 
 

Key Issues  
Since early 2019, Council has worked successfully in partnership with 
NCCMA to engage with affected Kyneton land owners and tenants regarding 
the changes to the LSIO. The funding provided to the NCCMA from DELWP 
has enabled it to undertake a suite of flood mapping updates for Councils 
within its region including Macedon Ranges. 
 

Table 2: Key issues identified during the engagement process 
Issue/ comment Council officer / NCCMA response 

Current flood extents are 
outdated and inaccurate 

A comprehensive flood study has never been 
undertaken for Kyneton and the existing flood extents 
were estimated more than 20 years ago based on 
geological mapping.  This kind of mapping is no longer 
best practice and is considered to have a very low or 
uncertain reliability. 

The proposed flood extents 
are more accurate and 
robust 

Flooding extents have been determined in accordance 
with industry best practice using calibrated computer-
based flood models with much more accurate 
information. The models used recent flood events to 
recreate catchment conditions and determine 
standardised flood events e.g. the 1 in 100 year flood 
event. The 1 in 100 year flood event may not have been 
witnessed in living memory but is the standard adopted 
for planning schemes. 

A Planning scheme 
amendment will be required 

Council and NCCMA intend to update the LSIO within 
the Macedon Ranges Planning Scheme. The existing 
overlay is based on old information and needs to be 
updated to reflect the new, more accurate flood study 
information. 

The Land Subject to 
Inundation Overlay (LSIO) 

The LSIO identifies land affected by the 1 in 100 year 
flood event and where proposed land use and 
development needs to consider flood risk. There may 
be conditions or design requirements on new 
development. Some minor developments may be 
exempt from requiring a permit (e.g. small sheds, 
agricultural buildings, minor extensions). 
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Timeframe The intention is to  exhibit an amendment in late 2019 
for public comment. Owners and occupiers can make 
written submissions either supporting the amendment 
or requesting changes. An independent panel may be 
convened to review submissions and provide advice on 
the amendment. 

 
 

Policy and Statutory Context  
The obligation to ensure that the planning scheme provides up to date flood 
mapping is reflected in the following policy and statutory domains:  
 
Table 3: Policy and statutory domains  
Policy/statutory  domain Key messages 

Council Plan 2017-2027 
Priority 2: Protect the natural 
environment 

Increase awareness and action for responsible and 
sustainable land management practices across the 
shire, aiming to improve the health of land and 
waterways 

Macedon Ranges Planning 
Scheme.  
Clause 13.03-1S: Floodplain 
management 

Identify land affected by flooding such as the 1 in 100 
year flood plain. Avoid intensification of land use and 
development in these areas. 

Planning and Environment 
Act 1987 
Section 6(2)(e)  

Enables planning schemes to ‘regulate or prohibit any 
use or development in hazardous areas, or areas likely 
to become hazardous’. 
Requires that flood risk flood risk be considered in the 
preparation of planning schemes and in land use 
decisions. 
 

PART 3AAB 
Distinctive areas and 
landscapes  
Section 46AZL  

That Council should use best practice measures to 
protect and conserve the area and undertake 
continuous improvement to enhance the conservation 
of the area. 

Statement of Planning Policy 
Objective 3: To prioritise the 
conservation and use of the 
declared area’s water 
catchments and to ensure a 
sustainable local, regional and 
state water supply and healthy 
environment. 

By updating flood mapping on the Campaspe River 
adequate planning controls can then be put in place to 
ensure the waterway is protected from inappropriate 
development. The LSIO will ensure new works provide 
for the free flow of water and also limit contaminants 
entering the waterway. 
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2016 Macedon Ranges 
Protection Advisory 
Committee report 

The report identified a policy gap in the protection of the 
shire’s water supply and noted that: 

   Catchment management authorities should 
continue to update flood mapping and scoping 
planning scheme amendments; and  

   Ongoing due diligence of development 
applications is required in water catchment areas. 

The proposed updates to flood mapping in Kyneton 
respond to this direction. 
 

Planning Practice Note 12: 
Applying the Flood 
Provisions in Planning 
Schemes 

The LSIO applies to mainstream flooding in both rural 
and urban areas. In general, areas covered by the LSIO 
have a lower flood risk than Urban Flood Zone or 
Floodway Overlay areas. 

The LSIO does not address the cause of flooding in 
Kyneton, but the way future land use and development 
will impact or exacerbate the impact of flooding. 

 
 

Financial and Resource Implications 
 
DELWP (Floodplain Management Team) has provided funding to the NCCMA 
for a period of two years to facilitate flood mapping updates in Macedon 
Ranges and neighbouring Shire Councils.  
 
The funds are being used to provide a dedicated officer to progress mapping 
updates, to assist with enquiries and to attend the community drop in meeting 
held at Kyneton.  
Whilst Council will be required to cover the costs associated with the public 
exhibition and panel costs, NCCMA funds will provide for an expert witness to 
appear before the panel if required. 
 
It is anticipated that Council’s costs can be met through Council’s 2019-2020 
strategic planning budget. 
 
Flooding Risk 
 
By updating the Kyneton LSIO in the Macedon Ranges Planning Scheme, 
flooding risk can be addressed through:  

 predicting the extent of overland flooding on planning scheme maps; 

 limit the extent of development in these areas and so reduce potential 
impacts of contamination of waterways and limiting the occurrence of 
flood way obstructions; and 

 keep the development community, building surveyors and planners 
informed. 
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Conclusion 
 
Council, in collaboration with the NCCMA, has engaged with the community 
on the proposed updates to the LSIO maps in the Macedon Ranges planning 
scheme. 
 
Community feedback reflects general community support and an appreciation 
of the need for up-to-date flood mapping to manage planning and building 
outcomes which protect the Shire’s waterways.   
 
Next Steps  
Should Council resolve to proceed with a planning scheme amendment to 
update the LSIO maps in Kyneton, Council will continue to collaborate with 
NCCMA on: 

 technical matters associated with the flood mapping and 

 providing technical advice to the Kyneton community on how the mapping 
changes will impact them.  
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10. PE.6  COUNCIL SUBMISSION TO THE VICTORIAN GOVERNMENT  
REGIONAL TOURISM REVIEW DISCUSSION PAPER 

 
Officer: Sue La Greca, Manager Economic Development & Tourism 

Will Rayner, Co-ordinator Visitor Economy 
 
 File Ref: F1230 
  
 Council Plan Relationship: Relates to priority area: 

Enhance the social and economic 
environment 
 

  Attachments:   
1. Regional Tourism Review 

Discussion Paper, July 2019 
2. Council submission to the 

Review 
3. Map of general area 

 
 
 Synopsis: 
 

The Victorian State Government, through the Department of Jobs, Precincts 
and Regions, is undertaking a Regional Tourism Review. The purpose of the 
review is to consider alternative models to support tourism in regional Victoria, 
enhance private investment and create more regional jobs. The review will 
assist government to understand how to leverage local strengths, support 
communities and increase visitation.  
 
A discussion paper (attachment 1) has been provided for public consultation. 
The paper poses 21 questions to guide feedback. Local governments, tourism 
organisations, traditional owners, tourism businesses and the general public 
have been encouraged to comment or provide submissions.  
 
This report recommends that Council respond to the Regional Tourism 
Review, as per the submission set out in attachment 2. 

 
 
 Officer Recommendation: 
 

That Council endorse the attached submission to the Regional Tourism 
Review.  
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1. Background: 
  

 The State Government is looking to find new ways to grow tourism and 
support regional Victoria, through a review of regional tourism. The review 
process has been to develop a discussion paper and use this for consultation 
with the broad community including local government. 
 
The key themes of the review are: 

 Strengthening the tourism offer 

 Making the most of marketing spend 

 Supporting industry 

 Enhancing Regional Tourism Boards 

 Better coordinating effort 
 
 

2. Consultation: 
 

The State Government is undertaking two forms of consultation 
 

 Online consultation from 26 July 2019 to 30 August 2019 (through the 
website engage.vic.gov.au) where the discussion paper was promoted 
and relevant questions provided to guide feedback. Respondents are 
able to reply to specific questions and/or make full written submissions. 

 Thirteen workshops are being held across the state over the period 
from 26 July 2019 to 6 September 2019. Council was represented at a 
number of these workshops. 

 
 

3. Discussion: 
 

Council’s submission is based on consultation with Councillors, consultation 
undertaken as part of the Visitor Economy Strategy 2017-2027, discussions 
with tourism operators and discussions held at the State Government 
workshops. Council’s full submission is provided as attachment 2. Table one 
below provides a summary of key themes outlined in the submission. 



Ordinary Council Meeting – Wednesday, 28 August 2019 

 

Page 77 

10. PE.6  COUNCIL SUBMISSION TO THE VICTORIAN GOVERNMENT  
REGIONAL TOURISM REVIEW DISCUSSION PAPER 
(Continued) 

 
Table One:  Summary of Key Themes 
 

Theme Summary 

Strengthening the tourism offer The tourism offer in Macedon Ranges can be 
strengthened through developing 
partnerships with traditional owner groups 
and increasing awareness and education of 
Aboriginal culture to enhance the tourism 
experiences at Hanging Rock, Mount William 
and other places of Aboriginal significance. 
Further work with industry to encourage 
investment in the tourism offer, extended 
stays and boutique accommodation in 
secluded natural surroundings.  

Making the most of marketing 
spend 

Marketing spend needs to be on a 
collaborative basis between Visit Victoria, the 
Regional Tourism Board and local 
government to market co-ordinated tourism 
plans. 

Supporting Industry Industry support can be provided by all levels 
of government, through reviewing the 
regulatory environment to enable innovative 
tourism opportunities. Facilitation of farm 
gate sales, winery trails, flower farm trails 
and other cross sector experiences. 

Enhancing Regional Tourism 
Boards 

Regional Tourism Boards can be enhanced 
through sustainable funding, geographical 
boundaries that align with a marketing brand 
and board structures that are both skills 
based and representative of industry sectors 
and local governments. 

Better Coordinating Effort Improved co-ordination and collaboration 
between Visit Victoria, Regional Tourism 
Boards and local government is needed to 
establish tourism priorities, destination 
management plans, marketing plans and 
budgets. 
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4.  Policy Context 

 
The submission is consistent with the following key documents: 

 
Table 2:  Policy Context 

 

Policy Provisions 

Council Plan 2017-2027 Priority area 4 – Enhance the social and economic 
environment 
Priority area 1 – Promote health and wellbeing 
Priority area 2 – Protect the natural environment 
Priority area 3 – Improve the built environment 

Statement of Planning Policy Objective 1 - to ensure the declared area’s natural 
and cultural landscapes are conserved and 
enhanced. 
Objective 2 – to ensure the significant biodiversity, 
ecological and environmental values of the 
declared area are conserved and enhanced. 
Objective 3 – to prioritise the conservation and use 
of the declared area’s water catchments to ensure 
a sustainable local, regional and state water 
supply, and healthy environment. 
Objective 4 – to encourage, protect, conserve and 
enhance the declared area’s Aboriginal cultural 
and spiritual heritage values and work in 
partnership with Traditional owners in caring for 
Country. 
Objective 5 – To recognise, conserve and 
enhance the declared area’s significant post-
contact cultural heritage values. 
Objective 6 – To support and encourage 
agricultural land uses that strengthen the declared 
area’s economy and contribute to the rural 
landscape. 
Objective 7 – To provide for a diverse and 
sustainable visitor economy compatible with the 
natural and cultural values of the area. 
Objective 8 – To plan and manage growth of 
settlements in the declared area consistent with 
protection of the area’s significant landscapes, 
protection of catchments, biodiversity, ecological 
and environmental values, and consistent with the 
unique character, role and function of each 
settlement. 
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 Objective 9 – To manage the provision of 
infrastructure consistent with protection of the 
area’s significant landscapes and protection of 
environmental values to support the social and 
economic needs of communities and increase the 
resilience to climate change effects. 
Objective 10 – Respond to the challenges and 
threats of climate change and natural hazards 
with careful planning and mitigation strategies. 

Visitor Economy Strategy 
2017-2027 

Vision that the Macedon Ranges will be a 
favoured destination for escape and rejuvenation 
that is highly regarded for its quality nature-based 
attractions, artisan products, makers’ culture and 
authentic experiences. 

 
 

5. Financial and Resource Implications 
 

There are no associated financial or resource implications in making a 
submission to the Regional Tourism Review. 
 
 
6. Risk 

 
There are no associated risks in making a submission to the Regional 
Tourism Review. 

 
 

7. Conclusion 
 

The attached submission to the Victorian Government Review of Regional 
Tourism has been developed with reference to the Statement of Planning 
Policy, the Council Plan, and the Visitor Economy Strategy 2019-2029. It aims 
to provide feedback to the State Government that will encourage an approach 
to tourism that is one of collaboration and coordination between all 
stakeholders, State Government, Visit Victoria, Regional Tourism Boards, 
Local Government and tourism operators and that balances sustainable 
tourism with the protection of environmental assets.  
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11. CX.1  DAYLESFORD MACEDON TOURISM UPDATE 
 
 Officer: Margot Stork, Chief Executive Officer 
 
 File Ref: F1225 
 
 Council Plan Relationship: Relates to priority area: 

Deliver strong and reliable 
government 
 

 Synopsis: 
 

Since 2011 Macedon Ranges Shire Council (MRSC) has had a relationship 
with the Daylesford Macedon Ranges Regional Tourism Inc which recently 
became Daylesford Macedon Tourism (DMT).  
 
Matters relating to MRSC’s relationship with DMT came to a confidential 
meeting of Council on 27 March 2019. 
 
A number of matters have arisen since 27 March 2019 that may impact 
outcomes sought by MRSC. 

 
 
 Officer Recommendation: 
 

That as this report concerns matters which Council considers would 
prejudice the Council or a person, then pursuant to Section 89 (2) (h) of 
the Local Government Act 1989, it be considered by Council together 
with any other confidential matters at the conclusion of that part of this 
meeting open to the public. 
 
 

Option: 
In the event that all Councillors are satisfied with the recommendation for this 
item as contained in the confidential section of this notice paper and without 
questions and debate, Council may resolve to adopt the recommendation as 
contained in the confidential section in the open meeting at any time.  The 
Minute Secretary will then formally read out this resolution.  The Council 
resolution will then immediately become public information but the confidential 
report will remain confidential. 
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12. CS.1  CONTRACTS TO BE AWARDED AS AT 28 AUGUST 2019 
 
 Officer: Corinne Farley, Contracts Coordinator 
 
 Council Plan Relationship: Relates to priority area: 

Deliver strong and reliable 
government 

 
 
 Synopsis: 
 

The following report indicates whether or not delegated authority to award the 
contract exists. It also presents Council with the opportunity to (a) specifically 
grant delegated authority to the Chief Executive Officer and/or (b) specifically 
review delegated authority in any instance where Council deems it 
appropriate.  
 
 
Officer Recommendation: 
 
That Council notes that the following contract will be awarded by 
Council officers under delegated authority:  

 C20.1031 Riddells Creek Tennis Court Construction 
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12. CS.1  CONTRACTS TO BE AWARDED AS AT 28 AUGUST 2019 
(Continued) 

 
Background Information  
Council’s delegated authority to its officers to award a contract is controlled by 
the financial value of the contract. The various financial limits of the authority 
are specified in Appendix 1 of the Procurement Policy.  

 
Opportunity to review delegated authority   
This report provides Council with a brief summary of a proposed contract, 
which is being advertised and also indicates whether or not delegated 
authority to award the contract exists.  

 
C20.1031 Riddells Creek tennis court construction  
This contract is for the construction of two (2) new tennis courts at the 
Riddells Creek Tennis Centre.  The tender process includes an option for a 
third court to be constructed subject to available budget.  
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12.  CS.2  SMALL PROJECT GRANTS – CONSIDERATION OF GRANT 
APPLICATION  

 
 Officer: Rebecca Ashcroft, Governance Officer 
    
 File Ref: F737 
   

 Council Plan Relationship: Relates to priority area: 

Deliver strong and reliable 
government  

  
 
 Synopsis: 
 

The Small Project Grants program supports projects and initiatives that: 

 support local needs 

 are unlikely to be funded by other Council funding programs 

 align with Council Plan priorities. 
 
Council’s Small Project Grants budget for 2019/20 is $30,000 and not-for-
profit groups can apply for a maximum of $1,500 per application. Applications 
are assessed against set criteria outlined in the Small Project Grants 
guidelines. Funding recommendations are presented monthly at an Ordinary 
Council Meeting for review and/or approval. 
 
This report details the process of evaluation and lists the applications received 
since the previous meeting. 
 
One application has been received seeking $1,500 in funding. The application 
has been evaluated against eligibility criteria and the officer assessment is 
summarised within this report. 

 
 
 Officer Recommendation: 
 
 That Council approves the following application: 

 Romsey Cricket Club: $1,500 for Girls Cricket Program 
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12. CS.2  SMALL PROJECT GRANTS – CONSIDERATION OF GRANT   

APPLICATION (Continued) 
 
Background 
The Small Project Grants program is one of a number of funding opportunities 
that Council provides to the community. The aim of this program is to support 
initiatives that: 

 support local needs 

 support community projects that are unlikely to be funded by other Council 
funding programs 

 align with Council Plan priorities. 
 

The small grant program, unlike other funding schemes, is open for 
applications year round, except during the caretaker period leading up to a 
Council election. 
 
Eligibility criteria 
The Small Project Grants program enables incorporated, community-based 
not-for-profit groups operating or being established within the shire the 
opportunity to submit one application per year for funding. The program is also 
available to non-government and government schools for projects that are 
outside of the accepted responsibilities of the school and Victorian 
Government.  
 
The Small Project Grants guidelines (guidelines), available on Council’s 
website, outline the eligibility requirements of applicants and provide guidance 
on the projects or activities that will/will not be funded through the program. 
 
Assessment 
Eligible applications are assessed on the responses provided in the online 
application form, however eligibility does not guarantee funding. 
 
The assessment criteria and scoring matrix are outlined in the guidelines to 
assist applicants with the preparation of their applications. Applications are 
assessed according to six main criteria. A summary of the assessment criteria 
is detailed below. 
 

Score Criteria What to include 

Pass/Fail Demonstrating 
eligibility 

Compliance with section 6 of the 
guidelines 

20% Describing your project  A brief description of the project aim 

10% Unlikely to be funded 
by other funding 
programs 

The project timing/scale/amount of 
funding sought is not compatible with 
other funding programs 
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12. CS.2  SMALL PROJECT GRANTS – CONSIDERATION OF GRANT   
APPLICATION (Continued) 

 

Score Criteria What to include 

30% Demonstrating 
community need and 
benefit 

Why the group needs to do the 
project 
How will the community benefit from 
the project/activity 

20% Supporting Council 
Plan priorities 

Promotes or contribute to the 
achievement of one or more Council 
Plan priorities 

20% Demonstrating good 
project planning 

The project group practices good 
governance, considers risks, 
complies with regulations or similar 
and is appropriately budgeted. 

 
All applications will be assessed and scored according to the scoring matrix. 
Where an application is not eligible, the assessed score will be withheld from 
the applications assessments. Application summaries and funding 
recommendations will be presented to Council at an Ordinary Meeting for 
review and/or approval. 
 
Financial commitments 
Council’s Small Project Grants budget for 2019/20 is $30,000. Grants of up to 
$1,500 are available for eligible projects. 
 
As at the preparation of this report no funds have been committed to Small 
Project Grants in 2019/20. This leaves $30,000 remaining for allocation in the 
2019/20 financial year, prior to review of the application contained within this 
report. 
 
Projects and/or activities must be completed within twelve months of receiving 
funding and funds must be expended only on the project described in the 
application. 
 
Successful applicants are required to submit an acquittal report on grant 
monies at the completion of the project. Applicants who fail to submit an 
acquittal will be ineligible to apply for future funding until the acquittal is 
received and approved. 
 
Any unspent funds on a project/activity are to be returned to Council. 
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12. CS.2  SMALL PROJECT GRANTS – CONSIDERATION OF GRANT 
APPLICATIONS (Continued) 

 
Application Assessments 

One assessment is presented below for Council review and/or approval: 
 

Applicant: Romsey Cricket Club Inc 

Date received: 15 July 2019 

Project: Girls Cricket Program 

Amount requested: $1,500 

Previous funding received for 
group: 

No 

Eligibility: Eligible 
 

Assessed score: 80% 

Officer comment (adequate 
explanation, completed 
Project planning): 

This application demonstrates good project 
planning and will provide for the establishment of a 
girls-only cricket program on a staged basis 
(commencing with the establishment of two Under-
12 girls teams in 2019/20, and expanding to 
include an Under-16s team in 2020/21 and a full 
female program by 2025).The teams will be based 
in Romsey and will facilitate participants from 
surrounding areas. The application notes there 
has already been commitments from players in 
Lancefield and Monegeetta. This proposal links 
with Councils priorities promoting health and 
wellbeing and enhancing the social and economic 
environment. 

Officer recommendation: To be funded 

Amount recommended: $1,500 
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12. CS.3  QUARTERLY REPORT FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30  
JUNE 2019 

 
 Officer: John Hausler, Director Corporate Service 
 
 Council Plan Relationship: Relates to priority area: 

Deliver strong and reliable 
government 
 

  Attachment:  Quarterly Report 
for period ended 30 June 2019 

 
 Synopsis: 
 

The Quarterly Report for the period ended 30 June 2019 is presented for 
Council’s consideration and information.  This report includes the following: 

 
Section 1 – Quarterly financial statements (including budget carry forwards 

and 2018/19 surplus allocation) 
Section 2 – Capital works progress report 

 Section 3 – Council plan actions – progress report 
 Section 4 – Risk management report   

Section 5 – Implementation of Council resolutions 
Section 6 – Customer service standards responsiveness 
Section 7 – Governance schedule 
Section 8 – Councillor expenditure 
Section 9 – Councillor activities in the community 
 
Performance to 30 June 2019 
The Quarterly Report shows that for the year ended 30 June 2019 income 
was higher than budget mainly due to 2019/20 grants received in advance.  
Operational and capital expenditure were under budget. It is proposed that the 
funding for grant income received in advance and funding for incomplete 
projects be carried forward to 2019/20.  When the budgets to be carried 
forward are taken into account, Council has recorded a budget surplus of 
$1.7m for the year.  It is proposed that the surplus be re-allocated to a number 
of projects outlined on page 11 of the report.  
 
It should also be noted that there are some other costs pressures in regard to 
several other existing unplanned requirements and existing projects where 
revised cost estimates are higher than the allocated budgets. These additional 
requirements will be reported to Council over the next few months, as a result 
it is proposed that not all of the budget surplus be allocated at this stage.  
 
 

 Officer Recommendation: 
 

1. Note the budget carry forwards as listed in Section 1 page 10 (items 
1 to 36) and approve the carrying forward of their remaining budgets 
from 2018/19 to 2019/20; 
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12. CS.3  QUARTERLY REPORT FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE  
2019 (Continued) 

 
2. Note the favourable net budget result of $1.7m; and 
 
3. Approve the allocation of the budget surplus to the projects listed in 

Section 1 page 11 (items 37 to 45).  
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12. CS.4  PERFORMANCE STATEMENT FOR PERIOD 1 JULY 2018  
TO 30 JUNE 2019 

 
 Officer: John Hausler, Director Corporate Services 
 
 File Ref: F2677 & F1655 
  
 Council Plan Relationship: Relates to priority area: 

Deliver strong and reliable 
government 
 

  Attachment:  Performance 
Statement  

 
 
 
 Synopsis: 
 

The Performance Statement has been prepared in accordance with the Local 
Government Act 1989 (the Act) and the Local Government (Finance and 
Reporting) Regulations 2014 (the regulations).  
 
The Performance Statement was reviewed by RSD Audit, agents of the 
Victorian Auditor General’s Office (VAGO) and considered by the Audit 
Committee at its meeting on 14 August 2019. Prior to submitting the 
Performance Statement to VAGO, for review, the Performance Statement 
must be given in principle support by Council. 
 
Once the Performance Statement has been reviewed and approved by 
VAGO, it must be certified in its final form by two councillors, the Chief 
Executive Officer and principal accounting officer. 
 

 
 Officer Recommendation: 
 

That the Performance Statement for the year ended 30 June 2019 be 
approved “in principle” by Council, and that: 
 

a) The two Councillor members of the Audit Committee, Councillor 
Janet Pearce and Councillor Natasha Gayfer, be authorised to 
certify the Performance Statement in its final form, that is, after it 
has been reviewed by the Victorian Auditor General’s Office; and 
 

b) After the Performance Statement has been certified it is submitted 
to the Minister for Local Government and included in the Annual 
Report. 
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12. CS.4  PERFORMANCE STATEMENT FOR PERIOD 1 JULY 2018  
TO 30 JUNE 2019 (Continued) 
 

1. Background 
The Victorian Government introduced a mandatory system of performance 
reporting, the Local Government Performance Reporting Framework (LGPRF) 
in 2014-15.  
 
The LGPRF is designed to:  

 ensure that councils are measuring and reporting on their performance 
in a consistent way 

 promote transparency and accountability in the local government sector 

 facilitate comparisons of performance between similar sized councils 
over a standard set of measures. 

 
The performance measures in the LGPRF are across a range of Council 
service areas and also include financial ratios. The Performance Statement is 
sub set of key indicators in the LGPRF.  The Local Government (Planning and 
Reporting) Regulations 2014 sets out the indicators that must be included in 
the Performance Statement, they are as follows:  
 

Sustainable Capacity Indicators 

 Population 

 Own-source revenue 

 Recurrent grants 

 Disadvantage (relative socio-economic) 
 

Service Performance Indicators 

 Aquatic facilities 

 Animal management 

 Food safety 

 Governance 

 Libraries 

 Maternal and child health 

 Roads 

 Statutory planning 

 Waste collection 
 

Financial Performance Indicators 
 
Efficiency 

 Revenue level 

 Expenditure level 

 Workforce turnover 
 
  Liquidity 

 Working capital 

 Unrestricted cash 
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12. CS.4  PERFORMANCE STATEMENT FOR PERIOD 1 JULY 2018  
TO 30 JUNE 2019 (Continued) 

    
  Obligations 

 Asset renewal 

 Loans and borrowings 

 Indebtedness 
 

  Operating position 

 Adjusted underlying result 
 
  Stability 

 Rates concentration 

 Rates effort 
 

Definitions of how these indicators are calculated are included in the 
Performance Statement.  
 
The annual Performance Statement is reviewed by the Victorian Auditor-
General’s Office.   
 
2. Performance Statement 2018/19 
The Performance Statement for the 2018–19 financial year is attached to the 
agenda. Overall the indicators are consistent with prior years. 
 
Specifically, there have been some large movements in a number of the debt 
related financial ratios for 2018-19 due to a scheduled large debt repayment 
due in 2019/20.  In 2014 Council borrowed $4.1m via the Local Government 
Funding Vehicle.  These borrowings are interest only, whereby the principal 
on these borrowings is not payable until the end of the term of the “loan”.  The 
term ends in 2019 and Council will repay this loan in full.  In 2018/19 the 
repayment is included as a current liability which has made the balance 
abnormally high resulting in lower working capital and unrestricted cash ratios.  
In 2019/20 the debt will be repaid which will result in a higher loan repayment 
compared to rates ratio. 

 
3. Approval “in principle” and Certification of the Performance. 
This report recommends that the Performance Statement for the year ended 
30 June 2019 be approved “in principle”. 
 
The Local Government Act requires Council to authorise two Councillors to 
certify the Statements in their final form after they have been reviewed by the 
Victorian Auditor-General’s Office.   
 
Therefore, it is recommended that Councillor Janet Pearce and Councillor 
Natasha Gayfer, as Council’s delegates on the Audit Committee, be 
authorised to certify the Statements. 
 
The statements will also be certified by the Chief Executive Officer and the 
Principal Accounting Officer. 
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12. CS.5  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE  
2019 

 
 Officer: Leon den Dryver, Manager Finance 
 
 File Ref: F2394-005 
  
 Council Plan Relationship: Relates to priority area: 

Deliver strong and reliable 
government 
 

  Attachment:  Financial 

Statements  
 
  

Synopsis: 
 

The annual financial statements (the statements) for the year ended 30 June 
2019 are attached for Council’s consideration and “in principle” approval.  
 
The statements are prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards, the Local Government Act and the Local Government (Finance 
and Reporting) Regulations 2014. They are then audited by the Victorian 
Auditor-General’s Office agents, RSD Audit and finally they are reviewed and 
approved by the Victorian Auditor General’s Office. 
 
Council’s Audit Committee considered the financial statements at its meeting 
on 14 August 2019.  
 
Prior to RSD Audit submitting the statements to the Victorian Auditor-
General’s Office for final approval, the Local Government Act requires Council 
to pass a resolution giving its approval in principle. 
 
 

 Officer Recommendation: 
 

1. That the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2019 be 
approved “in principle” by Council; 

 
2. That Council’s delegates to the Audit Committee, Cr Pearce and Cr 

Gayfer, be authorised to certify the statements in their final form, 
that is, after they have been reviewed by the Victorian Auditor-
General’s Office; and 

 
3. That, once the statements have been certified in their final form the 

statements be submitted to the Minister and included in the Annual 
Report.  
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12. CS.5  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE  
2019 (Continued) 

 
1. Introduction 

 
The financial statements were prepared in accordance with the Local 
Government regulations and they have been reviewed by the Victorian 
Auditor General Office agents, RSD Audit.  Prior to RSD Audit submitting the 
Statements to the Victorian Auditor-General’s Office for final approval, the 
Local Government Act requires Council to pass a resolution giving its 
approval in principle. 

 
Overall Council’s financial position continues to remain sound.   

 Underlying income is increasing and the movement in our operating 
expenses continues to be at modest levels.   

 Capital works expenditure for the year was $22.61m which is the 
highest level of capital works expenditure recorded by the Council.  
However, there are a number of projects originally planned for 2018/19 
that were in progress at the end of the financial year which will now be 
completed in 2019/20. 

 Council has a strong liquidity position.  

 Council borrowings have decreased and they remain at an affordable 
level. A large debt repayment is scheduled in 2019/20.   

 
Detailed explanations of the statements are contained within the notes that 
form part of the Statements.  

 
2. Financial Statements  

 
The Financial Statements include a comparison between the 2018/19 
financial year and the 2017/18 financial year.  

 
The Financial Statements comprise the: 

 Comprehensive Income Statement 

 Balance Sheet 

 Statement of Changes in Equity 

 Statement of Cash flows 

 Statement of Capital Works 

 Notes to the Financial Statements.   
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12. CS.5  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE  
2019 (Continued) 

 
2.1 Comprehensive Income Statement  

 
The Comprehensive Income Statement shows Council’s revenue and 
expenses for the year plus other comprehensive income.  

 
The statement does not include the cost of asset purchases, loan repayments 
or reserve funds.  It does however include the depreciation of asset values as 
an expense. Below is a summary of the Comprehensive Income Statement.  

 
        2018/19  2017/18 
                          

Revenue     (1)     $91.47m  $86.57m 
Less  
Expenses    (2)      $73.71m  $70.50m 

   
Net Operating Surplus    $17.75m  $16.07m 

 
Other Comprehensive Income (3)                   $ 54.87m  $ 14.88m 

 
Comprehensive Result     $ 72.62m  $ 30.95m

  
 

Explanations of some of the key changes between 2018/19 and 2017/18 in 
the components of the Comprehensive Income Statements are as follows:  

 
(1) Total income increased by $4.90m 

 
Some of the key movements between the income categories were:  

 Rates and charges increased by $2.66m.  
The higher income was due to a 2.25% increase in rates per property (in 
line with the rate cap), higher waste charges due to increased recycling 
costs and an increase of in the number of rateable properties over the 
year.   

 Operating grants increased by $1.29m. 

Operating grants are higher than last financial year due to the State 
Government reimbursing Council for costs incurred in relation to natural 
disaster events that occurred in previous financial years ($1.10m).  

 Contributions of non-monetary assets increased by $1.27m. 

Non-monetary asset income generally relates to the transfer of 
infrastructure (such as roads and footpaths) by developers to Council 
following completion of subdivisions.  These assets become the property 
of Council and hence increase Council’s asset levels.  The value of the 
assets is recorded as income when the transfer of ownership takes place. 
The total value of assets transferred varies considerably from year to year 
depending on the level of development in the Shire and subsequent 
transfer of infrastructure to Council. 
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12. CS.5  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE  
2019 (Continued) 

 
The following graph provides a breakdown of income sources for 2018/19:  

           

 
 

(2) Total expenses increased by $3.21m 
 

Some of the key movements between the expense categories were:  
 

 Employee costs increased by $1.38m. 
The increase is mainly due to the annual increase factored into the 
Enterprise bargaining Agreement and overall increase in staff to meet 
service demand.   
 

 Materials and Services expenditure increased by $1.22m  

The increase is due to a range of areas including:  
o consultant expenditure was $0.51m higher in 2018/19 mainly in relation 

to Strategic Planning projects and network systems consulting.  
o higher legal costs ($0.20m) mainly in relation to local laws matters.  
o higher contractor costs ($0.17m) mainly due to an increase in waste 

contractor expenditure partly offset by reductions in contractor costs in 
other areas. 
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12. CS.5  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE  
2019 (Continued) 

 
The following graph provides a breakdown of operating expenses for 2018/19:  

 

 
 

 

(3) Other comprehensive income is $39.99m higher 
 

Other comprehensive income is made up of movements in the asset 
revaluation reserve as a result of asset revaluations.  Council does not 
revalue all of its assets each year. The assets are grouped into categories 
and in accordance with accounting standards, the asset categories are 
revalued on a cyclical basis over a number of years.  As most infrastructure 
revaluations are based on current replacement cost they generally result in an 
increase in asset values. Land values have also been increasing. The 
2018/19 revaluation income was associated with asset revaluations 
undertaken for land, roads and kerb & channel.   

 
 

2.2  Balance Sheet 
 

The Balance Sheet shows what Council owns as assets and what it owes as 
liabilities.  The bottom line of this statement is Total Equity which is an 
accumulation over time of the net worth of Council. 
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12. CS.5  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE  
2019 (Continued) 

 
Current Assets increased by $4.94m.  
The increase in current assets is mainly a result of a higher level of financial 
assets (investments) and cash, due to grants received in advance late in the 
financial year and lower than planned capital expenditure. There were several 
large capital projects that were in progress at the end of the financial year or 
deferred and they will now be completed in 2019/20.  The funding for these 
projects is included in the investment balance.  

 
Non-Current Assets increased by $68.99m. 
Non-Current assets are assets which are not expected to be converted into 
cash in the next 12 months.  The increase is due to asset revaluations, assets 
contributed by developers (non-monetary contributions) and capital works.  
Offsetting these increases is the depreciation expense for the year.  

 
Current Liabilities increased by $5.99m. 
The higher balance is mainly due to a scheduled loan repayment in 2019/20.  
In 2014 Council borrowed $4.1m via the Local Government Funding Vehicle.  
These borrowings are interest only, whereby the principal on these 
borrowings is not payable until the end of the term of the loan.  The term ends 
in 2019 and Council will repay this loan in full.  As this repayment is due within 
12 months, it is classified as a current liability. It was a non current liability in 
2017/18.   Creditors were also higher than 2017/18 due to timing of when 
payments were due.  

 
Non-Current Liabilities decreased by $4.78m.   
Non-Current Liabilities relate to borrowings and provisions that are not 
payable within the next year.   The decrease is mainly a result of one loan 
moving to a current liability (see above).  Overall borrowings were lower than 
2017/18 following scheduled repayments made during the year.  No new 
loans were taken up in 2018/19. 

 
Total Equity is the term used to describe the value of the Council to its 
ratepayers and is divided between: 

  Accumulated Surplus – the value of all net assets over time,  

  Reserves – includes the asset revaluation reserve and funds reserved for 
specific future expenditure.     
    

Council’s total equity was $1,117.52m at the end of 2018/19, an increase of 
$72.62m from 2017/18 which is due to the operating surplus (comprehensive 
result) recorded during the year (refer section 2.1).  
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12. CS.5  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE  
2019 (Continued) 

 
The working capital ratio is a liquidity measure and provides an assessment of 
the number of times Council is able to meet its current commitments. 
Council’s working capital ratio has remained above 150% for the last four 
years which indicates that Council can confidently meet its financial 
obligations.  

 

         
 
 

2.3  Statement of Cash Flows 
 

The Statement of Cash Flows is a record of cash received and cash paid by 
Council for the financial year.  It excludes non-cash expenses such as 
depreciation that are included in the Comprehensive Income Statement and 
includes items such as capital expenditure and proceeds from loans that are 
not included in the Comprehensive Income Statement. 

 
The Statement of Cash Flows is concerned with three distinct areas as 
follows: 

 Operating, which are normal Council operations. 

 Investing, which are payments for capital equipment and proceeds from the  
 sale of assets. 

 Financing, which includes proceeds from investments maturing, loan  
proceeds received and repayment of loans.  Increases in investments with 
a maturity of more than three months are treated as cash outflows. 

 
The Statement of Cash Flows shows that cash on hand was $13.42m at the 
end of the year.  The level of cash should be considered in conjunction with 
the financial assets category as investments swing between these two asset 
categories when they come closer to maturity.  Overall, cash and investments 
are higher than 2017/18 due to early grant payments and lower than expected 
capital works expenditure.  
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12. CS.5  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE  
2019 (Continued) 

 
2.4  Statement of Capital Works 

 
Capital expenditure for the year totalled $22.61m an increase of $2.65m 
compared to 2017/18. The capital expenditure for 2018/19 is the highest 
recorded by the Macedon Ranges Shire Council.  Some of the key areas of 
capital works were buildings ($6.74m), roads ($6.78m), plant and equipment 
($3.17m) and recreational, leisure and community facilities ($1.48m).   
 
Included in the figures above were significant works completed at several 
Council facilities across the Shire including the Gilbert Gordon oval pavilion 
($1.29m), Kyneton town hall heating and cooling ($1.14m), Kyneton tennis 
club ($0.61m), Romsey early learning centre ($0.59m) and Riddells Creek 
early learning centre ($0.41m).  

 
The following graph provides a breakdown of Council’s capital works 
expenditure for 2018/19:  
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12. CS.5  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE  
2019 (Continued) 

 
Capital expenditure fluctuates from year to year due to the scheduling of 
major one-off projects and the availability of grant funding. The following 
graph shows the level of capital expenditure over the last five years: 
 

               
 
 

3. Approval “in principle” and Certification of the Financial Statements 
 

This report recommends that the financial statements for the year ended 30 
June 2019 be approved “in principle”. 
 
The Local Government Act requires Council to authorise two Councillors to 
certify the Statements in their final form after they have been reviewed and 
approved by the Victorian Auditor-General’s Office.   
 
Therefore, it is recommended that Councillor Janet Pearce and Councillor 
Natasha Gayfer as Council’s delegates on the Audit Committee, be 
authorised to certify the Statements. 
 
The statements will also be certified by the Chief Executive Officer and the 
Principal Accounting Officer. 
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12. CS.6  PROPOSED LAND SWAP AND BOUNDARY REALIGNMENT  
AT WALSHES ROAD, WOODEND 

 
 Officer: Hayley Drummond, Coordinator Property and Valuations 
 
 File Ref: 26854 
 
 Council Plan Relationship: Relates to priority area: 

Improve the built environment 
 

  Attachments:   
1. Existing land ownership 
2. Land proposed to be 

transferred 

   
Synopsis: 

 
271 Falloons Road, Woodend comprises a rural property that is 42.75 
hectares.  Along the southern boundary of the allotment there is a small 
encroachment of Walshes Road comprising an area of 2,387 square metres. 
When Council constructed the gravel road in the 1970’s it did not follow the 
road reserve set aside for the road but instead extended slightly into 271 
Falloons Road to the north. 
 
It is proposed to undertake a realignment of boundaries which will require a 
part land swap to correct the Title boundaries with 271 Falloons Road. As a 
consequence of the land swap, the land transferred to private ownership 
requires rezoning. This report recommends that Council commence this 
process by undertaking the necessary statutory requirements under the 
relevant legislation. .   

 
 
 Officer Recommendation: 
 

That Council: 
 

1. Proceed to commence the statutory process to exchange land in 
accordance with Attachment 2, by publishing a public notice 
proposing to undertake a minor road deviation, road declaration and 
land exchange; 

 
2. In accordance with Section 223 of the Act, provides any person the 

opportunity to make a submission within 28 days of the day of the 
notice and if requested provides the opportunity to any person to be 
heard at a meeting to be held on 16 October 2019 at the Gisborne 
Administration Centre; 

 
3. Be presented with a report at the 23 October 2019 Ordinary Council 

Meeting to consider the submissions and the approval of transfers;  
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4. On the basis that no submissions be received at (2) above: 

a) Approve the transfer of land under the land swap;  
b) Advertise a government gazettal notice to declare the realigned 

section of Walshes Road a government road; and  
c) Authorise the Chief Executive Officer to sign the necessary 

documentation to enable the land swap to occur. 
 

5. Endorse the rezoning of the land described as Volume 06019 and 
Folio 750, Lot 1 on TP879826E, Parish of Tylden from Public Use 
Zone to Rural Conservation Zone; and 
 

6. Endorse the rezoning of land at (5) above as the basis to prepare 
Planning Scheme Amendment C138macr 

a) Request Authorisation from the Minister for Planning to 
prepare Amendment C138macr pursuant to Section 9 of the 
Planning and Environment Act 1987 

i. Upon receipt of authorisation, make any changes 
necessary to comply with conditions of authorisation 

ii. Upon satisfaction of any conditions of authorisation, 
exhibit Amendment C138macr pursuant to Section 19 of 
the Planning & Environment Act 1987. 
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1. Background 

 
In the mid to late 1970’s the former Shire of Newham and Woodend 
constructed a gravel road known as Walshes Road, Woodend.  In one 
particular location in Walshes Road, the road was constructed outside the 
road reserve allocated for the road and instead it encroached into private land 
at 271 Falloons Road, Woodend.  The property at 271 Falloons Road 
comprises Lot 1 on PS 446092E and is 42.75 hectares.  In February 2000 the 
current owner of 271 Falloons Road, Woodend (“the owner”) purchased the 
property and subsequently constructed a dwelling and outbuildings.  The 
owner also fenced to the boundary line of the wrongly aligned Walshes Road.  

 
In February 2014 Council received a letter from a legal firm representing the 
owner of 271 Falloons Road, Woodend.  They advised Council of the 
encroachment of Walshes Road onto their land and provided three 
alternatives to Council: 
1) Council rebuild the road in accordance with the existing road reserve. 
2) Our client to issue proceedings which require Council to acquire the land, 

realign the boundaries and compensate the owners for loss of land. 
3) Council can immediately enter into an agreement with our client and 

Coliban Water which provides for Council to acquire the land necessary 
for the realignment, compensate the parties and lodge documentation at 
the titles office to reflect the realignment.   

 
Council officers reviewed the history of the land and identified that the area 
affected was approximately 2,387 square metres. 
 
Coliban Water was also a third party to the arrangement as it owned a section 
of land that was also encroached by Walshes Road and partly fenced into the 
owners land.   
 
Council’s response to the matter was to propose the following: 

 Council to realign the property boundary and undertake a land swap to 
ensure that the land uses were correctly reflected on the owners title and 
Council’s road reserves. 

 The section of land that was owned by Coliban Water was to be acquired 
by Council and then the area occupied by the owner would be transferred 
to the owner as part of the land swap arrangement. 

 Council would cover the legal costs of the land title, boundary realignment 
and survey costs. 

 A survey plan would be prepared that would verify the boundary 
realignment and the areas of land to be swapped. 

 Fencing relocation was agreed to be at Council’s cost.  
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2.  Coliban Water Land 

 
Upon investigation of the encroachment of the land at Walshes Road, there 
was found to be a section of land that was owned by Coliban Water that also 
had Walshes Road running through it.   
 
It appeared that Coliban Water owned the land as it was low-lying and there 
was a water supply and drainage easement that ran through the owners land 
to the north that then drained into this Coliban Water land.  It was determined 
as part of the proposed process for the Walshes Road realignment that 
Council would take ownership of the Coliban Water land and divide the land to 
enable the alignment of Walshes Road to be rectified by land transfer.  
 
Consequently in October 2015 Council purchased the land from Coliban 
Water.  The area of land comprised 2,129 square metres.   
 
It is therefore proposed that 537 square metres of this land be transferred to 
the owners of 271 Falloons Road as this portion is within their existing 
boundary fence line.  The remaining 1,592 square metres shall be retained by 
Council and declared as a road as it has Walshes Road running through it. 
 
3.  Land Parcels 
 
The plan of survey for the property has been undertaken and has identified 
four key parcels of land. These parcels are outlined in Attachment 2.  The 
proposal is for Parcel 1 to be transferred from Council to the owners of 271 
Falloons Road and consolidated within their land.  In exchange for this, the 
owners of 271 Falloons Road will transfer Parcels 3 and 4 to Council and they 
will become part of the Council owned road reserve.  
 
 
Parcel 1 – comprises 537 square metres that is to be transferred from Council 
to the owners of 271 Falloons Road.  This land is already within the fenced 
boundary of 271 Falloons Road and is occupied by them as grazing land.  
 
Parcel 2 – comprises 1,592 square metres of land that has been transferred 
from Coliban Water to Council.  This land is to be retained by Council and 
declared a road under proposed PS737797R where it is identified on the plan 
as part of the land in Road R1. 
 
Parcel 3 – comprises 130 square metres and located in the south-west corner 
of the survey plan. This land is also included in Road R-1 on Property 
PS737797R and is proposed to become Council land.  This land is currently 
within the owners Title of 271 Falloons Road and is therefore part of Lot 1 on 
PS446092E.  The land is not currently occupied by the owners and is outside 
their current fence line.  The land has the current alignment of Walshes Road 
running through it. 
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Parcel 4 – comprises 665 square metres and located in the north-east corner 
of the acquired land.  This land is also included in Road R-1 on proposed 
PS737797R and is to become Council land. The land is currently within the 
owners title of 271 Falloons Road and is therefore part of Lot 1 on 
PS446092E.  The land is currently not occupied by the owners and is outside 
their current fence line.  The land has the current alignment of Walshes Road 
running through it.  
 
A proposed Plan of Subdivision has been prepared under Section 35 of the 
Subdivisions Act 1988.  This has created Lot A that includes the land to be 
transferred to the owner of 271 Falloons Road by incorporating 537 square 
metres of land (Parcel 1).  This Plan also identifies 2387 square metres of 
land that is identified as a Road R-1 and will vest in Council (this includes 
Parcels 3 and 4).   
 
Section 35 of the Subdivisions Act provides for Acquisition of Land by 
Acquiring Authority – in this case Council.  Consequently, a proposed plan of 
subdivision has been prepared under this section of the Act.  This section is 
exempt from planning permit requirements and therefore a planning permit is 
not required.   
 
4. Financial Implications 
 
As part of the negotiations, it was agreed that Council would pay the survey 
fees, the legal costs of the land transfer and any fencing relocation. Council 
will also cover the costs associated with undertaking the required planning 
scheme amendment. 
 
Costs relating to Council purchasing the land from Coliban Water in October 
2015 and the cost of the survey plan have already been incurred. 
 
In terms of the land exchange, the owners of 271 Falloons Road are gaining 
the land comprising Parcel 1 that is 537 square metres and is currently used 
as grazing land. In exchange for this they are losing ownership of Parcels 3 
and 4 comprising a total of 795 square metres that is currently outside their 
fence line and has part of Walshes Road constructed on it. 

 
5. Legislative Requirements under the Local Government Act 

 
The Local Government Act 1989 (“the Act”) governs the sale of Council land.  
Section 189 of the Act provides the legislative requirements for the sale or 
exchange of Council land.  The Act requires all councils to consult ratepayers 
and residents on any proposal to sell or exchange land and give them an 
opportunity to have their views heard. 
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Under the Act, Council must: 

 Give at least four weeks public notice of an intention to sell or exchange 
land before selling or exchanging the land; 

 Obtain a valuation of the land which is made not more than six months prior 
to the sale or exchange from an appropriately qualified person; and 

 Allow interested persons to make a submission under section 223 on the 
proposed sale or exchange. 

 
Council must consider any submissions made prior to determining to proceed 
with the sale or exchange.  The submissions must be made in accordance 
with section 223 of the Act which requires all submitters to be advised in 
writing of the outcome of the meeting with a reason for Council’s decision.  

 
6. Planning Controls 

 
Zones and Overlays 

 Parcel 1 and 2 are zoned Public Use Zone Schedule 1 (Service and 
Utility).  

 Parcel 3 and 4 are zoned Rural Conservation Zone.  

 All parcels are subject to the Environmental Significance Overlay 
Schedule 4 and the Vegetation Protection Overlay Schedule 9.  

 
The intended transfer requires consideration of whether the zone of each 
parcel is appropriate after the transfer is completed. The transfer of land does 
not affect the appropriateness of the existing overlays.  
 
The Practitioners Guide to Victorian Planning Schemes provides guidance 
about the appropriate use of the Public Land Zones, including the Public Use 
Zone. The Practice Note states “Land that is not public land must not be 
included in a public land zone”.  
 
The Practitioners Guide to Victorian Planning Schemes includes guidance on 
which zone to use and provides an example situation. The example situation 
closely reflects the circumstances at the subject land and is appropriate to 
follow. The example reads “Land should not be automatically included in a 
public land zone just because it is public land. There will be situations where a 
public land zone is not the most appropriate zone, such as a road or remnant 
parcel of public land in a rural area”.  
 
From the above, the following conclusions and recommendations are based.  
 
Parcel 1: the transfer of land from public to private ownership will result in the 
Public Use Zone being inappropriate. To address this, the zone should be 
changed to the Rural Conservation Zone. This is the underlying zone and the 
most appropriate zone. 
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Parcel 2: this parcel will remain in public ownership and be designated a road 
reserve. There is no requirement for the Public Use Zone to remain in place 
for the road to operate. Following the guidance from The Practitioners Guide 
to Victorian Planning Schemes, the zone should be changed to the Rural 
Conservation Zone. This is the underlying zone and the most appropriate 
zone. 
 
Parcel 3 and 4: these parcels will be transferred from private to public 
ownership and be designated a road reserve. There is no requirement for the 
Public Use Zone to apply for the road to operate. The Rural Conservation 
Zone is the most appropriate zone and this zone should remain.  
 
Based on the above, it is recommended that Parcel 1 and Parcel 2 are 
rezoned from Public Use Zone to Rural Conservation Zone. This rezoning can 
be considered a minor change and will require formal exhibition.  
 

 

  Parcel diagram taken from Attachment 1: 
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7. Process Moving Forward 
 
Should Council determine to proceed with the proposed land exchange and 
planning scheme amendment the process would be as follows: 

 
1. Prepare all amendment material and seek authorisation from the Minister 

for Planning to commence Amendment C138macr; 
2. Place a public notice on Council’s website and the local newspaper 

advertising a “Proposed minor road deviation and land exchange” with 
public submissions to be made within 28 days; 

3. Consideration of submissions (if any) in accordance with section 223 of the 
Local Government Act 1989; 

4. A Council report be prepared summarising the issues raised in the 
submission process and providing a recommendation whether to proceed 
with the sale; and 

5. Should the proposal be approved: 
a. Publication of a gazettal notice to declare the new/correct road 

alignment of Walshes Road as a public highway; and 
b. Transfer documents are to be signed and lodged with the Titles Office. 

 
Notably, if no submissions are received at step 3, step 4 is not required and 
Council can provide conditional approval to the Chief Executive Officer to 
make necessary arrangements to complete the transfer. 
 
8. Conclusion 
 
This report provides the background to a longstanding property issue in 
relation to Walshes Road, Woodend. Since the road was constructed in the 
mid 1970’s it has encroached on private land and this report provides the 
process to rectify and update the titles to accurately reflect the location of the 
road. With consequent transfer of land from public to private ownership, it is 
necessary to commence a planning scheme amendment process to rezone 
the land from Public Use Zone to Rural Conservation Zone. This rezoning 
process can commence prior to the land transfer process. It is recommended 
that Council commence the statutory processes of amending the planning 
scheme to rezone the land concurrently with the land exchange process, in 
accordance with the relevant legislative requirements. 
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 Officer: Rod Clough, Manager Recreation and Sport 
 
 File Ref: F4446 
 
 Council Plan Relationship: Relates to priority area: 

Promote health and wellbeing 
 

  Attachments:    
1. Draft Shared Trail Feasibility 

Studies Consultation 
Summary Report 

2. Daylesford to Hanging Rock 
Trail Feasibility Study  

3. Woodend to Riddells Creek 
Trail Feasibility Study 

 
 
 Synopsis: 
 

At the 19 December 2018 Council Meeting Council resolved as below: 
That Council endorse: 
1. The Draft Daylesford (Tylden) to Hanging Rock Trail Feasibility Study to 

proceed to community consultation; and 
2. The Draft Macedon Ranges Trail Feasibility Study to proceed to 

community consultation. 
 
 

After an extensive consultation process these two studies have been 
completed and are presented to Council for endorsement. 
 
Once the final studies have been endorsed advocacy can commence and 
funding can be sought to implement. 

 
 Officer Recommendation: 
 

That Council: 
 
1. Write to community group stakeholders, land owners/managers, 

authorities, and formal submitters involved in the development of the 
shared trails feasibility studies to thank them for their interest and 
input; 

2. Endorse the Daylesford (Tylden) to Woodend, Kyneton and Hanging 
Rock Shared Trails Feasibility Study.  

3. Endorse the Woodend - Macedon - New Gisborne - Riddells Creek 
Shared Trails Feasibility Study. 

4. Commence advocacy and funding efforts as outlined within the 
implementation strategy in this report for the staged implementation 
and development of the trails and report back to Council as required. 
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5. Continue to provide regular updates on the shared trails project 
including advocacy progress to authorities, traditional owner 
groups, other groups and persons who have opted in to receive 
updates. 

 



Ordinary Council Meeting – Wednesday, 28 August 2019 

 

Page 111 

13. CW.1 MACEDON RANGES SHARED TRAILS FEASIBILITY 
STUDIES (Continued) 

 
 Background 
 

Off road trails encourage people to walk, run and cycle in a safe environment 
resulting in improved physical and mental health, environmentally friendly 
transport options and enhanced economic benefits from associated tourism. 
 
The Macedon Ranges community has expressed aspirations for off road trails 
over the last several years.  A number of Council’s strategic plans have 
responded by prioritising the planning and development of trails including: 
 

 Council Plan 2017-2027: under the priority area of promoting health and 
wellbeing a specific action is to “advocate for funding to commence 
construction of a rail trail and off road cycling and walking track from 
Daylesford to Hanging Rock” (page 13). 

 

 Open Space Strategy (2013): identified nine key issues including 
“establishing a network of off road and local trail circuits” including “inter-
town or regional routes along major waterways and (active or former) 
railway corridors”.  A shire-wide direction was to “plan off-road trail circuits 
in the shire as a priority, so that they are ready to take advantage of any 
funding opportunities” (2.3.2, page 38). 

 Walking and Cycling Strategy (2014): two of the seven overarching 
themes in this strategy related to the development of “connections 
between towns” and “tourism trails”.  The off road inter-town tourism trail 
initiatives identified for Council consideration are: 
o Woodend to Hanging Rock shared trail 
o Gisborne to Riddells Creek off-road shared trail 
o Daylesford to Macedon Ranges rail trail 

 Sports and Active Recreation Strategy (2018): reinforced the priorities 
outlined in the Walking and Cycling Strategy for shared trails because of 
their “large role in achieving the benefits of active recreation” (page 22). 

 Macedon Ranges Visitor Economy Strategy 2019-2029: has as an action 
to progress the Daylesford to Hanging Rock Rail Trail – Work with 
Hepburn Shire Council to attract funding for delivery of the Daylesford to 
Hanging Rock Rail Trail (Action 3.7, p.42). 

 
These strategic directions subsequently led to Council funding two feasibility 
studies in the 2017/18 budget at $50,000 each: 

 Daylesford (Tylden) to Woodend, Kyneton and Hanging Rock Shared 
Trails  

 Woodend - Macedon - New Gisborne - Riddells Creek Shared Trails 
 



Ordinary Council Meeting – Wednesday, 28 August 2019 

 

Page 112 

13. CW.1  MACEDON RANGES SHARED TRAILS FEASIBILITY  
STUDIES (Continued) 

 
The two studies relate to the different aspirations of the Walking and Cycling 
Strategy 2014. 
 
The Daylesford to Hanging Rock Rail Trail is seen as a regional and iconic 
experience for which the State Government and Federal Government have 
shown particular interest.  Regional Development Victoria have identified this 
trail as the highest regional priority for trail development (Loddon Campaspe 
Regionally Significant Trails Strategy 2018-2023). 
 
Macedon Ranges Shire Council is working in partnership with Regional 
Development Victoria and Hepburn Shire Council on joint advocacy efforts for 
this trail and a steering committee has recently been formed. This will ensure 
that the efforts of each Council to plan and eventually construct their sections 
of this iconic trail are complementary and that any opportunities for economies 
of scale are taken advantage of (i.e. joint funding submissions, tendering 
together, etc.).  
 
The Macedon Ranges Trail (Woodend through to Riddells Creek) was 
identified in the Walking and Cycling Strategy (2014) as providing inter-
township connections that were much desired by the community. Planning the 
feasibility of these trails allows them to be project ready should funding 
opportunities arise. 
 
The studies 
 
The two projects were included in the one tender to achieve economies of 
scale due to the similar nature of work and output required.  The studies, 
although very similar, were kept separate for the slightly different interests 
outlined. 
 
Early in 2018 Council appointed TRC Tourism Pty Ltd to undertake the 
studies.  TRC are well regarded in the trail planning industry having been 
recognised with a number of awards for past projects.  TRC have 
considerable relevant experience, undertaking a number of large studies both 
in Australia and New Zealand. 
 
Early consultation and outcomes 
 
As a key part of the Macedon Ranges studies, broad consultation guided by 
Council’s Consultation Framework was undertaken.  The initial consultation 
process began in April 2018, with TRC having undertaken extensive 
engagement with community group stakeholders and various land owners and 
managers.  Consultation also occurred within Council across various 
departments via a project reference group.   
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Field work considering the different trail route alignments was also undertaken 
in 2018, with initial preferred alignment options being identified based on 
offering the best trail experience. This field work along with early stakeholder 
engagement was key to developing the draft feasibility studies.   
 
The shared trail feasibility studies proved to be complex and involved many 
different types of land tenure arrangements to be considered along the 
possible routes.  As a result, the adjoining land owner consultation process 
was staged to accommodate the different levels of consultation required and 
depending on the potential access options that were identified along each 
section of preferred trail alignment. 
 
Public exhibition and outcomes 
 
The draft studies were finalised and endorsed for public exhibition by Council 
on 19 December 2018. 
 

That Council endorse: 

1. The Draft Daylesford (Tylden) to Hanging Rock Trails Feasibility Study 
to proceed to community consultation; and 

2. The Draft Macedon Ranges Trails Feasibility Study to proceed to 
community consultation. 

 
The four-week public exhibition period for the draft shared trails feasibility 
studies closed on 25 March 2019. 
 
Public comment on the draft studies was promoted and invited in line with the 
Community Consultation Framework as a “Category 2 Consult” project and 
included: 

 mail out to property owners (over 540) adjacent to all identified trail routes. 

 the ‘have your say’ webpage on Council’s website. 

 engagement with identified stakeholder groups, including walking, cycling 
and equestrian groups, land management authorities, relevant state 
government departments, interested persons’ database and traditional 
owner groups amongst others. Meetings conducted with some of these as 
required. 

 phone discussions and meetings with individual land owners as requested. 

 project posters distributed and displayed across the shire. 

 media release to local media outlets. 

 social media posts and promotional video on Council’s Facebook and 
Instagram pages. 

 face to face consultation at the Woodend Farmers Market on 2 March 
2019. 

 presentation and discussion with Council’s Health and Wellbeing Advisory 
Committee. 
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The draft study documents and maps were able to be viewed on Council’s 
website or at any Council service centre for the duration of the public 
exhibition period.  Feedback was invited through completion of an online 
survey (a paper version of the survey was also available) or alternatively via a 
written or email submission. 
 
Online surveys were completed (a total of 378 with 211 of these providing 
additional comments) and 47 written submissions were received in response 
to the draft studies. The majority of survey respondents (95%) supported the 
development of shared trails in the Macedon Ranges.   
 
It should be noted that a coordinated response to the draft studies was 
received from VicRoads and V/Line through the Department of Transport 
Loddon Mallee (DoT). An early in principle support response was received 
from Victrack however not a later response despite a number of requests.  
 
All feedback was assessed by the consultants and Council officers with 
amendments to the studies made where warranted and responses provided in 
other instances. See Attachment 1, “Draft Shared Trail Feasibility Studies 
Public Exhibition Summary”. 

 
Amendments include: 

 clarifying the ‘high level’ nature of the studies to enable the trail 
sections to be ‘project ready’. Detailed investigations will be undertaken 
as part of detailed design and construction once sections are funded; 

 emphasising within the studies that the detailed design phase will also 
include further consultation with adjoining land owners and land 
managers; 

 outlining the low volume nature of the trails, and whilst the preferred 
surface material is 3m wide asphalt, the final surface treatment and 
width for sections of the trail will be determined at detailed design; 

 reiterating that the substantial amount of funding for construction of 
trails is expected to come from State or Federal Government; 

 further outliningof the trail equestrian usage considerations; 

 indicating the two preferred trail alignment options for:  
- Woodend to Macedon : 69% preferred trail alignment to go along the 

railway line, and not along Black Forest Drive 
- Macedon to New Gisborne : 57% preferred the trail alignment to go 

along Norton Road, and not along Mount Macedon Road 
In both cases the other options may also add to the trail network at some 
future time. 
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 outlining the community’s priority for the development of the different 
sections of trails: 
1. Woodend to Hanging Rock 
2. Woodend to Macedon 
3. Kyneton to Woodend 
4. Macedon to New Gisborne 
5. Carlsruhe to Tylden 
6. New Gisborne to Riddells Creek 

 updating mapping to indicate final preferred trail alignments as well as 
development priority and potential future trail spurs and links identified; 

 reviewing, updating and increasing of shared trail cost estimates. Figures 
have been based on 2021 estimates to align with projected Council 
financial planning (see Table 1). 

 
The studies - Daylesford to Hanging Rock Trail Feasibility Study (Attachment 
2) and Woodend to Riddells Creek Trail Feasibility Study (Attachment 3) have 
now been finalised and provided for Council endorsement. 
 
Implementation Strategy 
Once the final studies are endorsed the trails are ready to implement through 
advocacy for funding to undertake detailed design (including further 
consultation as required), obtaining relevant approvals and construction. To 
do so, most likely in stages, will require considerable external funding. 
 
In order to attract that funding Council is actively participating in and/or 
planning the following actions: 

 Regional Development Victoria have recently convened the Daylesford to 
Hanging Rock Rail Trail Project Working Group with Hepburn Shire 
Council, Daylesford Macedon Ranges Tourism and Macedon Ranges 
Shire Council with the possibility membership may be expanded. Officers 
of the Macedon Ranges Shire Council will participate in that working 
group. 

 Advocacy collateral will be developed in conjunction with Hepburn Shire 
Council. 

 Advocacy collateral will be developed for the Woodend to Riddells Creek 
trails. 

 The Department of Transport has also recently convened a broader 
Loddon Campaspe Regional Walking and Cycling Community of 
Practice/Working Group. Again Council officers will participate. 

 
There will also be further opportunities that arise including programs that may 
fund trails. These will be considered and reported to Council as required. 
 
As a guide to the above and future advocacy and implementation efforts the 
following table provides some directions based on the studies: 
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Table 1 
Community 
Survey 
Priority  

Note 1 

Section Implementation 
Staging Priority 
and Comment 
Note 1 

Estimated 
Cost 
 
Note 2 

Indicative 
Council 
contribution 
Note 3 

Daylesford to Hanging Rock (rail trail)   

1 Woodend to 
Hanging Rock 

Priority 1 – As a long 

community desire 
further extends the trail 
out from Woodend to 
Braemar College with 
on road treatments from 
there. Further 
investigations to occur 
into land procurement 
strategy to extend trail. 

$ 2,971,922 Detailed design 
2020 

Construct: 

2021/22 - $200k 

2022/23 - $400k 

2023/24 - $400k 

3 Kyneton to 
Carlsruhe to 
Woodend 

Priority 2 – Links two 

major townships and 
Hanging Rock and 
preparation for linking 
to Daylesford. 

$ 8,646,102 

5 Carlsruhe to 
Tylden (rail trail) 

Priority 3A – If trail is 

extended from 
Daylesford would 
complete the “rail trail” 
as per the study. 

$ 4,636,255 

  Totals $ 16,254,279 $1M 

Woodend to Riddells Creek   

2 Woodend to 
Macedon 

Priority 3B – Further 

extends the “rail trail” 
and is an exceptional 
trail experience (as 
outlined in the study 
and as per the 
community priority). 
Depending upon the 
readiness of the 
Carlsruhe to Tylden 
section may take 
priority over 3A. 

$ 3,349,733 Detailed design 
2025 

Construct: 

2026/27 - $500k 

2027/28 - $500k 

 

4 Macedon to New 
Gisborne 

Priority 4 – Next 

extension of the above 
network. 

$ 2,289,335 

6 New Gisborne to 
Riddells Creek 

Priority 5 – Next 

extension of the above 
network. 

$ 4,115,185 

  Totals $ 9,754,253 $1M 

Note 1: The community survey provided a priority order for the sections however when considered as a 
whole that may not always translate into a practical implementation process or reflect available funding 
opportunities. Taking all of that into account an Implementation Staging Priority has been developed to 
guide advocacy efforts going forward. 
Note 2: Estimates are higher than at draft study to take into account detailed design and future costs at 
2021. 
Note 3: The Indicative Council Contribution is currently included but not endorsed in Council’s forward 
planning and is subject to ongoing review 
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Advocacy and funding efforts will be guided by the above and provided for 
Council consideration as required. 
 
Conclusion 
The final studies have been completed and are now presented for formal 
Council endorsement. Once endorsed Council can proceed to advocate to 
State and Federal Governments for funding to enable the staged 
implementation and development of the trails. 
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  Attachments:   
1. Changes to CHSP: Q&A 
2. Cessation of HACCPYP: Q&A 

 
 

  
 Synopsis: 
 

The provision of aged care and disability support services has been a feature 
of Victorian local councils for 35 years. The Home and Community Care 
(HACC) program was initiated in the early 1980s and investment in HACC 
services was a means of expressing a strong commitment to the most 
vulnerable members of the community; including older people, people with a 
disability or mental illness and people at risk of homelessness. 
 
Whilst home support services have been emblematic of the social contract 
between local government and its community, the current aged and disability 
reform environment is delivering comprehensive restructuring at a national 
scale.  
 
Due diligence requires Council to review its policy and business strategy in 
the context of the reforms. Council officers and Councillors have invested 
heavily and maintained a watching brief over a three-year period to better 
understand the implications of the reforms on local government’s capacity to 
deliver home support services. 
 
This report provides recommendations for three service areas delivered by 
Council. The recommendations are time-framed to allow for recommissioning 
processes, transition of impacted clients and support for volunteers and 
contractors. Under these recommendations there would be no immediate 
change to the services currently being provided, and Council would retain 
those services with greatest demand whilst undertaking further due diligence.  
 
Council will soon begin community consultation to identify the future 
aspirations, needs and priorities for older residents and gather feedback that 
will inform further decision making. 
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Officer Recommendation: 

 
That Council: 
 
1. Note that an analysis of market assessment findings and of 

individual services has indicated a logical segmentation of services 
that could be transitioned in stages. A staged approach would allow 
greater clarity on the direction of reforms for the Commonwealth 
Home Support Program (CHSP) while demonstrating effective 
business strategy in the reform environment; 
 

2. Note that the Chief Executive Officer will: 
a) make an operational assessment of Council’s participation in the 

streamlined Assessment Service commissioning process when 
further information becomes available; and will ensure that 
Regional Assessment staff are informed and appropriately 
supported throughout the process;  

b) work with the Victorian and Commonwealth Governments to 
manage an orderly transition that protects the interests of clients 
of those services that Council resolves to transition;   
 

3. Resolves to conduct consultation aligned with Council’s Community 
Consultation Framework to inform the new Positive Ageing Plan 
2020-25 and receive a report back to a Council Meeting by June 2020 
in regards to: 
a) Community feedback on the aspirations, future needs and 

priorities of older people in the Shire 
b) Outcomes of the Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and 

Safety, and 
c) Any Federal Government announcements regarding block funding 

beyond July 2022. 
 

4. Resolves to provide formal notice to the Victorian Department of 
Health and Human Services of Council’s intention to cease its 
agreement to deliver all services under the Home and Community 
Care Program for Younger People (HACCPYP) effective 1 July 2020; 

 
5. Resolve to continue delivering the following services funded by the 

Commonwealth Home Support Program (CHSP) while conducting 
further due diligence related to aged care sector reform:   Domestic 
Assistance, Flexible Respite, Personal Care, Meals Group, Social 
Support Individual, Sector Support and development, and Healthy 
Ageing Management; 
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6. Provide formal notice to the Commonwealth Department of Health of 

Council’s intention to cease its agreement to provide the following 
services funded by the Commonwealth Home Support Program 
(CHSP): 

 CHSP Meals- Individual by July 2020 as the low level of demand is 
not viable 

 CHSP home maintenance and home modification service by July 
2021 or earlier pending commissioning of an alternate local 
provider; 
 

7. Receive a briefing on the options to consider regarding its 
shareholding in Community Chef by October 2019. 
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Background: 
 
Through a series of decisions between Commonwealth and state 
governments, the home and community care service system is being 
reformed. The Commonwealth Government (the Commonwealth) has clearly 
stated that is solely responsible for the funding, commissioning and delivery 
of an integrated aged care system for people over 65 years of age, and has 
established the National Disability Insurance Agency that is responsible for 
the National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS).  
 
The Commonwealth has an agenda to create a consistent national program 
with an affordable suite of services across aged care and disability services, 
from entry-level home support to more comprehensive packaged care 
through to residential care. The Commonwealth will continue to drive the 
reforms as a means of demonstrating its commitment to ensuring all 
Australians have equitable access to services regardless of where they live. 
 
Due diligence requires Council to review its policy and business strategy in 
the context of the current reform environment. Council officers and 
Councillors have invested heavily and maintained a watching brief over a 
three-year period to better understand the implications of the reforms on local 
government’s capacity to deliver home support services.  

 Council has received regular briefings regarding aged and disability 
reforms since 2016 when the former Home and Community Care program 
was split across assessment and service delivery functions. 

 Council has been part of the Loddon Mallee Group of Council’s Aged and 
Disability Reform Transition Research Project examining the potential 
implications of reform on rural and regional councils.  

 An independent report Aged and Disability Home Support Market 
Assessment (confidential) has been provided to Council. The market-
sounding process indicated that there is an existing market of home 
support providers either operating, or with an interest to operate, in the 
shire. The research identified that these organisations share a 
commitment to protecting clients’ interests and an interest in merit-based 
recruitment to meet local workforce requirements. 

 Council has been a signatory to the Loddon Mallee Group of Council’s 
advocacy regarding the inequitable impact of the reforms on regional and 
rural communities. Submissions have been made to State Council and 
The Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety.  
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The timing of the reforms is a critical issue for Council. The fracturing of a 
previously integrated system is creating operational and administrative 
challenges including: 

 Continued ambiguity regarding funding and policy arrangements - the 
Commonwealth has not confirmed any Commonwealth Home Support 
Services (CHSP) funding arrangements post 2022; 

 Uncertainty regarding the future viability of the Home and Community 
Care Program for Younger People (HACCPYP);  

 The Regional Assessment Service will cease from 30 June 2020 and 
commissioning requirements for a new, nationally consistent integrated 
assessment service are unknown; 

 
The outcomes of the Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety 
will be presented to the Commonwealth Government in an interim report by 31 
October 2019.  
 
The timelines for significant change under the reform agenda have been 
extended four times, resulting in an extended period of uncertainty. 
Substantial time has been invested to support Councils understanding of the 
implications of aged care reforms. Staff and community interests will be best 
served by receiving a clear direction within the current term of Council. 

 
Context: 
 
Council employs forty-three community support staff and is supported by 700 
hours of volunteer service per annum across transport, call register, visiting 
service and delivered meals. The relevant staff establishment includes three 
teams: Regional Assessment Service, Service Delivery and Healthy Ageing 
and Engagement. Most service delivery staff were employed under the former 
Home and Community Care program and now work in delivery of both 
HACCPYP and the CHSP.  
 
Council is a significant provider of ‘entry-level’ services. In 2019/20, Council 
will receive $1.4 million grant funding from the Commonwealth Government 
for Commonwealth Home Support Services, and $188,000 from the Victorian 
Government for Home and Community Care Program for Younger People.  
 
Client contribution fees will provide additional income of approximately 
$214,000.  In 2018/19 approximately 18,500 hours of care were delivered, 
and services supported 850 clients across the municipality.  
 
In 2018/19 Council approved, through its budget processes, a ratepayer 
subsidy of approximately $600,000 to community support services including 
assessment, service delivery (home support services) and healthy ageing & 
engagement. In 2019/20 the projected ratepayer subsidy (with no service 
change) is of a similar level.  
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Consultation and Engagement: 
 
Market assessment 
In 2018-19, Council received a confidential report on findings from 
consultation with fourteen local and regional providers of HACCPYP and 
CHSP services. This research identified there is a mature market of alternate 
providers currently providing, or with an interest in providing, service in the 
Shire of Macedon Ranges. 

 
Staff and Australian Services Union 
Staff have received updates on changes across the aged and disability 
sectors, and were consulted through the market assessment project. There 
has been frustration with the timelines for the Commonwealth Government to 
resolve its funding and policy position on home support services, and that key 
milestones have been extended four times. Staff’s expectation is to be kept 
informed. Staff and Council have a strong commitment to manage change to 
protect client interests.  
 
Council has responded to prior requests from the Australian Services Union 
(ASU) by advising Council has not yet made a decision regarding its role in 
home support services. The ASU has been informed that Council will be 
considering this issue at its August 2019 meeting and a follow up meeting has 
been scheduled. The recommendations in this report do not require any 
immediate change to staffing arrangements.  
 
Community 
The proposed staged response includes providing notice of intention to 
withdraw from some services and continuing the majority of CHSP services 
while conducting further due diligence related to aged care sector reform.  
 
Withdrawal from those services that are not viable and where other providers 
are available is a considered response that demonstrates effective business 
strategy in the reform environment. Council’s consultation framework notes 
the appropriate level of consultation on the recommended service change is 
‘inform’. Communication materials to inform stakeholders have been drafted. 
(Attachments 1 and 2). 
 
For the majority of CHSP services, the next phase of inquiry is to consult with 
our community to identify priorities for ageing well in Macedon Ranges Shire. 
Consultation will assist Council in its decision making around CHSP and will 
assist in the development of Council’s new Positive Ageing Plan 2020-2025. 
Council’s Community Consultation Framework provides clear guidance to 
ensure best practice stakeholder engagement on this medium-to-high impact 
issue.  
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It is proposed that community feedback on the priorities of older people in the 
shire be sought during October 2019-February 2020, with findings reported to 
Council by June 2020. 
 
This will enable officers to report back to a Council Meeting with 
recommendations in the context of: 
a) Community feedback on the aspirations, future needs and priorities of 

older people in the shire 
b) Outcomes of the Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety, 

and 
c) Any Federal Government announcements regarding block funding beyond 

July 2022. 
 

Implications: 
 
Home and Community Care Program for Younger People (HACCPYP) 
HACCPYP provides services for people with a disability, chronic illness or 
short term health needs who do not meet NDIS eligibility criteria, and their 
carers. Younger people are defined as those under 65 (or aged under 50 for 
Aboriginal & Torres Strait Islander people). There are six other local and 
regional providers offering HACCPYP services to people in Macedon Ranges. 
 
HACCPYP is a Victorian Government program that was established at the 
time of the functional separation of responsibilities for aged care and disability 
services between the Commonwealth and state governments. Several 
Victorian councils have expressed dissatisfaction with the funding division 
between the NDIS and HACCPYP and are concerned about viability of the 
residual program. Some Victorian councils have already exited agreements 
with the State Government to deliver this program. 
 
In 2016/17 Council received State Government funding of $387,000 to deliver 
HACCPYP. This was reduced during the transition period in 2017/18 to 
$167,000 and adjusted in 2018/19 to $188,000. Year on year, Council has not 
met HACCPYP output targets set with this income. 
 
It is recommended that Council provide formal notice to the Victorian 
Department of Health and Human Services if its intention to exit its agreement 
to deliver all services under the Home and Community Care Program for 
Younger People (HACCPYP) effective 1 July 2020. This recommendation is 
based on the following rationale:  

 Council’s HACCPYP is currently provided to thirty-two individuals. Despite 
efforts to promote the program, Council has not seen an increase in 
demand as the new system settles.  

 Year on year service utilisation has not met the funded service agreement 
target which was based on residual client estimates during the rollout of 
the NDIS. HACCPYP Domestic Assistance, for which Council is the only 
provider in Macedon Ranges, has the greatest demand.  
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 Transition arrangements that were in place during the roll out of the NDIS 
concluded 31 January 2018. In recognition of the significant investment of 
time and additional work undertaken to better understand the impact of 
reforms, the State government did not recoup 2017-18 funding from 
Macedon Ranges Shire Council (MRSC). Many other providers were 
required to repay funding. 

 2018-19 was the first ‘full year effect’ of the changes to funding for MRSC. 
It is anticipated that the State will recoup 2018-19 funding received based 
on underperformance against funded targets. Approximately seventy 
percent of the funding received is likely to be repaid. 

 All agencies delivering community services that are funded and regulated 
by the Victorian Department of Health and Human Services are required 
to comply with legislation, regulation and performance reporting. As a 
small and specialised service in a highly regulated environment, the 
economies of scale applied in the administration of CHSP services are not 
available for HACCPYP. 

 There are other agencies providing HACCPYP services in the shire.  

 The State Government has an established process in place to protect the 
interests of clients during the selection of, and transition to, a new 
provider. 

 
Rescinding the HACCPYP Agreement would not trigger the need for 
redundancies due to: 

 Expanded care planning responsibilities for over 65s that have resulted in 
an increase of service delivery management workload; 

 Natural attrition and vacancy management;  

 HACCPYP is a far smaller program than CHSP – the majority of hours 
delivered relate to supporting people aged over 65.  

 
It is important to acknowledge the unique value of staff and client relationships 
in home support services. Trusted relationships are in place and Council has 
a leadership role to ensure that change is managed in a way that is respectful 
and sensitive to this context.  
 
Regional Assessment Service 
The Regional Assessment Service (RAS) provides face to face assessment of 
eligibility for CHSP, development of care plans and referrals to other services 
as needed. The target clients are people over 65 years (or 50 years for 
Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander people). Council is the only RAS provider 
in the Macedon Ranges Shire. 
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The Victorian Regional Assessment Service (VRAS) has been established as 
an interim arrangement following extensive negotiations between the Victorian 
and Commonwealth governments. The Municipal Association of Victoria has 
previously indicated a position that: 

 it makes sense for councils to continue in the assessment function as it 
provides a good insight into changes in the service system and emerging 
needs; and  

 through maintaining an investment in this function councils can best 
ensure the outcomes for their community. 

 
The interim Victorian RAS currently operates as a ‘virtual RAS’ with 
assessment officers sitting inside each local government but with complete 
internal separation from day to day service activities. The Victorian 
government holds a single contract with the Commonwealth and allocates this 
to around 90 local governments and other service providers; CHSP Home 
Support Assessment Services outside of Victoria are delivered nationally by 
17 contracted non-government (private and NFP) providers.   
 
As a result of a separate reform agenda, the Federal Government has 
confirmed that RAS will merge with the Aged Care Assessment Service 
(ACAS) and new workforce requirements will apply from 1 July 2020. The 
Commonwealth will manage the commissioning of providers for the integrated 
assessment service. Although timelines are unknown it is anticipated that this 
will occur toward the end of 2019.  
 
Councils have been invited by the Municipal Association of Victoria to indicate 
if they might participate in a tender process, however further information about 
the commissioning process is needed to inform a decision - particularly the 
anticipated scale of service territory, funding model and service requirements. 
It is likely that the Commonwealth will tender for providers of assessment 
services on a broad geographic scale (multiple Aged Care Planning Regions 
or state-wide). Implementation of contemporary service commissioning trends 
have seen a Commonwealth preference for larger providers operating across 
broader geographic areas. These providers operate at a scale that allows 
significant economies of scale and other competitive advantages. 

 
Should the commissioning process preclude Council applying for the new 
streamlined assessment service, or should Council be unsuccessful in the 
tender process, five staff will be impacted. These staff are aware of the 
impending introduction of a streamlined assessment service.  
It is therefore considered appropriate for the CEO to make an operational 
assessment of Council’s participation in the commissioning process when 
further information becomes available and ensure that Regional Assessment 
staff are informed and adequately supported throughout the process.  
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Commonwealth Home Support Service (CHSP)  
CHSP services are currently ‘block-funded’ which provides certainty and 
reduces financial risk to providers. It has been mooted, but not confirmed, that 
block funding for CHSP will be replaced by client-directed funding with 
government payments made directly to the consumer. 
 
The original timeline for transition to a new CHSP funding model was from 1 
July 2016 to 30 June 2018. All Victorian CHSP providers then operated under 
an extension to agreements until 30 June 2019, with a further extension to 30 
June 2020 to enable alignment across all States and Territories. The latest 
extension to 30 June 2022 was confirmed in April 2019. 
 
In 2019/20, Council will receive approximately $1.4 million block funding from 
the Commonwealth to deliver CHSP services. The greatest demand for 
Council-provided CHSP services is across Domestic Assistance, Respite and 
Personal Care. The lowest demand is across meals and home modifications.  
It is recommended that Council provide formal notice to the Commonwealth 
Department of Health that it seeks to exit its agreement to provide: 

a. CHSP Meals- Individual by July 2020 as the low level of demand is not 
viable 

b. CHSP home maintenance and home modification service by July 2021 
or earlier pending commissioning of an alternate local provider 

 
The rationale for this recommendation is outlined for each service below.  
 
Food Services includes pre-packaged meals delivered to individuals and 
subsidy payment paid to groups supporting people in the CHSP target group. 
No change is recommended to group meals at this time. 
 
The Meals-Individual service offer delivered meals that provide nutrition and a 
means of maintaining contact with people at risk of social isolation. This 
service is often referred to as ‘meals on wheels’. It is recommended Council 
provide advice of its intention to exit this service on the following basis. 
 
‘Meals on wheels’ is a long standing service with significant volunteer 
commitment and is emblematic of councils support for isolated older people. 
However new ways of accessing ready meals, social support, group meals 
and a focus on reablement (preventing people becoming dependent) have 
resulted in reduced demand for delivered meals. In additional new CHSP 
Social Support Individual funding is now available for clients with more 
complex needs.  

 
Council is funded to deliver approximately $100,000 of Food Services 
(individual and group). Group meals subsidise community lunches in 
Woodend, Kyneton, Lancefield and Romsey as well as Senior Citizen Groups. 
These are an increasingly popular way of addressing social isolation.  
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Business decisions have been implemented to reduce operating overheads in 
this service but the service has fixed asset costs including cool room 
maintenance and food testing ($6,500pa) and staffing to administer, pack and 
transport meals. As such there is a cost to administer and ensure safety and 
quality of meals. 
 
Ceasing Meals-Individual within the recommended timeframe would require 
no immediate change to staffing. Two part time staff and volunteers are 
involved in the administration of this service. Withdrawing may trigger 
redundancy or redeployment after changes have been completed; staff will be 
fully supported and all employer obligations will be met.  
 
There would be no immediate change to volunteers. Volunteers are a valued 
part of the service delivery team and whilst Council would not be able to offer 
an ongoing role in delivered meals, officers could encourage each volunteer to 
consider other roles that support people in our community.   
 
Interested volunteers could be matched to other roles in the community 
support unit (Community Register calls, transport, Social Support) or referred 
to the Central Victoria Volunteer Register to explore other roles that match 
their knowledge, skills and interests. 
 
Contract/service payments would cease, including to Community Chef, a 
shared service company owned by sixteen councils to which MRSC is a 
shareholder. A decision to exit the current supply agreement with Community 
Chef may trigger assessment of this shareholder arrangement post July 2020. 
There is medium-level interest by two local agencies/ regional providers to 
provide Food Services – Individual. 
 
Home Maintenance assists clients to maintain their home in a safe and 
habitable condition.  Maintenance services must be linked to assisting clients 
to maintain their independence, safety, accessibility and health and wellbeing 
within the home environment. Home modifications increase and maintain 
levels of independence, safety, accessibility and wellbeing.  
 
These service are important to help older people stay at home. Arguably the 
home maintenance service improves community amenity as our community 
expects homes to be maintained to high standards. Similarly, the service 
supports expectations for community safety as home maintenance helps with 
grass slashing, cleaning of gutters etc.  
 
There is likely to be a growing number of alternative providers in this program 
area, and Council’s market assessment work has identified other agencies 
that are providing, or have an interest in providing, these services. Noting this, 
there is a level of concern about the capability of the market to effectively 
deliver the service if a trusted provider (Council or other) does not take on an 
intermediary role.  
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It is recommended that Council provides notice of its intention to exit these 
services by July 2021. This is a significant lead time noting the need to 
commission an alternate provider, possibly under a different service model. 
 
The rationale includes: 

 Council’s Home Maintenance service is delivered by pre-screened 
contractors. Council plays an intermediary role in the payment of CHSP 
subsidies to providers and is responsible for annual checks to ensure 
contractors have relevant registration, insurance and certificates. Council 
is not the service provider perse, but assumes significant responsibility for 
services provided by contractors in clients’ homes. Unlike other home 
support services provided by Council, contractors do not provide a formal 
role in the holistic care of clients. The Home Maintenance service model is 
relatively high risk and transactional. 

 Home modifications are administered following assessment and referral to 
an Occupational Therapist (Cobaw or Macedon Ranges Health). When 
plans are complete they are issued back to the referrer and Council 
contracts the provision of works.  The administrative steps arguably slow 
down the provision of services to clients. A streamlined administrative 
structure with funding going directly to the assessment agency would 
benefit clients. 

 
Council receives CHSP funding of $93,000 for maintenance and $40,000 for 
home modifications. Council supports 93 clients for home maintenance and 
51 clients for home modifications.  
 
The recommendation to exit these services will provide more effective service 
provision provided under alternative contract administration arrangements. 
 
Officer Declaration of Conflict of Interest: 
 
Section 80C of the Local Government Act 1989 (Act) requires members of 
Council staff, and persons engaged under contract to provide advice to 
Council, to disclose any direct or indirect interest in a matter to which the 
advice relates. 
 
The Council officer involved in the preparation of this report records the 
following conflict of interest; that the future of service delivery management 
will be determined by the pathway chosen for the primary home support 
services and other operational requirements. 
 
Conclusion: 
 
In response to national reform of the aged and disability sectors and following 
analysis of market assessment findings and of individual services, it has been 
found that it not viable to continue to deliver the HACCPYP and some CHSP 
services. 
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It is recommended that Council notify representatives of the State and 
Commonwealth governments of its intention to cease those services which 
are not viable and where we know there are other providers available. The 
transition timeframes have been recommended based on established 
recommissioning timeframes, and to transition clients and support volunteers 
and contractors. A planned transition will ensure people continue to receive 
the services they need and be supported to move to a new provider. Planning 
the implementation will also ensure staff are appropriately supported. 
 
Council will soon begin community consultation to identify the future 
aspirations, needs and priorities for older residents and gather feedback that 
will inform further decision making.  
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14. AO.1  REVIEW OF NATURE STRIP LANDSCAPING POLICY 
 
 Officer: Gary Randhawa, Manager Operations 

Sian Bloom, Landscape Assessment Officer 
 
 File Ref: F4272 
 
 Council Plan Relationship: Relates to priority area: 

Improve the built environment 

  
Attachments:  
1. Nature Strip Landscaping 
Policy  

  2. Nature Strip Landscaping 
Guidelines  

 

 
 Synopsis: 
 

Council resolved at its 22 May 2019 Ordinary Council Meeting: 
 

“That Council defer the Nature Strip Landscaping Policy (the policy) 
for the purposes of: 
1. Reviewing the following areas of the policy: 

a) Allowing more flexibility on the clause 7 requirement for 
entering and exiting vehicles, and 

b) Allowing more flexibility on clause 7 requirement for 
pedestrian access 

2. Reviewing the policy to further consider feedback from submitters; 
and 

3. Reviewing alignment with current Council policies including 
Biodiversity Strategy, Environment Strategy and Climate Change 
Action Plan.” 

 

The Policy has been reviewed pursuant to the resolution and some 
amendments and inclusions have been made. 
 

The Policy is implemented through the Nature Strip Landscape Guidelines 
(the Guidelines) which are attached for information. The Guidelines are not 
intended to be adopted by Council as they are an operational document 
however will be publicly available on Council’s website and at Customer 
Service Centres.  

 
 

Officer Recommendation: 
 
That Council: 
1. Adopt the Nature Strip Landscaping Policy 2019; 

 
2. Refer the introduction of a fee for a Nature Strip Landscaping Permit 

to the 2020/21 budget process; 
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3. Request Officers review the Policy in twelve months and provide 

Council with a briefing on the first year of implementation following 
the review; and 
 

4. Request officers write to submitters, thanking them for their 
submissions and advising them of Council’s decision. 
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Background 
In 2017, Council recognised the opportunity for the community to contribute to 
enhancing the amenity of streetscapes within the shire in response to regular 
requests from residents to landscape their nature strip.  
 
Preparation of the Nature Strip Landscaping Policy commenced in August 
2017, with a survey, in line with the Macedon Ranges Shire Council 
Consultation Framework, released to the community to establish their 
preferences and/or concerns regarding landscaping of nature strips. 
 
The Policy was subsequently developed incorporating the feedback received 
from the community consultation along with contribution from relevant Council 
departments.  
 
Council resolved at its 28 November 2018 Ordinary Council Meeting: 
 

That Council: 
1. Endorse the officer amendment on page 10 the Draft Policy, 

where the last sentence should read ‘Infringements may be 
issued for non-compliance.’ and 

2. Endorse the Draft Nature Strip Landscaping Policy (The 
Policy) for the purpose of public consultation; and 

3. Extend the consultation period beyond what has been 
recommended in the Officer’s report until the end February 
2019; and 

4. Consider the submissions and feedback received from the 
consultation period at the April 2019 Ordinary Council 
meeting. 

 
The Policy was advertised from 4 December 2018 to 28 February 2019 and 
submissions received were considered in finalising the Policy.  
 
Council resolved at its 22 May 2019 Ordinary Council Meeting:  

“That Council defer the Nature Strip Landscaping Policy (the policy) 
for the purposes of: 
1. Reviewing the following areas of the policy: 

a) Allowing more flexibility on the clause 7 requirement for 
entering and exiting vehicles, and 

b) Allowing more flexibility on clause 7 requirement for 
pedestrian access 

2. Reviewing the policy to further consider feedback from submitters; 
and 

3. Reviewing alignment with current Council policies including 
Biodiversity Strategy, Environment Strategy and Climate Change 
Action Plan.” 
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Further review of the Policy 
Officers undertook further consultation with relevant staff and interested 
Councillors to review areas in the Policy.  Various matters were considered in 
determining whether amendments would be made to the Policy pursuant to 
clauses 1(a) and (b), 2 and 3 of the 22 May 2019 Council resolution. 
 
Council Resolution 1a - Clause 7   
Allowing more flexibility on the Clause 7 requirement for entering and exiting 
vehicles.  Officers determined that a minimum of 1 metre is required to allow 
passengers to enter and exit their vehicles safely and for the placement of 
waste and recycling bins. 
 
Therefore no amendments have been made to the wording of clause 7 of the 
policy concerning entering and exiting vehicles.  
 
Council Resolution 1b - Clause 7   
Allowing more flexibility on clause 7 requirement for pedestrian access.   
 
Concern was raised that there was not enough flexibility for landscaping, 
adjacent to properties, for residents with an existing footpath that, in some 
cases, may be metres away from the boundary.  
 
It is important that where no constructed footpath already exists, sufficient 
space must be allowed for consideration of future footpaths and to ensure 
pedestrians are not forced onto the road.  
 
This section of clause 7 has been amended to include: 
 

“Where no existing footpath exists, 1.8 metres from the property 
line is to be kept clear to allow for pedestrian access, mail, paper 
and other deliveries.” 

 
Council Resolution 2 - Reviewing the policy to further consider feedback 
from submitters. 
In discussion with interested Councillors, the following input from submitters 
has been reviewed.   
 

 Concerns about nature strips which have been landscaped prior to the 
development of the Policy and that residents will be required to remove the 
landscaping based on other resident’s perceptions of amenity.  

 
Officers Response: 
Council will not actively inspect and/or retrospectively apply the Policy to 
existing nature strip landscaping, unless it is highlighted as a public safety 
issue, impedes access or impacts on infrastructure and services.  
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It is important to be aware, that up until now, under Council’s General 
Purposes and Amenity Local Law a permit was required to undertake any 
works on a nature strip. 

 

In reviewing this feedback and to provide further clarity, Clause 10 “Failure to 
maintain a nature strip” has been amended as indicated in bold below:  

 
“Council retains the right to request the rectification of a modified or 
landscaped nature strip where a resident fails to maintain it in accordance 
with this policy and the following: 

 the condition of the nature strip is a traffic or pedestrian hazard 

 it does not provide appropriate pedestrian access 

 it is a safety or fire hazard 

 it interferes with the visibility of motorists, cyclists and pedestrians 

at intersections, curves in the road and near driveways 

 it impacts unfavourably and significantly on the local amenity 

as described in Clause 9. 

 it contains noxious or environmental weed species” 

 
Officers will use the points contained in Clause 9, “Maintenance of 
Landscaped Nature Strips” to determine whether a nature strip impacts 
unfavourably and significantly on the local amenity. 

 

 A large number of submissions were received in favour of growing 
vegetables on nature strips. The Draft Policy states at Clause 8.1 
“Appropriate plants” – paragraph 2:  
 

“Planting of vegetables on nature strips is not encouraged as it 
requires materials not suitable near gutters and storm water 
drains. Vegetables also typically require high inputs such as 
irrigation, and fertilisers or pesticides that, after rain, can wash 
into drains and impact on the health of our waterways.” 
 

Officers Response 
While the intent of the explanation was to protect the Shire’s environment, the 
wording could be considered negative and does not recognise those residents 
wishing to grow vegetables on their nature strips in a sustainable way. Clause 
8.1 (paragraph 2) of the Policy has been amended to: 
 

“Residents who wish to grow vegetables on their nature strips as an 
alternative to landscaping are encouraged to in a sustainable way 
that protects the surrounding environment. This can be achieved by 
limiting high inputs such as irrigation, fertilisers or pesticides and 
ensuring materials used are suitable near gutters and storm water 
drains (non-permitted items on nature strips must not be included – 
see 8.4”. 
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Council Resolution 3 - Reviewing alignment with current Council 
policies including Biodiversity Strategy adopted 19 December 2018, 
Environment Strategy adopted 22 June 2016 revised 24 October 2018 
and Climate Change Action Plan adopted 28 June 2017. 
The Biodiversity and Environment Strategies apply in the context of Council’s 
preferred use of locally indigenous plants as described at 8.1 “Appropriate 
plants”.  
 
All three documents relate to the second paragraph of Clause 1 “Policy 
Intent”: 
 
Officer Response 
The Policy has been amended to include the reference to these three 
documents in: 
 

 Related Policies, Strategies and Plans in the table at Page 2. 

 Additionally they have been added to Clause 5.2 Other applicable 
policies and guidelines. 

 
The following Council publications have been included as resources on page 
2 and Sections 8.1 and 8.4. 
 

 Guide to the Weeds of Central Victoria, 2015 and  

 Guide to the Flora of the Macedon Ranges, 2019. 
 

Other Amendments to the Policy 
Additional amendments to the Policy include: 

 
Removal of the following wording at Clause 8.5 “Car parks on nature strips”: 

 

“Where residents wish to construct a parking bay on the nature strip, 
an application must be made to Macedon Ranges Shire Council for 
a permit and a sign must be displayed that permits parking”.  

 

This has been removed as it contradicts State law. 
 

Permit Fees 
It is recommended that a new permit fee for nature strip landscaping be 
referred to the fees and charges for the 2020/21 financial year.  This permit 
fee would be applied under the Local Law for anyone who wanted to carry out 
landscaping outside of the Policy parameters.   
 
In the interim, anyone wishing to obtain a permit to carry out landscaping on 
the nature strip will be referred to the Asset Protection Permit process. 
 



Ordinary Council Meeting – Wednesday, 28 August 2019 

 

Page 137 

14. AO.1  REVIEW OF NATURE STRIP LANDSCAPING POLICY  
(Continued) 

 
Policy Review 
It is recommended that Council review the Policy in twelve months. This will 
allow for the assessment of the effectiveness of the Policy, the number of 
applications for permits received for landscaping outside of the Policy, and 
gain an understanding of any issues with the implementation of the Policy.  

 
Conclusion 
The Nature Strip Landscaping Policy has been reviewed and some further 
amendments have been made. 
 
It is recommended that the Nature Strip Landscaping Policy be adopted and a 
review carried out in twelve months. 
 
Following the review, it is recommended that Officers provide a briefing to 
Councillors on the implementation of the Policy. 
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14. AO.2  ROADSIDE AND FOOTPATH TRADING POLICY 
 
 Officer: Althea Jalbert, Acting Manager Community Safety 
 
 File Ref: F4833 
 
 Council Plan Relationship: Relates to priority area: 

Enhance the social and economic 
environment 
 

Attachment: Roadside and 
Footpath Trading Policy 

 
 Synopsis: 
 

At the Council Meeting on 24 July 2019 Council resolved to: 
“Defer consideration of the Roadside and Footpath Trading 
Policy to the Ordinary Council Meeting on 28 August 2019.” 

 
The General Purpose and Amenity (Amendment) Local Law 2019 was 
adopted at the Ordinary Council Meeting on 24 July 2019, which has enabled 
the adoption of this policy. 
 
Since September 2018 when Council last reviewed this policy, additional 
consultation has occurred with Real Estate Agents in the shire to develop the 
guidelines for the placement of real estate signs on Council land and roads. 
These guidelines have now been incorporated into the policy. Some other 
minor amendments have also been made as a result of the development of 
the General Purpose and Amenity (Amendment) Local Law 2019. 
 
In line with the General Purposes and Amenity (Amendment) Local Law 2019, 
it is recommended guidelines be developed for the permitting of mobile 
trading on Council land and roads with the view to allowing this from 1 July 
2020. 
 
It is also recommended that Council review the fees and charges for permits 
for roadside and footpath trading and introduce revised fees and charges in 
2020/21. 
 
The Roadside and Footpath Trading Policy replaces the 2004 Street Furniture 
Policy and the 2005 Temporary (Real Estate Agents) Sandwich Board Policy. 

 
 
 Officer Recommendation: 
  

That Council: 
1. Adopt the Roadside and Footpath Trading Policy;  
2. Rescind the 2004 Street Furniture Policy and the 2005 Temporary 

(Real Estate Agents) Sandwich Board Policy; and 
3. Review the fees and charges for permits for roadside and footpath 

trading and introduce revised fees and charges in 2020/21. 
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Background 
At the Council Meeting on 22 June 2018 Council resolved to: 

“1. Endorse the Draft Roadside and Footpath Trading Policy for 
the purposes of public consultation for a period of 28 days; 
and  

2. Consider the submissions and feedback received from the 
consultation period at their September 2018 meeting.” 

 
The Draft Policy was intended to replace the Street Furniture Policy adopted 
by Council in 2004. Community consultation was undertaken in accordance 
with Council’s community consultation matrix. 
 
The consultation raised some issues regarding references in Council’s 
General Purposes and Amenity Local Law No. 10 to the Street Furniture 
Policy 2004. At the Council Meeting on 26 September 2018, Council resolved: 

“That Council note the consultation undertaken so far and that 
the matter be brought back to a further Council Meeting before 
February 2019.” 

 
 At the Council Meeting on 19 December 2018 Council resolved: 

“That Council endorse the proposal to amend the General Purposes 
and Amenity Local Law No. 10 specifically in relation to the permit 
requirements for the use of Council land or roads.” 

 
Prior to the July Council meeting, officers were advised by a real estate agent 
that there was a 2005 Council policy, specific to real estate signs.  It was 
recommended that officers review and consider this Policy prior to finalising 
the Roadside and Footpath Trading Policy.  At the Council Meeting on 24 July 
2019 Council resolved: 

“That Council defer consideration of the Roadside and Footpath 
Trading Policy to the Ordinary Council Meeting on 28 August 2019.”  
 

Changes to the draft policy 
Undertaking the amendments for the General Purposes and Amenity Local 
Law has enabled officers to undertake further work on the Roadside and 
Footpath Trading Policy.  Minor changes to the policy have been made as a 
result of the new clauses included in the amending Local Law. These 
generally relate to when items placed on a footpath are permitted under a 
planning permit. The requirement for $20 million public liability insurance was 
also changed to be a minimum of $10 million. This was changed as a result of 
further feedback from businesses and in consultation with Council’s Risk 
Management Unit. 
 
Additionally, a section has now been included in the policy about specific 
guidelines related to the placement of Real Estate Signs on Council land or 
roads. The 2004 Street Furniture Policy referenced that Real Estate Agents 
were required to apply for a permit to place advertising and promotional signs 
on Council land and roads. 
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The 2005 Temporary (Real Estate Agents) Sandwich Board Policy was 
adopted to replace requirements in the 2004 Street Furniture Policy specific to 
real estate signs, however the 2004 Street Furniture Policy was not amended 
and both policies remain in effect.  The two policies conflict with each other 
and neither Policy has been actively enforced. Real Estate Agents were 
subsequently also required to follow some guidelines provided later by 
Council Officers. Feedback from agents across the shire over the last few 
years has indicated the guidelines weren’t working and there was a lack of 
enforcement. Authorised Officers also have had no way of enforcing the 
policies or guidelines as the General Purposes and Amenity Local Law did not 
reference these for real estate signs. 
 
In developing the new guidelines for Real Estate Signs in the Roadside and 
Footpath Trading Policy, officers undertook the following targeted consultation 
during May and June 2019: 

 Developed a survey to help inform the development of the guidelines 
which was distributed to all Real Estate Agents in the Shire and was 
open for three weeks. 

 Sent a follow up email from the Economic Development Unit to 
encourage agents to complete the survey and provide feedback on the 
draft guidelines. 

 Provided all agents with a copy of the draft guidelines and sought their 
feedback on the guidelines over a one week period. 

 Engaged individually with Real Estate Agents who had questions or 
specific feedback. 

 
Surveys were completed by eight Real Estate Agents which represented the 
majority of agencies across the shire. The feedback received from agents 
helped guide development of the draft guidelines. These guidelines were then 
circulated to all agents inviting further feedback. A further four agents 
responded with specific feedback.   
 
The comments from agents included the following key points: 

 Most were supportive of having clear guidelines for all agents to follow 
and improved enforcement. Three of the four agents who commented 
on the draft guidelines were positive about the new guidelines.  

 Some agents cited that safety needed to be considered for pedestrians 
and traffic, and that streets should not be flooded with real estate signs. 
Some wanted pointer boards banned altogether.  

 A couple of agents commented that permits should not be required and 
this was over-bureaucracy by Council.     

 Many said there needed to be further flexibility with the number of signs 
that can be placed out and wanted to place them out the morning of 
inspections or auctions. Agents also wanted increased time after the 
inspection or auction to retrieve the signs.   

 There were a couple comments requesting flexibility with placing flags 
out on the property advertising board the morning of inspections or 
auctions. 
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 There was mixed reaction to what type of fee structure should be 
introduced with some opposing any fees at all.   

 
All comments, feedback, and discussions were considered in finalising the 
guidelines included in the policy. Further discussions about ‘pointer boards’ 
specifically identified conflicting interpretations of the term, so clearer plain 
language terminology has replaced industry terminology in the guidelines.  In 
2019/20 it is recommended that Real Estate Agents be required to apply for a 
permit, however a fee will not be introduced until 2020/21. 
 
Implementation of the Policy 
Council officers will develop an implementation plan to support businesses to 
comply with the new policy. Some businesses will need to make changes to 
the way they have been placing items on the footpath and also the types of 
furniture they have been using in order to comply with the requirements of this 
policy. The approach will be to educate first and to assist businesses to 
comply.  

 
An initial emphasis will be placed on ensuring the pedestrian zone is free of 
any items, that clear and safe access is maintained at all times and ensuring 
businesses have current public liability insurance. Businesses that do not 
have current public liability insurance will not be able to place items on the 
footpath or roadside. Depending on the type of non-compliance, businesses 
may be given up to three months to comply with the requirements of this 
policy. 
 
A new schedule of fees that better reflects the requirements of the new policy, 
as well as the variety and volume of items that businesses want to place on 
the footpath or roadside will be referred to the 2020/21 budget process. 
 
Officers will also develop a permit system including appropriate fees and 
guidelines for mobile traders on Council land or roads. It is proposed that 
mobile trading be permitted on Council land and roads from 1 July 2020. 

 
 Conclusion 

The Roadside and Footpath Trading Policy has been developed to better 
reflect contemporary business practices and ensure clear and consistent 
processes in assessing permit applications for roadside and footpath trading 
in the municipality.  
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 Officer: Gary Randhawa, Manager Operations 
 
 File Ref: F4637 
 
 Council Plan Relationship: Relates to priority area: 

Protect the natural environment 
 

  Attachment:  Project 
Implementation Summary  

 
 Summary: 
 

Council provides a range of integrated waste and resource recovery services 
to its community. The recent closure of Council’s recycling processor, SKM, 
means that kerbside commingled recyclables are currently being diverted to 
landfill. 
 
The current recycling crisis impacting Victoria provides opportunities for 
Council to implement innovative and beneficial solutions for its community. 
The crisis has also provided Council with the opportunity to reconsider its role 
in contributing to the development of a secure circular economy across the 
state.   
 
A number of options to secure the collection and processing of recyclable 
material have been identified and are presented in this report. Options have 
been assessed for their ability to achieve the benefits sought, potential dis-
benefits, financial implications, ease of implementation, and level of risk. 

 
 
 Officer Recommendation: 
 

That Council: 
 

1. Endorse the recommendation to implement Option 3, ‘Introduction of 
glass collection and recycling services’ for residents as outlined in 
this report; 
 

2. Approve the allocation and use of $505,000 from the 2018/19 budget 
surplus to implement stage 1 of the project to cover temporary higher 
landfill costs, engage staff resources, fund communication material, 
and install public place glass collection skip bins in suitable 
locations across the shire; 

 
3. Endorse the recommendation for officers to commence a feasibility 

study into the development of recycling sorting and processing 
infrastructure in the shire; 
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4. Endorse officers to commence discussions with other regional 
councils and the State Government to investigate funding and 
partnership opportunities for new recycling services and 
infrastructure; and 
 

5. Receive a Project Progress Report in October 2019 that includes: 

 preliminary glass collection trial findings; 

 feasibility study update; 

 costings for stages 2 and 3 of the project, including options to 
fund a fourth-bin system; and 

 an update on funding opportunities available under the 
Government’s rebate to councils affected by the closure of SKM. 
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1. Background 
 
1.1   Macedon Ranges Shire Council Waste Management Strategy 2015-  

 2020 
Council provides a range of integrated waste and resource recovery services 
to its community. Council’s Waste Management Objectives are articulated in 
the Macedon Ranges Shire Council Waste Management Strategy 2015-2020.  
 
The objectives are to: 
1. Deliver affordable, efficient, productive and coordinated waste and 

resource recovery systems and services 
2. Empower and involve the community in reducing waste and litter, and 

increasing reuse and recovery 
3. Protect the amenity of townships and landscapes for current and future 

generations through clean and litter-free spaces 
 

The objectives are supported by six underlying principles to guide 
implementation, which are to:  
1. Provide a mix of affordable and accessible waste and recycling services 

and programs 
2. Share responsibility and integrate waste and resource recovery into 

policies, systems and communications 
3. Recognise the current and future true cost of resources and waste 

(economic, environmental and social) 
4. Manage different ‘waste’ streams as resources for specific markets 
5. Practice evidenced based decision making 
6. Show leadership in planning and delivering services to create a strong, 

sustainable, resilient community and economy 
 
Historically, the services provided to the community have resulted in reliable 
and sustainable solutions to manage waste and resource recovery in the 
Shire. 
 
1.2   Recycling Industry Update 
On 25 July 2019, Council’s recycling processor, SKM Recycling, announced 
the closure of its materials recovery facilities (MRFs) following ongoing 
scrutiny from EPA Victoria of SKM’s large-scale stockpiling of mixed 
recyclable materials. On 2 August 2019 Victoria’s Supreme Court declared 
SKM insolvent after it failed to repay significant debts owed to creditors.  
 
The closure of SKM has had a direct impact on Council’s ability to deliver a 
reliable, cost-effective and sustainable kerbside recycling service to its 
community. In the 12 months prior to August 2019, Council delivered 
approximately 4,500 tonnes of kerbside commingled recycling to SKM.  
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However, Council, along with approximately 30 other Victorian councils, can 
no longer send its kerbside recyclables to SKM as a result of the closure.  
 
Prior to its closure, SKM processed approximately 50% of the state’s 
municipal recycling stream. Polytrade and Visy, operating Victoria’s remaining 
Material Recovery Facilities (MRFs), were processing the bulk of the 
remaining 50% at their respective sites. Australian Paper Recovery (APR) also 
operate a sorting facility at Truganina. The APR sorting process is claimed to 
result in higher grade materials that are reprocessed within Australia. However, 
APR have a strict ‘no glass’ policy as glass reduces the overall value and 
recycling potential of the other recyclable materials.  

 
Glass has also been a major contributor to the stockpiling and lack of end 
markets for the state’s recyclables. As glass is compacted during the 
collection process, it breaks and embeds itself in the paper, cardboard, plastic 
and aluminium material which in turn lowers the value of the material as a 
whole, as it can no longer be used for packaging of consumer or food 
products. In addition, existing MRFs cannot process glass fines (crushed 
glass) because the material is too small and cannot be colour sorted. 

 
In May 2019 Council submitted a response to Victorian Parliament 
Environment and Planning Committee’s inquiry into recycling and waste 
management. The submission noted that urgent investment in resource 
recovery infrastructure across the state is required. 
 
The ongoing disruption to recycling services across the state has reduced 
community confidence in the ability of state and local governments to manage 
the community’s waste and resource recovery needs and expectations.  
 
1.3 The Circular Economy 
The Victorian Government is developing a circular economy policy and action 
plan in response to recent events impacting the waste and resource recovery 
sector. The Policy is due for release in late 2019. 
 
For the purpose of implementing the Policy, the Victorian Government has 
adopted the following ‘Circular Economy’ definition: 
 

A circular economy continually seeks to reduce the environmental impacts 
of production and consumption and gain more productive use from natural 
resources.  
 
Resource use is minimised, and waste and pollution are avoided with good 
design and efficient practices. This reduces environmental impacts while 
maintaining or increasing the value people obtain from goods and services. 
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Products are designed so that they are durable and can be readily repaired, 
reused and recycled at the end of their lives.  
 
Business models encourage intense and efficient product use, like sharing 
products between multiple users, or supplying a product as a service that 
includes maintenance, repair and disposal. 
 
Innovations to increase resource productivity bring a range of benefits 
including jobs, growth and social inclusion to local, regional and global 
economies. 
 

 
The following diagram has been developed by the Department of 
Environment, Land, Waste and Planning to support the Policy: 
 

 
It is anticipated that this Policy, once implemented, will inform the 
development and objectives of Council’s next Waste Management Strategy, to 
be prepared in 2020. 
 
In addition to state policy, at the most recent Council of Australian 
Governments meeting, the Prime Minister acknowledged that recyclable 
waste is a national issue, as well as an opportunity to rebuild a domestic 
recycling sector that can provide products to local markets. Government will 
consider targets to drive investment in end uses, such as glass for road base 
and railway sleepers made from plastics. 
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2. Current Status 
 

2.1 Recycling services 
Since the closure of SKM on 25 July 2019, Council’s kerbside recycling was 
stored at Four Seasons Waste’s facility at 83 Edgecombe Road, Kyneton. The 
facility had the capacity to store approximately 14 days of material. As of 10 
August 2019 Council is now directing its kerbside recycling to Melbourne 
Regional Landfill (MRL), operated by Cleanaway.  
 
Council officers and Council’s waste contractor, Four Seasons Waste, have 
been in ongoing discussions with Visy and Polytrade to secure an alternative 
recycling processor. Polytrade has advised that Councils wishing to deliver 
their recyclables to its MRFs would need to enter into a 2-year minimum 
contract term. Visy had advised of a minimum contract term of 4 years.  
 
Further advice received from the Loddon Mallee Waste and Resource 
Recovery Group is that, without a contract in place, Polytrade is no longer 
accepting any additional comingled recycling materials at any of its Victorian 
MRFs. However, it will accept source-separated material and it is currently 
taking separated glass from Council’s glass collection trial. 

 
2.2 Glass collection trial 
A household glass collection trial for 800 properties is currently underway in 
Lancefield to determine the effectiveness of the removal of glass from the 
commingled and waste streams. The trial provides residents with a 140L bin 
for glass collection, to be collected every four weeks. The trial will run until the 
end of January 2020 with preliminary audit results available in November. The 
results of the trial will be important in assessing the viability of options 
presented in this report. Factors to consider will be the level of participation, 
degree of contamination in both the glass and comingled recycling bins and 
overall community acceptance of an additional bin service. 

 
In early August 2019 the CEO introduced an interim option asking residents to 
remove glass from the commingled recycling bin. Residents have been asked 
to take their glass to Transfer Stations or as last resort place the glass in their 
waste bin.  
 
3. Opportunities 

 
The current recycling crisis has identified opportunities for Council to 
implement innovative and beneficial solutions for its community. Opportunities 
include the introduction of new ways to collect and process recyclables, the 
development of infrastructure to achieve beneficial outcomes for new 
services, and opportunities to access funding to support new initiatives. 
 
 



Ordinary Council Meeting – Wednesday, 28 August 2019 

 

Page 148 

14. AO.3  KERBSIDE RECYCLING OPTIONS ANALYSIS (Continued) 
 
3.1 New Services 
Opportunity exists for Council to improve recovery outcomes by putting 
measures in place to ensure that glass is collected separately to the other 
recyclables. According to Council’s most recent waste audit in December 2018, 
glass accounted for almost 31% of the commingled stream and approximately 
4% of the residual garbage bin by weight. 

 
Glass in the comingled recycling stream has been a problem for some time, 
however the state’s main recycling processors have failed to address the 
issue. If glass can be removed from the commingled recycling stream, there is 
potential to improve the value and recycling potential of both the separated 
glass and the remaining recycled material. This would open up options to 
work directly with collection contractors and recovery facilities to ensure 
materials are processed locally and used in Australian end-markets.  
 
Sustainability Victoria’s Statewide Waste and Resource Recovery 
Infrastructure Plan (2018) identifies Owens Illinois (OI), based in metropolitan 
Melbourne, as the only site in Victoria that uses recovered glass to produce 
container glass, using 38% recycled glass to manufacture its products. A 
range of other facilities, including Alex Fraser, also use glass fines to make 
sand replacement products. These glass fines are unable to be recycled using 
traditional methods as the particles are too small to colour sort at MRFs. The 
glass fines are processed into sands and used to develop road base, asphalt, 
concrete and pipe bedding.  
 
3.2 Infrastructure 
The current crisis has also provided Council with the opportunity to consider 
its role in contributing to the development of a secure circular economy across 
the state. The Shire is strategically located as a gateway region between 
Metropolitan Melbourne and regional Councils located in Central and Northern 
Victoria. The feasibility of local infrastructure solutions within the Shire that will 
expand sorting and processing capability across the state and service both 
the needs of regional and metropolitan councils should be investigated.  
 
Council (pending the approval of requested financial support from the 2018/19 
budget surplus) will have some capacity to begin a preliminary infrastructure 
feasibility study in house. Officers will also investigate whether the recent 
funding announcement by the State Government includes the funding of such 
studies and if so, seek additional funds to support this project. Any potential 
infrastructure solutions at the scale required are likely beyond the resources of 
Council to fund. Council should therefore seek to partner with other councils 
within the region to consider opportunities to boost local social and economic 
development via this initiative. Partnership opportunities should be investigated 
with all levels of government, including Sustainability Victoria and the 
Department of Environment, Land, Water, and Planning. Opportunities to 
partner with private enterprise may exist and should also be explored. 
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Project partners can collectively advocate to other levels of government to seek 
funds to develop a detailed feasibility study that will determine the viability of 
any potential large-scale infrastructure development within the Shire. Funding 
options for infrastructure development should also be explored.  
 
3.3 Funding 
On 13 August 2019 the Labor Government announced it will deliver a 
$6.6million package to Councils affected by the closure of SKM over the next 
four months. The funds will provide a rebate to cover the additional costs 
incurred to deal with recyclable waste. Officers will investigate eligibility and 
monitor access requirements.  
 
Opportunities may exist for Council to partner with other government agencies 
to develop local infrastructure and advocate to access funds held in the 
Sustainability Fund, which currently holds more than $500million. It is not yet 
clear whether the Government will announce a new (fifth) round of grants from 
the Resource Recovery Infrastructure Fund to support projects that will 
improve the quality of recycled materials through better sorting and 
processing. Council officers will continue to monitor announcements. 
 
It is possible that a local infrastructure project could be funded under Regional 
Development Victoria’s Regional Jobs and Infrastructure Fund, which is the 
Victorian Government’s overarching regional development package focusing 
on major projects, employment and communities. Whilst resource recovery 
infrastructure is not identified as a key funded sector, this option should not be 
discounted and should be further investigated as a potential funding pathway. 

 
4. Options Analysis 

 
Council officers have considered a range of solutions to address waste and 
resource recovery issues impacting Council, the community and the waste 
and resource recovery industry more broadly.  
 

A range of benefits were identified and considered when assessing the 
options presented: 

 Alignment to Council’s Waste Strategy Objectives and Principles and 
broader government objectives 

 Security of ongoing collection service for residents for the commingled 
recyclables stream 

 Long-term financial certainty for Council and ratepayers 

 Ability to positively impact community confidence in Council’s ability to 
deliver effective recycling services 

 Improved environmental outcomes for commingled recyclables 

 Fostering a viable local recycling industry 

 Contribution to the development of a circular economy 
 
The options identified by Council Officers are presented in this report for 
discussion.  
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4.1 Overview 
Three options are presented in this report for analysis and discussion.  
 
Option 1. Recycling to landfill 
Under this option kerbside recycling bins are collected as per the current 
schedule and taken to Melbourne Regional Landfill (MRL) for disposal. No 
resource recovery is undertaken. This option is currently being exercised as 
an interim arrangement whilst Council consider this report. Council has used 
the media to encourage residents to take their glass recycling to a transfer 
station.No additional lead time is required. 

 
Option 2. Recycling to alternative MRF 
Kerbside commingled recycling material is sent to an MRF operated by either 
Visy or Polytrade. Recyclables are diverted to landfill until contract 
arrangements are in place. Lead time to secure an agreement with Visy or 
Polytrade is anticipated to take up to 3 months. A contract would need to be 
established between Four Seasons and Visy and/or Polytrade to receive 
materials at their sites. This arrangement would severely limit Council’s ability 
to pursue interim innovative solutions. 

 
Option 3. Introduction of a glass collection and recycling service 
Glass is removed from the comingled kerbside recycling bin. Kerbside 
recycling is diverted to landfill until delivery arrangements for non-glass 
recyclables are in place and a suitable glass re-processor is engaged. Skip 
bins are installed at suitable public locations and a household glass collection 
service is implemented. A comprehensive public education campaign is 
delivered to support community uptake and changes to separation practices. 
An infrastructure feasibility study for the shire is also completed. Staged 
implementation is required. Total implementation time is expected to be 12 
months, including project evaluation.  
 
A summary of each stage of Option 3 is provided below. A project 
implementation summary for Option 3 is also attached with this report. 

 
Stage 1. (0-6 months)  
Glass is removed from household commingled recycling bins and public place 
glass collection bins are installed. Staff resources are engaged and a project 
plan and comprehensive community education campaign are developed. 
Community consultation will also form part of this stage to gain feedback from 
the community about future services. Commingled recycling is diverted to 
landfill during Stage 1, other than glass that is diverted to transfer stations by 
residents. A project progress report is delivered to Council and preliminary 
findings from the glass trial and feasibility study are presented. Further 
investigation of costings for stages 2 and 3 are also developed and presented 
to Council for consideration and approval.  
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Stage 2. (3-6 months)  
Diversion of kerbside recycling to landfill ceases and delivery of non-glass 
kerbside recycling commences. Glass will be delivered to a glass re-processor 
or an alternative MRF if volumes are low. A Progress Report, final glass trial 
results, and final infrastructure feasibility study are presented to Council. 

 
Stage 3. (6 months) 
This stage sees the introduction of a kerbside glass collection bin for 
households. Non-glass recyclables will be delivered to a recycling processor 
and glass will be delivered to an alternative MRF or glass re-processor for 
recovery. It is intended to commence this service concurrently with the 
introduction of the Food Organics Garden Organics (FOGO) service in 
February 2020. A project evaluation will be conducted. 
 
4.2 Options assessment criteria 
Options have been assessed for their ability to achieve the benefits sought, 
potential dis-benefits, ease of implementation, level of risk and the financial 
implications associated with each proposed solution. Financial implications 
are discussed in detail in Section 4.4.  
 
4.3 Results and discussion 
This section contains an assessment and discussion of the proposed options 
against the options assessment criteria. 
 
4.3.1 Benefits and dis-benefits 
Alignment to Council’s Waste Strategy Objectives and Principles and broader 
government objectives 
 
Option 1 does not align with Council’s waste and resource recovery objectives 
or those of the government more broadly. This option fails to recognise the 
current and future true cost of resources and waste and does not foster 
growth in the resource recovery sector. It fails to show leadership in delivering 
sustainable waste and resource recovery outcomes for the community.  
 
Recyclable material is processed under Option 2 as per practices that align 
with Council’s Waste and Resource Recovery Objectives and Principles.  
 
Option 3 best aligns with Council’s Waste Strategy objectives and principles 
and provides a mix of affordable and accessible waste and recycling services 
and programs. This option supports the principles of a circular economy by 
implementing new and better ways to manage recyclables and waste streams 
as resources for specific markets. It practices evidence-based decision 
making informed by results from the glass collection trial, and the 
development of a feasibility study.  
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It seeks to share responsibility of waste and resource recovery by identifying 
opportunities to partner with government and industry to deliver initiatives and 
explore infrastructure options within the Shire. This option shows leadership in 
planning and delivering services to create a strong, sustainable, resilient 
community and economy, and recognises the current and future true cost of 
resources and waste. 
 
Security of ongoing collection service for residents for the commingled 
recyclables stream 
 
All options secure the collection of recyclables for residents, but not all options 
secure the recovery of these materials.  
 
Option 1 secures collection and disposal of kerbside commingled recycling 
bins. However, it does not secure processing of recyclable materials and long-
term capacity at landfilling sites is uncertain.  
 
An ongoing recycling service is secured in Option 2 short to medium term if 
council enters into either a two or four-year contract with an alternative MRF. 
Recyclable materials will be disposed at landfill while contracts are agreed. 
This locks Council into a solution that is unlikely to provide long term certainty 
and will not encourage innovation. 
 
Option 3 secures an ongoing collection service for commingled recycling for 
residents and expands collection services for glass and non-glass recyclables. 
This option seeks to identify ways to expand services for the co-mingled 
recycling stream.  
 
Service cost stability for Council and ratepayers 
 
Cost stability to Council and ratepayers in Option 1 is low as costs are 
forecast to increase in line with pending increases to the landfill levy, and 
increased waiting time costs at MRL 
 
Cost stability to Council and ratepayers is moderate in Option 2, offering some 
cost stability of up to four years. Both options 1 and 2 fail to see cost 
reductions overtime and both options attract a significantly higher cost than 
previous recycling services.  
 
Option 3 provides moderate to high cost stability to Council and ratepayers by 
establishing cost-effective arrangements with alternative recycling processors  
and glass re-processors that are similar to, or lower than, previous costs to 
deliver to SKM. This option is supported by a range of solutions to improve 
diversion rates of recyclables over time and is likely to see costs to ratepayers 
remain stable or decrease over time.  
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Ability to positively impact community confidence in Council’s ability to deliver 
effective recycling services 
 
Option 1 is unlikely to attract community support. This option incurs significant 
charges over and above previous recycling charges and no environmental 
benefit is realised.  
 
Option 2 is likely to gain moderate support from the community, the 
community’s appetite to pay significantly more for an identical service to that 
provided by SKM is likely to be low. 
 
Option 3 is likely to attract a high degree of community support. It exhibits 
Council leadership in planning and delivering waste and resourcing recovery 
services to the community that will result in local economic benefit, improved 
environmental outcomes and anticipated lower costs to residents over time.  
 
Improved environmental outcomes for commingled recyclables 
 
Option 1 sees reduced environmental outcomes over previous recycling 
practices. Landfilling has long been recognised as the worst outcome for 
material with recycling potential. Landfilling significantly inhibits the recovery 
and reuse potential of recyclable materials and fails to realise their opportunity 
cost by permanently locking away valuable resources. Landfilling contributes 
to greenhouse gas emissions, results in leachate and can release other toxins 
into the environment. 
 
Option 2 results in moderate environmental outcomes. Recyclable materials 
are sent to MRFs, however, materials are likely to be low-grade because 
glass is compacted during the collection process, breaking and embedding 
itself in paper, cardboard, plastic and aluminium material.  This can no longer 
be recycled and used for packaging of consumer or food products. 
 
Option 3 provides the best environmental outcomes for recyclables. It 
improves environmental outcomes for commingled recycling by removing 
glass from the commingled stream, thereby improving the value and recycling 
potential of both the separated glass and the remaining recycled material. 
Carbon emissions are reduced because glass-out recyclables can be 
compacted further during collection which will increase the haulage capacity 
of the collection vehicles.  

 
Fostering a viable local recycling industry 
 
Option 1 fails to foster a viable local recycling industry by sending valuable 
recyclable materials to landfill ongoing. On 13 August 2019, Prime Minister 
Scott Morrison announced the Government’s commitment of $20M to work 
with the states to establish a timetable to ban the export of waste plastic, 
paper, glass and tyres. 
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Option 2 supports the existing recycling industry by sending all recycling 
material to Visy and Polytrade or another viable supplier.  However, while 
material is sorted and processed in Australia, the majority of material is re-
processed offshore. Improved environmental outcomes for commingled 
recyclables are not realised as broken glass in the recycling stream mixes and 
embeds with other material resulting in low-grade recyclable product.  This 
increases the likelihood that large-scale stockpiling will also occur at these 
sites.  
 
Option 3 fosters a viable local recycling industry by minimising the risk of 
stockpiling at alternative MRFs and identifying and supporting new markets for 
re-processed glass. This option will also expand the state’s resource recovery 
network if local infrastructure options are feasible and can be developed. 
 
4.3.2 Implementation 
Option 1 requires the lowest effort to implement and no lead time is required. 
This is because arrangements to deliver commingled recyclables to landfill are 
already in place.  
 
Option 2 requires low to medium effort to implement. Lead time to secure an 
agreement with Visy or Polytrade is anticipated to take up to 3 months. A 
contract would need to be established between Four Seasons and Visy and/or 
Polytrade to receive materials at their sites.  
 
Option 3 requires the greatest level of effort to implement because it 
incorporates a range of strategic solutions. However, the proposed staged 
approach to implementation alleviates the extent of overall effort associated 
with this option. Successful implementation of Option 3 is highly dependent on 
securing financial resources to commence Stage 1. 
 

4.3.3 Risks 
Risk ratings for Option 1 are high. Reputational risk is likely to be high 
because the community loses confidence in Council to deliver effective 
recycling service. Financial risk and service risk are also high because of 
significant long-term cost uncertainty associated with gate fee increases, 
increased waiting time costs, the pending increase of the EPA landfill levy, 
and lack of capacity certainty at landfilling sites. These risks are beyond 
Council’s control. 
 
Option 2 has a moderate risk rating. Reputational risk and financial risk are 
moderate as this option re-implements previous recycling practices, however, 
at a higher service cost to residents. Service risk is moderate as capacity at 
MRFs is not secure and delivery to these sites may increase the likelihood 
that large-scale stockpiling occurs. Financial and service risks can be 
mitigated by securing contracts with MRFs for up to four years. 
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Option 3 has a low to moderate risk rating. Reputational risk is low to 
moderate as residents are likely to benefit from the new service. Service risk 
is moderate if community uptake of the service is poor and the contamination 
of non-glass recyclables is high. Financial risks are low to moderate if contract 
arrangements take longer than anticipated to implement or cannot be agreed 
and alternative arrangements are required. Both financial and service risks will 
be mitigated if adequate resources are provided to deliver stage 1 of the 
project; sound governance, risk and reporting measures are in place, and; a 
comprehensive community education campaign is implemented.  
 
4.4 Financial Implications: 
This section of the report outlines financial implications for each of the 
considered options. Council Officers are seeking the approval of funds from 
the 2018/19 budget surplus to commence implementation. 

 
Option 1 Recycling to Landfill 
The total Year 1 cost for this service is projected to be $811,800. This 
represents a projected cost increase of $428,450 from the current 2019/20 
budget based on current known costs 
 
The annual cost assumes a $150/tonne disposal cost at MRL. The disposal 
cost is higher than the current $123/tonne gate fee for municipal solid waste 
as comingled recycling attracts a higher disposal rate due to the delivery of 
lower density material (compared with general waste). Waiting time costs 
incurred by the collection contractor are anticipated to rise due to increased 
truck movements at MRL. There is no increase in haulage rates to deliver to 
MRL.  
 
Total Year 1 estimated costs include: 

- Disposal cost $676,500 
- Haulage cost $112,750 
- Waiting cost (assumes 50% of loads) $22,550 

Total $811,800 
 

The EPA landfill levy is predicted to increase significantly in the next financial 
year to bring Victoria’s levy in line with those of neighbouring states. This 
would see landfill disposal costs increase to a level that cannot be estimated 
at this time.  
 
Option 2 - Recycling to an alternative MRF  
Gate fees to deliver comingled recyclables to alternative MRFs range from 
$150-200 per tonne. The total additional  cost increase for the remainder of 
2019/20 will be from a lower estimate of $411,538 to an upper estimate 
$631,400.  

 
This option includes a contingency to deliver recyclable material to MRL for 3 
months ($202,950) until a formal arrangement is in place with an alternative 
MRF. This option assumes no change in haulage rate to an alternative MRF. 
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Option 3 – Introduction of a glass collection and recycling service 
Stage 1.  
The Stage 1 implementation budget is $505,000. This includes a total service 
cost increase of $214,500 from 1 August 2019 to 31 January 2020. Stage 1 
costs include: 

 

Item Cost 
Estimate 

- contingency to deliver recyclables to MRL for 6 
months  

$214,500 

- Resource Recovery Project Officer and a Resource 
Recovery Communications Officer (1 September 2019 
to 30 June 2020) 

$203,000 

- public place glass skip bin installation and collection $37,500 

- communication and education material for residents $30,000 

- feasibility study into local facility $20,000 

Total*: $505,000 
* Costs do not include additional administrative support to be funded through existing 
budgets.  
* Costs do not assume any grant funding which will be sought when further information 
from relevant programs are released. 

 
Stages 2 & 3. 
Complete stage 2 & 3 budgets cannot be confirmed at this time; however, a 
high-level estimate is provided. Further investigation of budget implications for 
Stages 2 and 3 will be completed and presented to Council for review and 
approval as part of Stage 1 reporting. The report will also include an update 
on rebates available to Council under the recent government funding 
announcement. 
 
The results of the glass trial will be important in assessing the financial 
viability of this option. Factors to consider will be the level of community 
participation, degree of contamination in both the glass and comingled 
recycling bins and overall community acceptance of an additional bin service. 
Further discussion is also required to engage a suitable glass re-processor. 
Estimated Stage 2 and 3 costs include: 
 

Item Cost 
Estimate 

- Disposal and haulage costs  (6 months)* $134,173 

- Disposal of glass at an alternative site** $152,213 

- Purchase of glass bins (20,000)*** $870,000 

- Glass bin pick ups TBD 

Total: $1,156,386 
* Assumes 70% current tonnages and haulage costs remain at $25/tonne 
**Assumes 30% current tonnages and maximum gate fee cost to dispose at MRF 
*** Assumes 50% uptake. An options analysis will be completed in Stage 1 
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Enquiries indicate that the rate for processing glass-free comingled recycling 
is $60/tonne. This is equivalent to Council’s most recent rate for deliveries to 
SKM. The service cost to deliver to another recycling processor is expected to 
be lower than SKM, as glass removed from recycling bins will lower both bin 
weight and volume. Loads delivered to the recycling processor exceeding 2% 
contamination will be diverted to landfill at a rate to be determined. 
 
An options analysis will be completed in Stage 1 to determine whether glass 
bins are rolled out universally. Additional bin pick-up costs will also be 
determined during Stage 1.  

 
Funding for Stage 1 is sought from the 2018/19 budget surplus. Given the 
timing of the Labor Government’s recent announcement of a funding package 
to Councils affected by the closure of SKM, officers will continue to investigate 
eligibility requirements and report back to Council with necessary updates. 
 
5. Conclusion 

 
The current recycling crisis has identified opportunities for Council to 
implement innovative and beneficial solutions for its community which align 
with Macedon Ranges Shire Council Waste Strategy 2015-2020. The 
solutions also align with the current state and federal government waste and 
resource recovery direction towards a circular economy for waste and 
resource recovery. 
 
This report has presented a range of options for analysis and recommends 
that Option 3 provides the most beneficial outcome for Council and the 
community. The introduction of a glass collection and recycling service within 
the Shire will significantly improve the recovery potential of recyclable 
materials and displays Council leadership in planning and delivering services 
to create a strong, sustainable, resilient community and economy.  
 
Project risks will be mitigated if adequate resources are provided to deliver 
stage 1 of the project; sound governance, risk and reporting measures are in 
place, and; a comprehensive community education campaign is implemented.  
 
Staged implementation of Option 3 will ensure that costs can be effectively 
managed and Council will continue to be informed of and make critical 
decisions regarding project direction. 
 
The total budget sought from surplus funds from the 2018/19 financial year for 
Option 3 Stage 1 implementation is $505,000. This includes a total service 
cost increase of $214,500 from 1 August 2019 to 31 January 2020. Stage 2 
and 3 of Option 3 will incorporate the commencement of deliveries to an 
alternative recycling processor and the purchase and pick-up of kerbside 
glass bins for residents. Early cost estimate is that Option 3 will result in lower 
ongoing costs than those incurred in Options 1 or 2. 
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If local infrastructure options are found to be feasible, this would expand the 
resource recovery network across the state and enhance local economic 
outcomes for the shire. It is recommended that partnerships for potential 
infrastructure development are explored further with other councils and the 
State Government. Opportunities to access funding initiatives should also be 
explored.  
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Notice of Motion No. 1/2019-20 – Councillor Janet Pearce 
 

That Council write to The Hon. Gabrielle Williams (Minister for Youth), 
The Hon. Martin Foley (Minister for Mental Health) and Penny Armytage 
(Chair of the Royal Commission into Victoria’s Mental Health System) to: 
1. Express Council’s support for the focus in the National Action on 

mental health education for the ‘middle years’; 
2. Inform them of Council’s initiative ‘Live4Life Primary’ being an 

extension of our award-winning Live4Life program, to develop a 
model that delivers mental health education to Grade 5/6 students 
across the Macedon Ranges, as well as their families and schools; 
and 

3. Invite the Ministers and the Chair of Victoria’s Royal Commission 
into Mental Health to come to Macedon Ranges to learn more about 
the Live4Life Primary program. 

 
 
16. URGENT AND OTHER BUSINESS 
 

In accordance with Council's Local Law No. 11 Meeting Procedure, business 
which has not been listed on the Agenda may only be raised as urgent or 
other business by resolution agreed by Council. 

 
 
17. CONFIDENTIAL REPORTS 
  

 17.1 Daylesford Macedon Tourism update 
 
 





 

 

18.   DIVISION 1A – CONDUCT AND INTERESTS 

 

76B.  Primary principle of Councillor conduct 

It is a primary principle of Councillor conduct that, in performing the role of a Councillor, a Councillor 

must— 

(a) act with integrity; and 

(b) impartially exercise his or her responsibilities in the interests of the local community; and 

(c) not improperly seek to confer an advantage or disadvantage on any person. 

 

76BA.  General Councillor conduct principles 

In addition to acting in accordance with the primary principle of Councillor conduct specified in 

section 76B, in performing the role of a Councillor, a Councillor must— 

(a)  avoid conflicts between his or her public duties as a Councillor and his or her personal 

interests and obligations; 

(b)  act honestly and avoid statements (whether oral or in writing) or actions that will or are likely 

to mislead or deceive a person; 

(c)  treat all persons with respect and have due regard to the opinions, beliefs, rights and 

responsibilities of other Councillors, Council staff and other persons; 

(d)  exercise reasonable care and diligence and submit himself or herself to the lawful scrutiny that 

is appropriate to his or her office; 

(e)  endeavour to ensure that public resources are used prudently and solely in the public interest; 

(f)  act lawfully and in accordance with the trust placed in him or her as an elected representative; 

(g)  support and promote these principles by leadership and example and act in a way that secures 

and preserves public confidence in the office of Councillor. 

 

76C.  Councillor Code of Conduct 

(1)  A Council must develop and approve a Councillor Code of Conduct for the Council within 12 

months after the commencement of section 15 of the Local Government Amendment 

(Councillor Conduct and Other Matters) Act 2008. 

(2)   A Council must review the Councillor Code of Conduct within the period of 12 months after a 

general election. 

(3)  A Councillor Code of Conduct— 

(a)  must include the Councillor conduct principles; 

(b)  may set out processes for the purpose of resolving an internal dispute between 

Councillors; 

(d)  must include provisions in respect of any matter prescribed for the purpose of this 

section; 

(e)  may include any other matters relating to the conduct of Councillors which the 

Council considers  appropriate. 

 

(5)  A Councillor Code of Conduct must not be inconsistent with any Act or regulation. 

(5A)  A Councillor Code of Conduct is inoperative to the extent that it is inconsistent with any Act 

or regulation. 

(6)  A copy of the current Councillor Code of Conduct must be— 

(a)  given to each Councillor; 

(b)  available for inspection by the public at the Council office and any district offices. 

(7)  On and from the commencement of section 15 of the Local Government Amendment 

(Councillor Conduct and Other Matters) Act 2008, a Councillor Code of Conduct is taken 

to include the Councillor conduct principles. 

 

76D.  Misuse of position 

(1)  A person who is, or has been, a Councillor or member of a special committee must not misuse 

his or her position— 

(a)  to gain or attempt to gain, directly or indirectly, an advantage for themselves or for 

any other person; or 

(b)  to cause, or attempt to cause, detriment to the Council or another person. 

Penalty: 600 penalty units or imprisonment for 5 years or both. 

(2)  For the purposes of this section, circumstances involving the misuse of a position by a person 

who is, or has been, a Councillor or member of a special committee include— 

(a)  making improper use of information acquired as a result of the position he or she 

held or holds; or 

(b)  disclosing information that is confidential information within the meaning of section 

77(2); or  



 

 

(c)  directing or improperly influencing, or seeking to direct or improperly influence, a 

member of Council staff in contravention of section 76E; or 

(d)  exercising or performing, or purporting to exercise or perform, a power, duty or 

function that he or she is not authorised to exercise or perform; or 

(e)  using public funds or resources in a manner that is improper or unauthorised; or 

(f)  failing to disclose a conflict of interest as required under this Division. 

(3) This section— 

(a)  has effect in addition to, and not in derogation from, any Act or law relating to the 

criminal or civil liability of Councillors or members of special committees; and 

(b)  does not prevent the institution of any criminal or civil proceedings in respect of that 

liability. 

 

76E.  Improper direction and improper influence 

(1)  A Councillor must not improperly direct or improperly influence, or seek to improperly direct 

or improperly influence, a member of Council staff in the exercise of any power or in the 

performance of any duty or function by the member. 

(2)  A Councillor must not direct, or seek to direct, a member of Council staff— 

(a)  in the exercise of a delegated power, or the performance of a delegated duty or 

function of the Council; or 

(b)  in the exercise of a power or the performance of a duty or function exercised or 

performed by the member as an authorised officer under this Act or any other Act; or 

(c)  in the exercise of a power or the performance of a duty or function the member 

exercises or performs in an office or position the member holds under another Act; or 

(d)  in relation to advice provided to the Council or a special committee, including advice 

in a report to the Council or special committee. 

(3)  This section does not apply to a decision of the Council or a special committee that is made 

within the powers, duties or functions conferred under this or any other Act. 

 

77.  Confidential information 

(1)  A person who is, or has been, a Councillor or a member of a special committee, must not 

release information that the person knows, or should reasonably know, is confidential 

information. 

(2)  For the purposes of this section, information is “confidential information” if— 

(a)  the information was provided to the Council or a special committee in relation to a 

matter considered by the Council or special committee at a meeting closed to 

members of the public and the Council or special committee has not passed a 

resolution that the information is not confidential; or 

(b)  the information has been designated as confidential information by a resolution of the 

Council or a special committee which specifies the relevant ground or grounds 

applying under section 89(2) and the Council or special committee has not passed a 

resolution that the information is not confidential; or  

(c)  subject to sub-section (3), the information has been designated in writing as 

confidential information by the Chief Executive Officer specifying the relevant 

ground or grounds applying under section 89(2) and the Council has not passed a 

resolution that the information is not confidential. 

(3)  Confidential information referred to in sub-section (2)(c) ceases to be confidential at the 

expiry of the period of 50 days after the designation is made unless sub-section (2)(a) or (2)(b) 

applies to the information. 

 

77A.  Direct and indirect interests 

(1)  A relevant person has a conflict of interest in respect of a matter if the relevant person has a 

direct interest or indirect interest in the matter. 

(2)  A relevant person has a direct interest in a matter if the relevant person has an interest of a 

kind described in section 77B. 

(3)  A relevant person has an indirect interest in a matter if the relevant person has— 

(a)  a close association as specified in section 78; or 

(b)  an indirect financial interest as specified in section 78A; or 

(c)  a conflicting duty as specified in section 78B; or 

(d)  received an applicable gift as specified in section 78C; or 

(e)  become an interested party as specified in section 78D; or 

(f)  a residential amenity that may be altered as specified in section 78E. 

(4)  A relevant person does not have a conflict of interest in a matter if the direct interest or 

indirect interest of the relevant person is so remote or insignificant that the direct interest or 



 

 

indirect interest could not reasonably be regarded as capable of influencing any actions or 

decisions of the relevant person in relation to the matter. 

(5)  A relevant person does not have a conflict of interest in a matter if the direct interest or 

indirect interest the relevant person holds— 

(a)  is held as a resident, ratepayer or voter and does not exceed the interests generally 

held by other residents, ratepayers or voters; or 

(b)  is held in common with a large class of persons and does not exceed the  

 interests generally held by the class of persons. 

(6)  A relevant person does not have a conflict of interest in a matter if the relevant person— 

(a)  does not know the circumstances that give rise to the conflict of interest; and 

(b)  would not reasonably be expected to know the circumstances that give rise to the 

conflict of interest. 

 

77B.  Direct interest 

(1)  A person has a direct interest in a matter if there is a reasonable likelihood that the benefits, 

obligations, opportunities or circumstances of the person would be directly altered if the 

matter is decided in a particular way. 

(2)  Without limiting subsection (1), a person has a direct interest in a matter if— 

(a)  there is a reasonable likelihood that the person will receive a direct benefit or loss 

that can be measured in financial terms if the matter is decided in a particular way; 

(b)  the person has, or the person together with a member or members of the person's 

family have, a controlling interest in a company or other body that has a direct 

interest in the matter. 

(3)  A person who has a membership in a club or organisation that has a direct interest in a 

matter— 

(a)  does not, by reason of that membership, have a direct interest in the matter under 

subsection (1); and 

(b)  does not have an indirect interest in the matter, by reason of that membership, unless 

the person has an indirect interest in the matter under section 78A, 78B or 78C. 

(4)  In subsection (2), controlling interest has the same meaning as it has in section 72(2) of the 

Payroll Tax Act 2007. 

 

78.  Indirect interest by close association 

(1) In this section— 

daughter means a biological daughter, step-daughter, adopted daughter, or female child for 

whom the person has custodial responsibilities; 

direct relative means the spouse, domestic partner, son, daughter, mother, father, brother or 

sister of the person; 

 

domestic partner of a person means—  

(a)  a person who is in a registered relationship with the person; or 

(b)  an adult person to whom the person is not married but with whom the 

person is in a relationship as a couple where one or each of them provides 

personal or financial commitment and support of a domestic nature for the 

material benefit of the other, irrespective of their genders and whether or not 

they are living under the same roof, but does not include a person who 

provides domestic support and personal care to the person— 

(i)  for fee or reward; or 

(ii)  on behalf of another person or an organisation (including a 

government or government agency, a body corporate or a 

charitable or benevolent organisation); 

family member means— 

(a)  a spouse or domestic partner of the person; or 

(b)  a son, daughter, mother, father, brother or sister that regularly resides with 

the person; 

relative means— 

(a)  a direct relative of the person; 

(b)  a direct relative of a person who is the direct relative of the person; 

son means a biological son, step son, adopted son or male child for which the person has 

custodial responsibilities. 

(2)  A person has an indirect interest by close association in a matter if— 

(a)  a family member of the person has a direct interest or an indirect interest in a matter; 

or 

(b)  a relative of the person has a direct interest in a matter; or 



 

 

(c)  a member of the person's household has a direct interest in a matter. 

(3)  For the purposes of the definition of domestic partner in subsection (1)— 

(a)  registered relationship has the same meaning as in the Relationships Act 2008; and 

(b)  in determining whether persons who are not in a registered relationship are domestic 

partners of each other, all the circumstances of their relationship are to be taken into 

account, including any one or more of the matters referred to in section 35(2) of the 

Relationships Act 2008 as may be relevant in a particular case; and  

(c)  a person is not a domestic partner of another person only because they are co-tenants. 

 

78A.  Indirect interest that is an indirect financial interest 

(1)  A person has an indirect financial interest in a matter if the person is likely to receive a benefit 

or incur a loss, measurable in monetary terms, as a consequence of a benefit received or loss 

incurred by another person who has a direct or indirect interest in the matter. 

(2)  Without limiting subsection (1), a person has an indirect financial interest that is a conflict of 

interest if—  

(a)  the person has a beneficial interest in shares of a company or other body that has a 

direct interest in the matter, except in the circumstances specified in subsection (3); 

(b)  the person is owed money from another person and that other person has a direct 

interest in the matter. 

(3)  If a person, and family members of the person, hold shares in a company or body that has a 

direct or indirect interest in a matter with a combined total value that does not exceed $10 000 

and the total value of issued shares of the company or body exceeds $10 million, the person's 

indirect financial interest is not a conflict of interest. 

(4)  Subsection (2)(b) does not apply if the other person is an authorised deposit-taking institution. 

(5)  For the purposes of determining the value of shares under this section, the share value is to be 

taken from— 

(a)  the close of business on the most recent of 30 June or 31 December; or 

(b)  if the person has lodged an ordinary return since the most recent of 30 June or 31 

December, the close of business on the date the return was submitted. 

 

78B.  Indirect interest because of conflicting duties 

(1)  A person has an indirect interest in a matter because of a conflicting duty if the person— 

(a)  is a manager or a member of a governing body of a company or body that has a direct 

interest in a matter; 

(b)  is a partner, consultant, contractor, agent or employee of a person, company or body 

that has a direct interest in a matter; 

(c)  is a trustee for a person who has a direct interest in a matter. 

(2)  A person has an indirect interest in a matter because of a conflicting duty if the person held a 

position or role specified in subsection (1) and, in that position or role, dealt with the matter. 

(3)  A person does not have an indirect interest because of a conflicting duty if— 

(a)  the person is, or has been, only an employee in the service of the Crown or of a body 

established by or under  any Act for a public purpose and the person has no current or 

expected responsibilities as that employee in relation to a matter; 

(b)  the person only holds a position in a not-for-profit organisation for which the person 

receives no remuneration and the person was appointed to the relevant special 

committee of the Council to be a representative of the non-for-profit organisation; 

(ba)  the person only holds a position, with the Council's approval as a representative of 

the Council, in an organisation for which the person receives no remuneration;  

(c)  the person is only a Councillor who holds a position in the Municipal Association of 

Victoria or in another body that has the purpose of representing the interests of 

Councils; 

(ca)  the person is only a member of the Planning Application Committee established 

under Part 4AA of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 or a member or co-

opted member of a subcommittee of that Committee; 

(d)  the person only holds a position that has been prescribed for the purposes of this 

section. 

 

78C.  Indirect interest because of receipt of an applicable gift 

(1)  In this section, applicable gift means one or more gifts with a total value of, or more than, the 

gift disclosure threshold, received from a person or persons specified in subsection (2) in the 5 

years preceding the decision or the exercise of the power, duty or function but does not 

include— 



 

 

(a)  reasonable hospitality received by the person at an event or function the person 

attended in an official capacity as the Mayor, a Councillor, a member of Council staff 

or a member of a special committee; or 

(b)  a gift, other than an election campaign donation, that was received by the person 

more than 12 months before the person became a Councillor, a member of Council 

staff or a member of a special committee. 

(2)  A person has an indirect interest in a matter if the person has received an applicable gift, 

directly or indirectly, from— 

(a)  a person who has a direct interest in the matter; or 

(b)  a director, contractor, consultant, agent or employee of a person, company or body 

that the person knows has a direct interest in a matter; or 

(c)  a person who gives the applicable gift to the person on behalf of a person, company 

or body that has a direct interest in the matter. 

(3)  For the purposes of determining when a person became a Councillor or member of a special 

committee under subsection (1)(b), if the person is re-elected or reappointed as a Councillor or 

a member of a special committee, on completion of his or her term of office, the previous term 

of office served by that person as a Councillor or member of a special committee must be 

counted as continuous service with any service completed by the person after the person's re-

election or reappointment. 

 

78D.  Indirect interest as a consequence of becoming an interested party 

A person has an indirect interest in a matter if the person has become an interested party in the matter 

by initiating civil proceedings in relation to the matter or becoming a party to civil proceedings in 

relation to the matter. 

 

78.E Indirect interest because of impact on residential amenity 

A person has an indirect interest in a matter if there is a reasonable likelihood that the residential 

amenity of the person will be altered if the matter is decided in a particular way. 

 

79.  Disclosure of conflict of interest 

(1)  If a Councillor or member of a special committee has a conflict of interest in a matter which is 

to be considered or discussed at a meeting of the Council or the special committee, the 

Councillor or member must, if he or she is attending the meeting, disclose the conflict of 

interest in accordance with subsection (2). 

(2)  A Councillor or member of a special committee who has a conflict of interest and is attending 

the meeting of the Council or special committee must make a full disclosure of that interest— 

(a)  by either— 

(i)  advising the Council or special committee at the meeting of the details 

required under paragraphs (b) and (c) immediately before the matter is 

considered at the meeting; or 

(ii)  advising the Chief Executive Officer in writing of the details required under 

paragraphs (b) and (c) before the meeting; and 

(b)  classifying the type of interest that has given rise to the conflict as either— 

(i)  a direct interest; or 

(ii)  an indirect interest and specifying the particular kind of indirect interest 

under section 78, 78A, 78B, 78C, 78D or 78E; and 

(c)  describing the nature of the interest; and 

(d)  if the Councillor or member advised the Chief Executive Officer of the details under 

paragraph (a)(ii), the Councillor or member must make a disclosure of the class of 

interest only to the meeting immediately before the matter is considered at the 

meeting. 

 

(3)  For the purposes of section 79(2)(a)(i), if a Councillor or member of a special committee has a 

conflict of interest in two or more matters which are to be considered or discussed 

consecutively at a meeting of the Council or the special committee, the Councillor or member 

may make a full disclosure of each of those  interests immediately before the first matter is 

considered at the meeting. 

 

(5)  The Chief Executive Officer must— 

(a)  keep written disclosures given to him or her under this section in a secure place for 3 

years after the date the Councillor or member of a special committee who made the 

disclosure ceases to be Councillor or member of a committee; and 

(b)  destroy the written disclosure when the 3 year period referred to in paragraph (a) has 

expired. 



 

 

(6)  While the matter is being considered or any vote is taken in relation to the matter, the 

Councillor or member of a special committee must— 

(a)  leave the room and notify the Mayor or the Chairperson of the special committee 

that he or she is doing so; and 

(b)  remain outside the room and any gallery or other area in view or hearing of the room. 

(7)  The Mayor or the Chairperson of the special committee must cause the Councillor or member 

of a special committee to be notified that he or she may return to the room after— 

(a)  consideration of the matter; and 

(b)  all votes on the matter. 

(8)  If a Councillor or member of a special committee discloses a conflict of interest, the Chief 

Executive Officer or the Chairperson must record in the minutes of the meeting— 

(a)  the declaration of the conflict of interest; and 

(b)  the classification of the interest that has given rise to the conflict, and if the 

Councillor or member has disclosed the nature of the interest to the meeting, the 

nature of the interest. 

(9)  Unless section 80 applies, a Councillor or member of a special committee who fails to comply 

with this section is guilty of an offence and liable to a fine not exceeding 120 penalty units. 

 

79B.  Conflicting personal interest 

(1)  This section does not apply to a Councillor or member of a special committee who has a 

conflict of interest in the matter. 

(2)  If a Councillor or a member of a special committee considers that he or she has a personal 

interest in relation to a matter that is in conflict with his or her public duty in relation to the 

matter, the Councillor or member may, immediately before the matter is considered at the 

relevant meeting, apply to the Council or special committee to be exempted from voting on 

the matter. 

(3)  If a Councillor or member of a special committee makes an application under subsection (2), 

he or she must give reasons in support of the application. 

(4)  A Council or special committee may consent to an application made under subsection (2) and 

must not unreasonably withhold consent. 

(5)  If a Council or special committee consents to an application under subsection (4), sections 

79(6), 79(7), 79(8) and 79(9) apply as if the personal interest that is the subject of an 

application under subsection (2) were a conflict of interest specified under this Act. 

 

79C.  Certain situations where Councillor taken to not have a conflict of interest 

(1)  A Councillor is taken to not have a conflict of interest for the purposes of this Division if the 

matter only relates to— 

(a)  the nomination or appointment by the Council of the Councillor to a position for 

which the Councillor will not be remunerated; 

(b)  the election of the Mayor under section 71 or the appointment of an acting Mayor 

under section 73(3); 

(c)  a decision in relation to the payment of allowances to the Mayor or Councillors under 

section 74 or 74C(2); 

(d)  the adoption of a policy under section 75B in relation to the reimbursement of 

expenses; 

(e)  the adoption of a Councillor Code of Conduct under section 76C; 

(f)  an application to a Councillor Conduct Panel or VCAT under Division 1B; 

(g)  an application for an exemption under section 80; 

(h)  the appointment of members and Chairpersons of special committees; 

(i)  a resolution that has the effect of making the Councillors eligible or ineligible for the 

superannuation guarantee under taxation legislation; 

(j)  the conduct of a Councillor with respect to— 

(i)  an internal dispute that involves the Councillor; 

(ii)  an allegation of misconduct or serious misconduct (as defined in section 

81A) by the Councillor; 

(k)  a submission provided to an electoral representation review under section 219F; 

(l)  a submission provided for the purposes of a subdivision review conducted under 

section 219N. 

(2)  If a budget or revised budget to be approved by a Council includes funding for a matter in 

respect of which a Councillor has a conflict of interest the Councillor is taken to not have a 

conflict of interest for the purposes of approving the budget or revised budget if— 

(a)  the Council previously approved the matter and the proposed funding for the matter 

for inclusion in the budget or revised budget; and 

   (b)  the Councillor disclosed the nature of the conflict of interest under section 79  



 

 

 when the decision in respect of the matter and the proposed funding for the matter 

was previously considered and made. 

 

(3)  If a Council Plan to be approved by a Council includes a matter in respect of which a Councillor 

has a conflict of interest, the Councillor is taken to not have a conflict of interest for the 

purposes of approving the Council Plan if— 

(a)  the Council previously approved the matter for inclusion in the Council Plan; and 

(b)  the Councillor disclosed the nature of the conflict of interest under section 79 when 

the decision in respect of the matter was previously considered and made. 

 

(4)  If a Councillor with a conflict of interest referred to in subsection (2) or (3) notifies the Mayor or 

Chairperson prior to the consideration of the budget, revised budget or Council Plan of the 

conflict of interest, the Mayor or Chairperson must allow a prior motion to be put that the matter 

or funding be considered for inclusion in the budget, revised budget or Council Plan. 

 

79D.  Person may make submission despite conflict of interest 

(1)  Subject to subsection (2), a relevant person who has a conflict of interest in a matter and who 

has made a written submission under section 223 in respect of the matter, may present his or 

her submission under section 223(1)(b) to the Council or committee of the Council. 

 

(2)  The relevant person who has a conflict of interest in a matter must not be at the meeting of the 

Council or committee of the Council any longer than is required for the person to be heard in 

support of the person's written submission. 
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